

### Unclassified

English - Or. English

17 December 2021

DIRECTORATE FOR EDUCATION AND SKILLS

### Policy Approaches and Initiatives for the Inclusion of Gifted Students in OECD Countries

### **OECD Education Working Paper No. 262**

Alexandre Rutigliano, Nikita Quarshie

This working paper has been authorised by Andreas Schleicher, Director of the Directorate for Education and Skills, OECD.

Alexandre Rutigliano, <u>alexandre.rutigliano@gmail.com</u> Nikita Quarshie, <u>nsquarshie@gmail.com</u>

JT03487638

#### **OECD EDUCATION WORKING PAPERS SERIES**

OECD Working Papers should not be reported as representing the official views of the OECD or of its member countries. The opinions expressed and arguments employed herein are those of the author(s).

Working Papers describe preliminary results or research in progress by the author(s) and are published to stimulate discussion on a broad range of issues on which the OECD works. Comments on Working Papers are welcome, and may be sent to the Directorate for Education and Skills, OECD, 2 rue André-Pascal, 75775 Paris Cedex 16, France.

This document, as well as any data and map included herein, are without prejudice to the status of or sovereignty over any territory, to the delimitation of international frontiers and boundaries and to the name of any territory, city or area.

The use of this work, whether digital or print, is governed by the Terms and Conditions to be found at <u>http://www.oecd.org/termsandconditions</u>.

Comment on the series is welcome, and should be sent to edu.contact@oecd.org.

This working paper has been authorised by Andreas Schleicher, Director of the Directorate for Education and Skills, OECD.

\_\_\_\_\_

www.oecd.org/edu/workingpapers

-----

### Acknowledgements

Within the OECD Secretariat, we would like to thank Paulo Santiago and Lucie Cerna for their guidance and comments. Many thanks to Ava Guez for her valuable comments and suggestions. Many thanks also to Daiana Torres Lima and Rachel Linden for their help formatting and publishing the document.

The authors would also like to thank the participants of the *Strength through Diversity*'s Second Meeting of Country Representatives in March 2020, as well as country delegates for providing comments. Thanks to Rachel R. Renbarger. Special thanks to Dr. Claudia Resch from the Austrian Research and Support Centre for the Gifted and the Talented (ÖZBF), Dr. Sujin Choi, Director of the Korean Educational Development Institute (KEDI) and Dr. Alberto Rocha, Co-ordinator for the Portuguese National Association National Association Study and Intervention in Giftedness (ANEIS) for their time and insights.

### Abstract

To date, no international consensus exists on the definition of giftedness. There is a great diversity in conceptualising giftedness not only between, but also within countries. Inevitably, this has a major influence on how countries design and implement gifted education programmes. This paper starts with an overview of the extended academic literature on the definition and identification of giftedness. It then describes OECD countries' policy initiatives to respond to the needs of gifted students and to foster their inclusion in education systems. Following the *Strength through Diversity* project's framework, the analysis focuses on the areas of governance, resourcing, capacity building, schoollevel interventions, and monitoring and evaluation of gifted programmes. The paper finds that a greater emphasis is placed on the governance of gifted education, often related to broader equity and inclusion concerns. Nonetheless, further research and evaluations are needed to understand what policies and practices can best benefit gifted learners while ensuring positive educational and well-being outcomes for all students.

### **Table of contents**

Acknowledgements	3
Abstract	4
Introduction	7
1. Giftedness: conceptualisation, identification and policy challenges	8
1.1. How to measure giftedness? An ongoing and controversial academic debate	8
1.2. A plethora of theoretical frameworks to identify gifted individuals	10
1.3. Gifted or talented?	12
1.4. Identifying gifted students	12
1.5. Considering the effect of definition on the identification of giftedness among disadvantaged groups	15
1.6. Giftedness and diversity: intersectionality of gifted students	16
1.7. Why does gifted education matter? Inclusive education and outcomes for gifted individuals	19
2. The governance of giftedness in education systems	22
2.1. Approaches in policy making related to gifted education	22
2.2. Regulatory frameworks and administrative entities	24
2.3. Curriculum policies: adaptation of the curriculum to respond to the learning needs of gifted students 2.4. Educational offer and learning settings: between egalitarian aspirations and the specific needs of	26
gifted students	29
2.5. Resourcing gifted education	31
3. Policy approaches and challenges to building capacities in gifted	
education	33
3.1. The central role of teachers: initiatives to initial preparation and professional teacher development	34
3.2. Impact and importance of teachers' beliefs and attitudes on gifted learners' outcomes	36
3.3. Mentoring strategies to support gifted learner's academic and well-being outcomes	37
3.4. The importance of civil society organisations and networks for building capacity and promoting	
collaboration to advance gifted and talented education	39
4. Importance of school-level interventions to promote the inclusion of	
gifted students	40
4.1. Teaching gifted learners in the regular classroom: differentiated pedagogy strategies	40
4.2. Organisation of learning time and space for gifted students	42
4.3. The use of technology to foster the inclusion of gifted students	46
4.4. Counselling the gifted: education transition and career guidance for gifted individuals	47
4.5. Engagement with parents and communities	48

5. Evaluation and monitoring of the inclusion of gifted students in education	
systems	50
5.1. The importance and challenges of evaluating gifted education programmes and policies	50
5.2. Monitoring and evaluating gifted education programmes at different levels	51
5.3. Broadening the scope of evaluation	52
Conclusions	54
A stronger focus on giftedness and inclusive practices	54
Strengthening teacher education and training and encouraging differentiated pedagogy strategies	55
Adopting an intersectionality lens in gifted education	55
Investing in policy research as well as monitoring and evaluation of gifted programmes	56
References	57
TABLES	
Table 2.1. Official or most common terminology to name gifted children	24
Table 2.2. Main advantages and disadvantages of enrichment v. acceleration	28
Table 4.1. Traditional pedagogy v. differentiated pedagogy	41
FIGURE	
Figure 1.1. Recent shift towards a holistic approach to giftedness	15
BOXES	
Box 1.1. A cultural perspective on giftedness: the Māori example	9
Box 1.2. How many gifted students are there?	13
Box 1.3. Measuring intersectionality in relation to giftedness in Toronto	18
Box 2.1. Selective schools for gifted students in New South Wales and Victoria, Australia	30
Box 3.1. Mentoring gifted students to facilitate transition to upper secondary school	38
Box 4.1. Using cooperative learning techniques to promote inclusion: the Jigsaw Classroom	45
box 4.2. Involving parents in glited programmes in the United Kingdom	49

### Introduction

At the age of 5, Tom decided to become an astrophysicist. This was a decision he came to after contemplating the relationship between black and white holes in space. That same year, he experienced an existential crisis that led him to an advanced state of depression. Interviewing him last year at the age of 11, The Economist's *1843* magazine<sup>1</sup> discovers that he now creates mathematics exam papers for fun and is working towards his mathematics A-Level examinations other students in the United Kingdom usually sit between the age of 17 and 18.

In conversations about educational policy and issues of equity and inclusion, gifted learners like Tom, who was discovered to be in the top 0.1 per cent of intelligence in the United Kingdom, tend to occupy a marginal space. This marginalisation mostly stems from the assumption that in displaying signs of exceptionality and high intelligence, learners identified as gifted will inevitably achieve educational success without additional support. In reality, however, gifted students can happen to be left behind and underserved in classrooms unable to meet their specific educational needs.

Such assumptions have also meant that, traditionally, gifted education has been accused of elitism and inegalitarianism, and further criticised for catering to students that already have a socio-economic advantage (Ford,  $2012_{[1]}$ ; Lovett,  $2013_{[2]}$ ). Nonetheless, expansions and changes in the field with regards to definitions, modes of identification and the types of intervention implemented, continue to address such criticisms and provide new paths that reflect the heterogeneity of gifted learners. Moreover, the incorporation of social justice and inclusive values into the field that grapple with issues of diversity and access has meant that gifted education is increasingly regarded as necessary to creating equitable and inclusive education systems able to address and adapt to the needs of *all* students.

Giftedness is a complex issue within educational policy. The definitions and approaches adopted by OECD countries to respond to the needs of gifted learners vary greatly. This paper seeks to review policies and practices on gifted education across OECD countries, keeping in mind the framework of the *OECD Strength through Diversity Project*, which focused on inclusive education (Cerna, 2021<sub>[3]</sub>).

The first chapter of this paper reviews definitions of giftedness, modes of identification, how giftedness intersects with other dimensions of diversity and arguments highlighting the potential individual and social outcomes of gifted education. In doing so, it will take into account previous and current debates, core issues and challenges, as well as areas of convergence. The subsequent four chapters of the review look at giftedness through the analytical framework that guides the *OECD Strength through Diversity Project*. It analyses policy initiatives and practices in the domains of governance and resources; capacity building; school-level interventions; and evaluation and monitoring that address the needs and the inclusion of gifted students in education systems.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> See: <u>https://www.1843magazine.com/features/the-curse-of-genius</u> (accessed on 3 May 2021).

## **1. Giftedness: conceptualisation, identification and policy challenges**

To date, no international consensus exists on the definition of giftedness. There is a great diversity in conceptualising giftedness not only between, but also within countries. Inevitably, it has a major influence over how countries engage with giftedness in education systems – the identification and placement processes, the type of programmes implemented, the distribution of resources, and how professional development programmes are organised. How countries understand and define giftedness and which official definition they adopt, if any, has therefore important consequences for the policies and interventions that follow.

This section aims to give a general understanding of the notion of giftedness by reviewing the main theories and conceptualisations of intelligence. It provides insights into the dominant definitions and the challenges related to its conceptualisation. Based on this academic review, this section then gives an overview of countries' approaches to this dimension of diversity in student populations, that is, a mapping of official definitions and related identification methods across member countries.

### 1.1. How to measure giftedness? An ongoing and controversial academic debate

The definition of giftedness is a subject of great controversies within the academic literature. Research in this topic is largely dominated by discussions between psychologists, the majority of them from Western European countries and North America. That said, various "models" of giftedness have been formulated with no clear consensus on what the gifted label means (Worrell et al.,  $2019_{[4]}$ ; Heller-Sahlgren,  $2018_{[5]}$ ; Carman,  $2013_{[6]}$ ; Terriot,  $2018_{[7]}$ ).

The definition of giftedness is intimately linked to that of intelligence. Researchers adopt different approaches regarding the definition of intelligence and have designed various methods to identify gifted individuals. In spite of ongoing controversies, academics nonetheless agree that giftedness (1) is mainly a label, (2) can be applied in a general or a specific way (i.e. intelligence is an overall ability or can be divided and measured in separate domains), (3) is subject to conceptualisations that vary across time and space (Kaufman and Sternberg, 2008<sub>[8]</sub>).

The literature highlights that giftedness is commonly understood as the fact of an individual having a considerably high Intelligence Quotient (IQ) according to recognised IQ test assessments. A child or adolescent is identified as gifted when they have more advanced intellectual capacities than the other children of their age and perform above a certain limit fixed by a psychologist in an IQ test. Therefore, the definition of giftedness is intrinsically linked to the conceptualisation of intelligence on which the identification of gifted individuals is based and, in this sense, to the value a society gives to certain abilities and talents rather than others. Nonetheless, the notion of giftedness, while commonly associated with a high IQ, has also been expanded to include talent in other domains. As such, high abilities in, for example, sports and arts, can also be associated to giftedness.

Conceptions of giftedness range from conservative ascriptions of individuals with high intellectual abilities determined by cognitive assessments or IQ (intelligence quotient) tests, to more liberal or multi-categorical approaches that point out the limitations of describing intelligence in a unitary way (Murphy and Walker,  $2015_{[9]}$ ). According to "conservative" definitions of intellectual giftedness, being gifted equates to having a significantly high IQ. Moving away from this singular definition of giftedness are authors such as Gardner (1992) who proposed the theory of "multiple intelligences". It corresponds to a more complex frame to measure intelligence which he considers multidimensional. In this case, it is more accurate to refer to intelligences. As a result, the adoption of either conservative or liberal conceptions can be understood as a choice related to the degree of restrictiveness used in determining who is eligible for special programmes and services (Renzulli, 1978<sub>[10]</sub>).

The lack of a general definition of giftedness is often criticised in the field. Most importantly, it leads to the inability to find convergence in research where models and interventions take as a starting point various interpretations (Heller-

Sahlgren, 2018<sub>[5]</sub>; Carman, 2013<sub>[6]</sub>). However, from a national perspective, this enables countries to adhere to their cultural interpretations of exceptionality. In raising awareness about the influence that culture can have on understandings of giftedness, Bevan-Brown ( $2005_{[11]}$ ) for example, sought to broaden New Zealand's conception of giftedness by incorporating the Māori perspective of giftedness (see Box 1.1).

### Box 1.1. A cultural perspective on giftedness: the Māori example

### Why should gifted programmes be culturally-sensitive?

Prominent theoreticians of giftedness, such as Sternberg ( $2005_{[12]}$ ), have emphasised the importance of the sociocultural context in the conceptualisation of giftedness. People from different socio-cultural contexts may value different forms of intelligence. For example, while in some societies a mainstream view of higher-than-average intelligence may relate to outstanding comprehension in mathematics and reading, others may see advanced interpresonal skills or exceptional crafting skills as a sign of giftedness.

Gifted programmes that are not sensitive to cultural variations might overlook children's skills that are not recognised academically but are highly valued among certain communities (Sternberg,  $2004_{[13]}$ ). Attention (or lack thereof) to this aspect of gifted education has implications in terms of (1) what type of students are identified as gifted and participate in gifted programmes and (2) the inclusion of diverse gifted students who may not feel they are valued and belong to the education system. Therefore, it is important to understand intelligence in its cultural context and design culturally-sensitive gifted programmes to respond to the needs of all gifted students.

### Considering the Māori perspective in gifted programmes in New Zealand

Bevan-Brown  $(2009_{[14]})$  explains that the concept of giftedness should be interpreted through a series of cultural lenses. One of them is to consider the areas that constitute giftedness in Māori culture. Giftedness, as understood by Māori communities, is a broad concept, including spiritual, cognitive, affective, aesthetic, artistic, musical, psychomotor, social, intuitive, creative, leadership and cultural abilities and qualities (p. 7<sub>[14]</sub>). Furthermore, an important element of the Māori concept of giftedness is the requirement to use one's gifts and talents in the service of others.

In New Zealand, since the end of the 1990s, the Ministry of Education has developed a strong focus on the inclusion of Māori students. Its framework and strategies, including the *Ka Hikitia* - Māori Education Strategy that aims to achieve system shifts in education and support Māori learners, clearly emphasise the necessity of acknowledging Māori students' values and the diversity of their needs and experiences (Ministry of Education,  $2012_{[15]}$ ).<sup>2</sup>

New Zealand Gifted Education Package considers the diversity of conceptualisation of giftedness across communities and that "gifts or talents can be different within the context of ethnicity or culture."<sup>3</sup> This approach to the design and implementation of gifted programmes acknowledges that Māori ideas of giftedness include personal qualities as well as abilities, and are grounded in Māori *kaupapa* (Māori approach). In practice, this can be translated into the incorporation of Māori knowledge and practices in identification and assessment methods, and the participation of Māori educators in the design of an adapted curriculum.

However, "[t]his lack of conceptual consensus undermines identification and compromises the effectiveness of the educational intervention" (Sastre-Riba, Pérez-Sánchez and Villaverde, 2018<sub>[16]</sub>). Practitioners and policy makers are today confronted with a vast array of theoretical approaches.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> See: <u>https://www.education.govt.nz/our-work/overall-strategies-and-policies</u> (accessed on 5 May 2021).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> See: <u>https://parents.education.govt.nz/primary-school/learning-and-development-at-home/support-for-gifted-and-talented-students/</u> (accessed on 5 May 2021).

### **1.2.** A plethora of theoretical frameworks to identify gifted individuals

Though it is considered that the field of gifted education started with Galton's publication of *Hereditary Genius* in 1986 (Worrell et al., 2019<sub>[4]</sub>), Théodore Simon (1873-1961) and Alfred Binet (1857-1911) were the first ones in 1905 to elaborate a model aimed at measuring intelligence. In the 1920s, Terman's published the first work focused on gifted students and their specific characteristics (Terman, 1926<sub>[17]</sub>). Since then, researchers have conducted patient studies in order to define, measure and qualify intelligence. From the 1960s onwards, using IQ tests alone has been seen as a rather limited method – educators and psychologists then started to look into other expressions of people's cognitive capacities. One of the main accepted models of intelligence is modelled as a hierarchical structure with the g factor at the top stratum, hypothesised to be at the core of all broad abilities (processing speed, working memory, verbal comprehension, etc.) in the stratum beneath (Schneider and McGrew, 2012<sub>[18]</sub>). General intellectual ability as measured by IQ tests can also be broken down into two more comprehensive components: verbal intelligence, and non-verbal intelligence, or crystallised (gc) and fluid intelligence (gf) (Cattell, 1963<sub>[19]</sub>; Horn and Cattell, 1966<sub>[20]</sub>).

A large part of the academic debate has shifted towards conceptions that encompass many dimensions, such as creativity and empathy. Considering the plethora of theories related to intelligence and giftedness, this subsection only focuses on some of the main authors in the field, whose models are the most widely recognised and used in identification processes. These include, among others, the theoretical conceptions of Françoys Gagné, Joseph Renzulli, Robert Stenberg and Howard Gardner. However, their theories build on other authors' works and defining intelligence in itself bears a strong subjective value related to a society's orientation and expectations.

Kaufman and Stenberg (2008<sub>[8]</sub>) identify four distinctive waves of theorisation of intelligence from the early 1900s onwards:

- 1. Domain-general models. These models focus on intelligence as a general ability that can be measured with IQ tests. The English psychologist Charles Spearman, a pioneer in giftedness studies, discovered in 1905 the g factor (where g stands for "general intelligence"), which he identified under his own newly developed statistical technique of factor analysis. The g factor corresponds to a common factor encountered across all the IQ tests available at that time. According to Spearman, this factor would characterise giftedness (Spearman, 1904<sub>[21]</sub>). A decade later, in 1916, Alfred Binet and Théodore Simon developed one of the first tests to include an assessment of higher-level cognitive skills. Before Binet, starting with Galton in the 1880s, tests were merely based on other elements such as sensorydiscrimination tasks. The same year, Lewis Terman adapted Binet's scale and created the Stanford-Binet Intelligence Scale, one of the first tests designed specifically to identify gifted students in schools. Terman also drew on Galton's theory of genius that considered giftedness mostly as a result of genetics (Kaufman and Sternberg, 2008[8]). According to this model, giftedness therefore equates to a higher-than-average general intelligence as defined and measured by an IQ test. It remains one of the most used across several countries (Terriot, 2018[7]).
- 2. Domain-specific models. Sharing the conviction that equating giftedness to high general intelligence was not quite accurate, another wave of psychologists began to emphasise that individuals might be gifted in different ways. One of the first authors to develop such a theory was Louis Thurstone who in 1938 used a different method factor than Spearman in order to identify primary mental abilities that he believed were statistically independent and linked to giftedness (Kaufman and Sternberg, 2008<sub>[8]</sub>). As intense debates sparked between the defendants of both approaches, researchers decided that theory alone was insufficient and began accumulating evidence in order to establish a hierarchy of factors, starting from general intellectual abilities at the very top and separating into various more specific forms of intelligence as the hierarchy goes down. Another milestone in the field is Howard Gardner's theory of Multiple Intelligences in the 1980s. Gardner greatly expanded the definition of intelligence, which he considers as multidimensional, with each type of intelligence viewed as an independent cognitive system. According to this theory, seven

types of intelligence have to be taken into account: linguistic; logical-mathematical; spatial; musical; bodily-kinaesthetic; interpersonal; and intrapersonal (Gardner,  $1983_{[22]}$ ) – an individual can be gifted in one or several of them. Though this model has had a significant influence on researchers and educators' conception of intelligence, it has been widely criticised for not providing enough empirical analysis to uphold the theoretical considerations it is based on.<sup>4</sup> After the use of IQ tests, it remains nonetheless one of the most common models along with Renzulli's Three-Ring-Definition.

- 3. Systems models. This "wave" of researchers on giftedness considers that it corresponds to the confluence of several psychological processes. The most prominent theory introducing this analysis is Renzulli's Three-Ring Definition that seeks to expand understandings of intelligence by defining giftedness as the interaction of three basic human traits. He distinguishes (1) above-average ability; (2) task commitment/motivation; and (3) creativity (Renzulli, 1978<sub>[10]</sub>). Renzulli was among the first ones to cut off with a conceptualisation of intelligence narrowed to ability only, by acknowledging that giftedness is a potential and as such, dynamic. In other words, above-average ability is not sufficient in itself and the expression of giftedness further depends on other factors (e.g. psychological dynamics, one's environment etc.). The other main systems models theory comes from Sternberg's WICS model of giftedness. WICS stands for Wisdom, Intelligence and Creativity Synthesised, and constitutes an attempt to establish a potential common basis to identify gifted people (Sternberg, 2003<sub>[23]</sub>). In this model, giftedness is conceptualised as a synthesis of these three elements. According to Sternberg "wisdom, intelligence and creativity are sine qua non for the gifted leaders of the future. Without a synthesis of these three attributes, someone can be a decent contributor to society, and perhaps even a good one, but never a great one" (p. 112<sub>[23]</sub>).
- 4. Developmental models. These models mainly emerged in reaction against the dominance of the genetic determinants of giftedness. They take into account the environment and the trajectory of an individual as crucial for the expression of giftedness. The most influential author in this category is the French psychologist Françoys Gagné, whose theory emphasises the talent-development process. Gagné proposed the Differentiated Model of Gifted and Talented (DMGT), whose main goal was to unveil the significant influence of one's environment and of non-intellective variables that transform genetically determined "gifts" into specific talents (Gagné, 1985<sub>[24]</sub>; Merrotsy, 2017<sub>[25]</sub>; Gagné, 2004<sub>[26]</sub>).

In sum, though the most extended and consensual definition of giftedness is based on superior results in recognised IQ tests, this conceptualisation is not unanimous, and a significant number of researchers and practitioners have shifted towards more multidimensional understandings of what intelligence is (Terriot,  $2018_{[7]}$ ). Such theories, and those that followed, steer away from definitions that in being narrow, conceal the power dynamics that influence decisions about the characteristics and domains associated with giftedness (Laine and Tirri,  $2017_{[27]}$ ). This further points to the fact that giftedness and notions of intelligence reflect the needs of a society and the values of the prevailing culture within each country (Renzulli,  $2016_{[28]}$ ; Bevan-Brown,  $2011_{[29]}$ ; Worrell et al.,  $2019_{[4]}$ ; Heuser, Wang and Shahid,  $2017_{[30]}$ ).

Moreover, Worrell et al.  $(2019_{[4]})$  distinguish models that consider giftedness as (1) ability; (2) talent-development models; and (3) integrative models that link both perspectives. Developmental models, such as Gagné's, have been central in shifting the conceptualisation of giftedness towards the idea of "potential". Importantly, it is based on the differentiation of "gift" and "talent" that is today considered as fundamental.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Despite receiving wide support, Gardner's theory of Multiple Intelligence is still debated within the scientific literature. Gardner's theory has been mainly criticised for providing inadequate empirical support and not being consistent with cognitive neuroscience findings (Waterhouse,  $2006_{[214]}$ ). Visser, Ashton and Vernon ( $2006_{[215]}$ ) who investigated Garnder's theory in a sample of 200 adults found that abilities involving other influences than cognitive ones were significantly less strongly *g*-loaded (where *g* means *g factor*). These authors suggest, among other elements, that the notion of "skill" or "talent" might be more appropriated than "intelligence" for some of the dimensions described by Gardner.

### 1.3. Gifted or talented?

Finding a universally accepted definition of giftedness is complicated by the fact that within the literature, and particularly in national educational programmes, the label "gifted" is often trailed by "talented". The tendency to conflate the one with the other is challenged by Gagné ( $2004_{[26]}$ ), who makes a distinction between the two in his Differentiated Model, a model used in various countries such as in Australia (Merrotsy,  $2017_{[25]}$ ). Gagné clarifies that while giftedness is a prerequisite for talent, gifts do not necessarily become talents – for this to occur, a child or adolescent must engage in systematic learning and practice within a supportive environment (Gagné, 1985<sub>[24]</sub>).

That the two terms are used interchangeably points to the fact that giftedness is increasingly viewed as a process subject to the environment within which it is nurtured and encouraged to thrive (Subotnik, Olszewski-Kubilius and Worrell,  $2011_{[31]}$ ). Consequently, the transformation that occurs from the potentiality of a gift to the realisation or performance of a talent exists on a continuous spectrum, and the two concepts cannot be thought of as strict binaries. The distinction made by Gagné is nevertheless emphasised to underscore that under particular systems and teaching, potential, and the close relationship it shares with latent talent, may be undeveloped. Furthermore, it acknowledges the counterintuitive, and thus overlooked, reality that educational underachievement can become a predictable outcome for many gifted students when they are left behind (Subotnik, Olszewski-Kubilius and Worrell,  $2011_{[31]}$ ; Mendaglio,  $2013_{[32]}$ ).

"Potential" is therefore a word that frequently comes up in the literature. It puts pressure on education systems and schools to ensure that they actively and accurately identify these students, and that they provide an environment in which those displaying high potential can thrive. In Singapore for example, parents are discouraged from entering their children in test-preparation courses for the identification exercises used to test for giftedness.<sup>5</sup>

The emphasis of potential is thus an important way of also combatting claims of elitism within the field, as it acknowledges that some students may have access to resources that enable their potential to be identified and then realised more easily. While it may be countered that *all* students have potential, students observed to be gifted must still demonstrate an exceptionality or precocity that may benefit from differentiated instruction.

This changing approach can be observed in several countries' change in terminology. In France for example, the term *"surdoué"*, which translates literally as "over-gifted" has been replaced with *"haut potentiel"* or "high potential" to reflect the move within the field to engage with the notion of potential and intelligence as multidimensional, dynamic and in relation to one's environment (Terriot, 2018<sub>[7]</sub>; DGESCO, 2019<sub>[33]</sub>). This (Potentiel, 2019<sub>[34]</sub>) shift is, however, still relatively latent in the identification process of gifted individuals which remains one of the main challenges for academics and practitioners in the field of giftedness.

### **1.4. Identifying gifted students**

The methods used to identify gifted students and the type of services and programmes implemented take as a starting point the definition of giftedness. A preoccupation with intelligence or high academic performance as indicators of giftedness means that, traditionally, IQ tests like the Stanford-Binet Intelligence test have been the preferred method to identify gifted students.<sup>6</sup> However, as mentioned, its use has been questioned by researchers and scholars who point towards evidence of the inadequacy of test scores as the sole indicator of giftedness. In Switzerland for instance, traditional intelligence tests are no longer used exclusively because of their acknowledged inability to capture all aspects and characteristics of giftedness (Mueller-Oppliger,  $2014_{[35]}$ ). Consequently, expanding notions of intelligence and achievement have encouraged the use of multiple, adaptable and even more subjective methods of identification (Renzulli et al.,  $2005_{[36]}$ ).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> See: <u>https://www.moe.gov.sg/education/programmes/gifted-education-programme/gep-identification</u> (accessed on 8 May 2021).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> In most contexts IQ tests are or have been the main identification strategy. However, in less common cases such as that of the Russian Federation, these tests have barely or not at all been used to identify gifted students (Grigorenko, 2017<sub>[102]</sub>).

In the absence of a commonly agreed definition of giftedness, it is up to countries, and sometimes jurisdictions within countries to elaborate their own conceptualisation of giftedness and identify who they consider the most entitled. Moreover, the definition of giftedness varies not only between but also within countries. Besides making international, and sometimes national, comparisons quite impossible, this phenomenon hinders the possibility of a reliable estimation of the number of gifted students (Box 1.2). It can lead to a student being identified as gifted in a jurisdiction and as non-gifted in another where it does not fit in the definition adopted, if there is one at all, and will not benefit from gifted education programmes. The United States and Canada provide examples of differences of definitions and identifications across jurisdictions.

In the United States, only the states of South Dakota, Massachusetts and New Hampshire do not have any official definition of giftedness. Each state has its own definition under which students are identified and eligible for special programmes, and resources are distributed. While various definitions turn out to be relatively similar, a major difference can be found in the type of intelligence(s) used to define giftedness. In other words, while some states recognise that an individual can be gifted in exclusive areas such as sports, arts and creativity, others confined the definition to overall higher cognitive capacities.<sup>7</sup>

### Box 1.2. How many gifted students are there?

Policy approaches to gifted education, as well as cultural and national differences in the definition of giftedness, play a crucial role in relaying information about the number of gifted students that exist in a country.

Australia, in adopting Gagné's definition of giftedness, identifies the top 10% of its students as belonging to this category (Center for Education Statistics and Evaluation,  $2019_{[37]}$ ). This stands in contrast with countries with stricter cut-off points, such as in several Asian countries. In China, the percentage of gifted students are estimated to be between 1% and 3% of the total population of students (Ibata-Arens,  $2012_{[38]}$ ). While the target number of gifted students in South Korea is 3%, figures continue to exceed this target (Cho and Suh,  $2016_{[39]}$ ). According to the gifted education database (GED) website,<sup>8</sup> gifted and talented education currently targets 82 012 people, which corresponds to approximately 4% of the students' population. Likewise, Singapore identifies the top 1% of its national student population as academically gifted. The Ministry of Education goes even further by also identifying exceptionally gifted students, a category that may correspond to 3 per 100 000 children within a population that is normally distributed (Ibata-Arens,  $2012_{[38]}$ ).

In the United States, the percentage of students receiving gifted education services vary substantially across the country. While in eight states 11% or more students were identified to receive such services, this rate is between 3-10% in 13 states and between 0-2% in 30 states (Plucker et al.,  $2018_{[40]}$ ).

According to the Mexican division of the *Centro de Atención al Talento*, major Latin American network working for gifted individuals, 3% (nearly one million children and adolescents) of the underage population is gifted in Mexico – meaning here that they have a score larger than 130 on the IQ test.<sup>9</sup> Other identification methods are used in Mexican schools (UNESCO, 2004<sub>[41]</sub>).

A working document and comparative study of 30 member countries of the Eurydice European Unit revealed that according to the estimates and criteria used in different European countries, gifted children account for 3-10% of the school population (Eurydice,  $2006_{[42]}$ ). In Germany, where there is a significant academic and political resistance to the very notion of giftedness because of its elitist connotation, the state of Hamburg is considered to have the highest percentage of gifted students with 0.07% (Tourón and Freeman,  $2017_{[43]}$ ). In Spain, during the 2015-2016 academic

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> The National Association for Gifted Children (NAGC) designed an interactive map containing all the states' different definitions. See: <u>http://www.nagc.org/state-definitions-giftedness</u> (accessed on 9 May 2021).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> See: <u>https://ged.kedi.re.kr/index.do</u>. (accessed on 9 May 2021).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> See <u>http://www.cedat.com.mx/es/estadisticas-de-sobredotacion-en-mexico</u> (accessed on 3 June 2021).

year, the Ministry Education estimated that 0.27% of the total student population was identified as gifted, which corresponds to a significant increase from the previous year but remains far from the 2% aimed (Sastre-Riba, Pérez-Sánchez and Villaverde, 2018, p.  $65_{[16]}$ ). There exist disparities in the rate of students identified as gifted between the different autonomous communities, ranging from 0.012 in the community of Valencia to 1.206% in the Region of Murcia (*Ibid.*).

The significant variations in legal definition and identification of giftedness prevent the development of international data systems. Nonetheless, several authors consider that a relative convergence of theoretical conceptualisation and practices is increasingly observable (Tourón and Freeman,  $2017_{[43]}$ ) which, to a certain extent, could allow for international comparison.

In terms of identification processes in the field, the literature points out the existence of several and non-exclusive identification methods in educational policies and practices (Sękowski and Łubianka, 2015<sub>[44]</sub>):

- 1. *Psychological and pedo-psychological diagnosis*, conducted by a psychologist and specialised educators "through complex intelligence quotient assessments, administrated by professional psychologists, who provide comprehensive reports on the finite nuances of cognitive performance" (Parekh, S. Brown and Robson, 2018, p. 4<sub>[45]</sub>).
- 2. *Ability tests*, most of which focus on the academic performance, although some look at the way students learn and/or their involvement in a specific domain (Cao, Jung and Lee, 2017<sub>[46]</sub>).
- 3. *Teacher nominations*, which are thought to be one of the most reliable methods as teachers spend a large amount of time with her/his students and can have an extended pedagogical experience.
- 4. *Parental nominations*, which constitutes a subjective tool in the identification process and is usually not used alone.
- 5. *Peer opinion*, also not used alone, can give a quick and adequate idea of what students are the best in a certain a domain.
- 6. *Self-identification*, consisting in letting students participate in out-of-school educational, scientific, artistic, creative etc. activities and programmes in order to identify their motivation and potential.

Usually, methods 3 to 5, and in some cases method 2, are used for an initial screening in order to identify who may be eligible for a gifted education programme. Method 1, and often method 2, are used in order to confirm an initial assessment and confirm a child or adolescent's participation in such a programme. Most countries use several of these methods at the same time, such as France which primarily relies on both teacher and parents' nominations (Sękowski and Łubianka,  $2015_{[44]}$ ), following which a school board decides whether or not the student should benefit from special provision. It should nonetheless be noted that "[w]hile there is consensus that identification of gifted and talented pupils must be by multiple sources, there is still lack of clarity and understanding about the relative advantages and disadvantages of different identification procedures (White, Fletcher-Campbell and Ridley, 2003, p. vi<sub>[47]</sub>).

Authors observe that in spite of a shift towards more comprehensive definitions, identification methods ultimately still often rely on performance assessment and IQ test scores in various countries, such as the United States (McClain and Pfeiffer, 2012<sub>[48]</sub>; Worrell et al., 2019<sub>[4]</sub>). However, these tests are increasingly challenged and the multiplication of methods of identification is observable in various countries. A low score on an IQ test does not necessarily mean that an individual is not gifted. As a result, relying on an identification strategy based on such tests only might be perceived as a potentially exclusionary practice.

The fact that education systems are progressively considering broader identification strategies confirms the existence of a shift towards more holistic and inclusive definitions of giftedness. Figure 1.1 shows an example of a more holistic approach to the definition of giftedness. Such a definition adopts a systemic view and takes into account

developmental factors necessary to transform potential into high achievement. By doing so, it acknowledges that giftedness, or potential, in itself is insufficient and that other external and internal factors are required in order to support individuals in fully developing their abilities. Furthermore, identification methods must likewise adapt to accommodate the emphasis on creativity and move away from a focus on traditional intellectual definitions of giftedness. Divergent thinking (i.e. the ability to answer open-ended questions with novel and useful responses) is increasingly regarded as the "backbone of creative assessment" (Kaufman, Plucker and Russell, 2012<sub>[49]</sub>) and has opened the door, though still marginally, to relatively new identification processes.

### Figure 1.1. Recent shift towards a holistic approach to giftedness

The Eyre Equation



Source: Adapted from Eyre, D. (2011[50]), Room at the top: inclusive education for high performance, p.20.

### **1.5.** Considering the effect of definition on the identification of giftedness among disadvantaged groups

The use of different forms of identification methods has been particularly important for scholars concerned with the exclusion and/or underrepresentation of certain students from gifted programmes. There is particular concern about outdated identification methods for the under-representation of certain groups, such as those from ethnic minority groups and low socio-economic backgrounds, in enrichment and acceleration programmes (Casey, Portman Smith and Koshy,  $2011_{[51]}$ ; Pfeiffer,  $2012_{[52]}$ ; Worrell et al.,  $2019_{[4]}$ ; Centre for Education Statistics and Evaluation,  $2019_{[53]}$ ). The phenomenon of the underrepresentation of some groups in gifted education can be further intensified by the specific sets of discriminations faced by certain groups of individuals.

According to Callahan's research ( $2005_{[54]}$ ) on the identification of gifted students from underrepresented populations (i.e. minorities, children from low-economic status environments, immigrant students with limited knowledge of the hosting country's language), a series of interrelated factors such as inherent bias and oversimplified assessments placed the researched groups at a severe disadvantage. Additionally, Ford ( $2010_{[55]}$ ), in acknowledging the underrepresentation of Black and Hispanic students in gifted education in the United States, maintains that two key barriers are stagnant and outdated policies and procedures for labelling and placement, and students' differential performance on traditional intelligence and achievement tests. In particular, she highlights the specific disadvantage faced by Black and Hispanic male students who are more underrepresented than any other group. In previous works, Ford likewise found that while the use of IQ tests by some American states tended to benefit White middle-class students, it was detrimental to those from ethnic minorities who would perform less well on paper tests or who might

have different cognitive styles (Mayes and Moore III,  $2016_{[56]}$ ). Critically, therefore, giftedness represents a juncture where other dimensions of diversity and broader contexts of socio-economic status can and do meet.

In New South Wales, Australia, a review of selective schools for gifted and talented students in the state found that unintended barriers may deter some gifted students, and notably Aboriginal students, students with special education needs, and rural and remote students, from sitting selective tests (NSW Department of Education, 2018<sub>[57]</sub>). The review also highlighted the shortcomings of the test design of school assessment processes in acting as a further barrier in the identification of the aforementioned groups. In order to overcome this, the action plan included a move to ensure that entry into selective schools is based on ability and not background.

The role that socio-economic status and class play is also an issue addressed in the literature. A study by Turkheimer and his colleagues  $(2003_{[58]})$  revealed that aside from the general and known shortcomings of IQ tests as a measure of intelligence, they pose an even greater challenge for children from impoverished families. Likewise, different factors influence the emergence of exceptional abilities or talents. Since performance is sensitive to the socio-economic background of students, gifted learners are less likely to be identified in underprivileged environments (Vaivre-Douret,  $2011_{[59]}$ ). A reason for this may also be the acknowledged scarcity of professionals and school leaders trained to effectively identify and deal with gifted children (Resch,  $2014_{[60]}$ ). These observations are aligned with more recent findings in Canada that highlight the impact of socio-economic status on who is identified or not and thus, on the social construction of giftedness (Parekh, S. Brown and Robson,  $2018_{[45]}$ ).

In response to the aforementioned issues, a diversity of methods and a multidimensional approach is employed to identify gifted students, which includes teacher/parent/peer recommendations, non-verbal tests, observations, characteristics and behavioural checklists. For example, Renzulli et al.  $(2005_{[36]})$  identify the following criteria as essential for a comprehensive identification system: (1) the use of multiple techniques over a long period of time; (2) an understanding of the individual, the cultural-experiential context, and the fields of activity in which the student performs; (3) employment of self-chosen and required performances; (4) a reassessment of the adequacy of the identification system on a continuous basis; and (5) the use of the identification data as the primary basis for programming interventions and services.

### 1.6. Giftedness and diversity: intersectionality of gifted students

Gifted students are not a homogenous group. Moreover, limited assessments can lead to the underrepresentation and marginalisation of groups who do not fit into the norms of those considered to be gifted. This becomes even more challenging for students whose multiple and intersecting identities lead to further disadvantage. "Intersectionality", a term coined by the lawyer and civil rights advocate Kimberlé Williams Crenshaw (1991<sub>[61]</sub>), refers to the notion that the disadvantage an individual faces is shaped by several dimensions of his/her identity. The framework of intersectionality therefore brings to light the specific challenges and discriminations faced by groups and individuals as a result of intersecting identities. Within the sphere of education, this discrimination has an impact on the academic success and social and emotional well-being of students.

The concept of intersectionality is rarely mentioned in gifted studies and often partially studied due to difficulties in measuring it, although several authors recently proposed consistent qualitative analyses (Box 1.3). Nonetheless, it permeates the literature of gifted students, particularly in discussions about biases in issues of access and opportunity for marginalised groups in gifted programmes. These, therefore, align themselves with the growing salience of perspectives that maintain that giftedness is rooted in environmental factors rather than innate characteristics (Parekh, S. Brown and Robson, 2018<sub>[45]</sub>).

### 1.6.1. Twice-exceptional students: giftedness and special education needs

Most commonly addressed is the relationship between gifted education and special education needs (SEN), such as physical impairment, learning disabilities and autistic spectrum disorders and Attention-Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder (Brussino,  $2020_{[62]}$ ; Mezzanotte,  $2020_{[63]}$ ). Though students with SEN are generally underrepresented in gifted programmes, it is a subject being increasingly explored in the literature. The underrepresentation of gifted

students with SEN may be impacted, for example, by the stereotypic beliefs held by teachers that may lead them to have lower expectations of students with disabilities (Bianco, 2005<sub>[64]</sub>). Bianco's study on the effect on learning disability and emotional and behavioural disorder labels on the effect on teacher referrals found that teachers were more likely to "strongly agree" or "agree" to refer non-labelled students for gifted programmes than identically described students identified as having one of the aforementioned disorders.

Its prominence within the literature is demonstrated by the coinage of the term "twice exceptionality", which is used to describe gifted students with a coexisting physical impairment and/or neurological disorders (Foley-Nicpon, Assouline and Colangelo, 2013<sub>[65]</sub>; UNESCO, 2020, p. 73<sub>[66]</sub>). For example, giftedness may not be recognised in children with autistic spectrum disorders and some gifted learners can also have reading difficulties. For teachers and even school psychologists, it can be difficult to detect as a student's special education need and giftedness may mask one another, thus causing both exceptionalities to appear less extreme and potentially leading to average or below average performance (Bianco, 2005<sub>[64]</sub>; Williams King, 2005<sub>[67]</sub>). Inadequate professional development within this domain also makes detection difficult for teachers and even school psychologists. For example, a teacher's perception and knowledge of twice-exceptionality may be limited, which may lead to inappropriate referrals and placements. Twice-exceptional learners are less likely than others to receive appropriate and challenging learning opportunities.

In some countries such as Singapore, efforts are underway to diversify the Gifted Education Programme (GEP) for twice-exceptional students (Neihart and Tan,  $2016_{[68]}$ ). In the United States, the Javits programme goes a long way in funding programmes that cater not only to gifted students but those recognised as twice-exceptional. This includes the *California Lutheran University (CLU) Project for the Advancement of Gifted and Exceptional Students* which aims to ensure, among other goals, that gifted, twice exceptional and underrepresented learners are identified appropriately and that the capabilities of teachers are strengthened so that they may employ effective instructional strategies for these students.<sup>10</sup>

As research within this area expands, there is increasing interest in the socio-emotional/psychological concerns of twice-exceptionality. Twice-exceptional learners are susceptible to various challenges in their educational journey, which includes loneliness and low self-esteem as they struggle to reconcile their special education needs with their exceptionality in certain areas. Though they may possess high levels of motivation and consequently set high goals for themselves, they may nevertheless struggle to meet them because of aspects of their other SEN (Mayes and Moore III, 2016<sub>[56]</sub>; Williams King, 2005<sub>[67]</sub>; Beckmann and Minnaert, 2018<sub>[69]</sub>).

While the experiences of twice-exceptional students are receiving more attention within the field, there is still an acknowledgement that, as has been established within the sphere of gifted education in general, empirical investigation of twice-exceptionality is sparse (Foley-Nicpon, Assouline and Colangelo,  $2013_{[65]}$ ). In their in-depth review of the socio-emotional/psychological characteristics of twice-exceptional students, Beckmann and Minnaert ( $2018_{[69]}$ ) discovered that only about 5% of articles on the subject used empirical studies.

### 1.6.2. Giftedness and ethnic groups

Even within the intersection between giftedness and other SEN, further dimensions can be explored. Lovett  $(2013_{[2]})$  makes the case that the twice-exceptional category itself can serve as a vehicle for the elitism and social class reproduction that it seeks to overcome. In studying the intersection of race, disability and giftedness, Mayes and More  $(2016_{[56]})$  maintain that students who fall under this category face new and specific challenges. They are more likely to be overlooked by teachers when making recommendations for gifted peers compared to their White able-bodied peers. The complexity of this category is then deepened by the fact that African-American males are over-represented in special education and are disproportionately represented in the disability categories, including cognitive disabilities and emotional disturbance (Mayes and Moore III,  $2016_{[56]}$ ; Robinson,  $2017_{[70]}$ ), as are Roma students in Europe.

Plummer (1995) estimated that culturally and linguistically diverse students are underrepresented by 30% to 70% in national gifted programmes and over-represented by 40% to 50% in special education programmes (Harris et al., 2009<sub>[71]</sub>). Likewise, Robinson uses his "Triple Identity Theory" to explore the intersection between race, dyslexia and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> See: <u>https://ncrge.uconn.edu/javits-projects/</u> (accessed on 3 June 2021).

giftedness in the US, and proposes that the identification process for gifted learners must involve teachers using multiple data sources and culturally-sensitive assessment procedures (Robinson, 2017<sub>[70]</sub>). Crucially, however, what Mayes and Moore III and Robinson overlook in their framework of intersectionality is the role of gender.

### 1.6.3. Giftedness and gender

Generally, there is a lack of information on the gender dimension of gifted education or the way the two dimensions of gender intersect. In combining the results of 130 studies from 1975 to 2011, Peterson  $(2013_{[72]})$  found that though there were differences in individual cases, on average, boys were 1.19 times more likely to be identified as gifted and included in gifted programmes. While such a figure appears to contradict the trend that girls tend to overachieve more than boys do (Freeman and Garces-Bascal,  $2015_{[73]}$ ), Peterson was able to determine that the method of identification used greatly affected gender differences. In elementary school that relied solely on grades, girls would be more likely to be identified as gifted. Conversely, in schools where teachers were given identical student profiles of boys or girls, boys were more likely to be nominated for gifted programmes.

The discussion tends to revolve around the issue of "self-concept"- in particular, the fact that girls often have poor self-perceptions and attribute their success to luck as opposed to ability. Maxwell's study (2007<sub>[74]</sub>) showed that gifted girls are particularly vulnerable to "underachieve, overextend, and succumb to personal and societal pressures" and risk becoming adult underachievers.

### Box 1.3. Measuring intersectionality in relation to giftedness in Toronto

In 2018, Parekh, Brown and Robson (2018<sub>[45]</sub>) conducted a quantitative analysis that examined the intersectional construction of giftedness and the academic achievement of students identified as gifted, considering racial, class and gender characteristics of students. This was possible thanks to data from the Toronto District School Board (TDSB), one of the largest and most diverse school systems in Canada. Their study focused on Toronto, which they consider as one of the most multicultural cities besides having a regular day student population of just under a quarter-million student.

Through the operationalisation of intersectionality in regression analysis using interaction effects, they were able to examine if the effect of an identity characteristic on one outcome of interest was different according to the level of some other characteristics. They primarily observed that gifted and high achieving students are not equally distributed among race, gender, and parental occupational class. They find that there is no association between being identified as gifted and high academic achievement.

Regarding gender, there seems to be a gender bias favouring males – 60% of gifted students are male while gender distribution is equally divided in the total school population. In terms of ethnic groups, Black students, "Latinx" students and South Asian students are far less represented, while East Asian students are over-represented. White students are also over-represented, amounting for a third of the sample but for nearly half of all students identified as gifted. In terms of the bivariate association between parental occupational class and giftedness, they observe among other elements that around half of gifted children are from relatively affluent families and less than 10% originate from the bottom two categories of the occupational classes combined.

When combining some of the variables, the authors find that the groups most likely to be identified as gifted were the White and East Asian students with a parent in high-status occupation, followed by female East Asian students with a parent in a high-status occupation. White female students with a similar parental occupation rank fourth. They note that "each increase in parental occupational class increased the odds of being identified as gifted by 42% and 39% for high achievers. Male students, however, had a 51% increased odds over female students to be identified as gifted. - but a 53% decreased odds of being high achievers" (p.  $17_{[45]}$ ).

Therefore, a female student from a disadvantaged background and an ethnic group (or "race") other than White or East Asian will have a significantly smaller probability of being identified as gifted. This suggests subjective bias and potential discriminatory social dynamics and practices impacting the way gifted students are identified. This study highlights that one dimension of diversity taken in isolation is not enough to understand the difference of representation of different student populations in the category "gifted". Rather, dimensions of diversity intersect to create more complex identities and related challenges and discriminations for individuals. This study shows that the authors further conclude that the representations – or according to their terms, "the ideology"- of giftedness and smartness shape who is identified as gifted and is entitled to programmatic and material advantages; and "[s]tarkly, these privileged bodies are infrequently racialised, female or poor" (p.  $24_{[45]}$ ).

### **1.7.** Why does gifted education matter? Inclusive education and outcomes for gifted individuals

### 1.7.1. Academic outcomes

Besides arguments regarding the fulfilment of the right to education for all, the incorporation of social justice values and the increasing significance given to the inclusion of diversity in education have led to consider gifted education as necessary for creating equitable and inclusive systems that address the needs of *all* students. Therefore, among advocates for the identification of gifted students, there is a consensus over the two primary goals for ensuring the inclusion of gifted individuals in education policy: self-fulfilment and self-actualisation (Watters and Diezmann, 2003<sub>[75]</sub>; Renzulli, 2016<sub>[28]</sub>; Freeman, 2002<sub>[76]</sub>).

This argument recognises the particular learning needs of gifted students and maintains that a differentiated approach is needed to ensure that these students are able to flourish. It therefore addresses misconceptions that assume that because of their high-level abilities, gifted students do not require the same level of attention as lower-achieving students. This mind-set relinquishes teachers and school leaders from the responsibility of recognising and catering to the particular needs of gifted students, thus preventing them from realising their full potential (Moon, 2009<sub>[77]</sub>). On a larger scale, this can lead to educational policies that, in the pursuit of equity, exclude gifted students from reforms meant to prioritise under-performing and disadvantaged students (Gentry, 2014<sub>[78]</sub>; Sahlgren, 2018<sub>[79]</sub>).

Some authors argue that gifted students can be significantly marginalised because, when they are not always high achievers, certain idiosyncrasies such as unpredictable behaviour are difficult to measure and traditional and extrinsic motivators do not always work for them (Yarrison,  $2018_{[80]}$ ). "Numerous longitudinal studies on high-performing adults (e.g. Nobel Prize winners) showed that they were rarely outstanding as children" – which also casts doubt on the value of early identification (Eyre, 2011, p.  $18_{[50]}$ ) and highlights the overestimated importance of high achievement in the conception of giftedness.

In fact, the literature often highlights that low academic achievement is not an infrequent concern among gifted students (Peterson,  $2006_{[81]}$ ), mainly in primary education (Çakır,  $2014_{[82]}$ ). Little attention to giftedness and as a result, inappropriate education response could generate significant talent loss (Baylor,  $2019_{[83]}$ ). Measuring gifted students' underachievement, i.e. the difference between their potential and performance, is challenging. Evidence shows that the percentage of significantly underachieving gifted students might range from at least 10% to approximately 40%, with some studies suggesting that it could be even higher (Centre for Education Statistics and Evaluation,  $2019_{[53]}$ ). This suggests that a significant number of gifted students do not reach their full potential and can end up failing school, with some groups being more vulnerable than others to underachievement (see section 1.6).

Nonetheless, recent research suggests that these considerations need to be nuanced. The assumption that gifted students experience difficulties in education and are at particular risk of school failure has been challenged. Guez et al. ( $2018_{[84]}$ ), for example, criticising the lack of studies based on representative samples, analysed a large database of French lower secondary school students (N=30.489). They found that high-IQ students achieve higher academic results; show a higher level of motivation, academic self-efficacy and perceived self-regulation; and that their performance is less related to parental education than other students. While this study, also building on previous

evidence, suggests positive academic and, to some extent, well-being outcomes for gifted lower secondary students, primary gifted students might face greater challenges and require more attention (Moon, 2009<sub>[77]</sub>; Çakır, 2014<sub>[82]</sub>).

In spite of existing debates, there seems to be consensus on the fact that not all gifted students are high achievers (and reversely), and that without appropriate support in school, they might not reach their full potential. To address gifted students' uniqueness is therefore essential in supporting them to reach their full potential and in achieving one of the main requirements of inclusive education: the self-fulfilment and self-respect of individuals.

Another argument linked to individual outcomes of gifted students relates to the issue of dropouts. While some studies from the 1990s estimated that among all dropouts, around 20% could be gifted students (Matthews,  $2006_{[85]}$ ), more recent evidence suggest much lower numbers. Authors such as Matthews (*Ibid.*) and Guez et al. ( $2018_{[84]}$ ).explain that studies estimating dropouts are inconsistent; dropout rates among the gifted may be on average lower than among the non-gifted student population. Nonetheless, dropout rates might vary among the gifted student population. For example, while Matthews finds that less than 1% of students participating in a private summer enrichment program dropped out, this number increased to 5% when a larger, more economically diverse group of gifted students was taken into account (Renzulli and Park,  $2000_{[86]}$ ;  $2002_{[87]}$ ).

Although the topic has been widely covered for the overall student population, it is considered still inadequately addressed for the gifted student population (Renzulli and Park,  $2002_{[87]}$ ; Ritchotte and Graefe,  $2017_{[88]}$ ) and research remains rather scarce. In other words, studies on how high-potential students uniquely experience dropping out of school is in its beginning stage. Regarding dropouts, more research would also be needed to analyse how giftedness interacts with other factors at play and whether giftedness is the main cause for dropping out. A number of gifted students leave school due to multiple factors including school failure, low involvement in extra-curricular activities and low involvement of the parents in their education (*Ibid.*). Recent research shows that gifted students start to cognitively disengage during the elementary school years, as their learning environment becomes less stimulating. This phenomenon stresses the importance of responding to the needs of these students in order to spark their motivation and avoid dropouts that might be due to lack of stimulus (Koenderink and Hovinga, 2018<sub>[89]</sub>).

### 1.7.2. Well-being outcomes

A holistic approach to inclusive education entails paying attention not just to the academic achievement of students, but also considering their well-being, including their sense of belonging and self-worth. This subsection focuses on the psychological and socio-emotional dimensions of well-being.

Within existing studies and empirical research, there is ambiguity over the specific social and emotional welfare of gifted children, and how it differs from the larger student population. While on the one hand research shows that gifted children display characteristics that make them more resilient and that higher ability might lead to positive outcomes later in life (Bronw, Wai and Chabris, 2021<sub>[90]</sub>). On the other hand, various experts consider that they may also possess particular needs that make them more vulnerable to socio-emotional issues at an early age (Van der Meulen et al., 2014<sub>[91]</sub>; Rinn, 2018<sub>[92]</sub>). Particular reference is made to the asynchronous nature of their development which causes students to be particularly vulnerable, and which therefore requires a rethinking in the way they are taught, counselled and even parented (Morelock, 1992<sub>[93]</sub>; Pfeiffer and Stocking, 2000<sub>[94]</sub>; Rinn and Majority, 2018<sub>[95]</sub>).<sup>11</sup>

Acknowledging the gaps in the data and literature regarding the prevalence of distribution of psychological disorders among gifted learners, Robinson (2003<sub>[96]</sub>) maintains that the fact that the needs of gifted students may be overlooked in unchallenging educational settings can result in negative and unique consequences. Precisely, exclusive practices might put at risk their social and emotional development, and prevent them from realising their full potential.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Asynchrony is used to describe the mismatch between cognitive, emotional and physical development of gifted individuals. See for instance: <u>https://www.nagc.org/resources-publications/resources-parents/social-emotional-issues/asynchronous-development</u> (accessed on 10 June 2021).

According to Greene (2005<sub>[97]</sub>), unlike their peers, it is more likely that gifted students will face personal conflicts earlier on in their development, particularly in school, because of incongruities in their growing abilities, interests, environments and social expectations. The experienced conflicts, which are also societal, are based on an analytical attitude that causes gifted learners to "spontaneously and persistently question, evaluate and judge elements of the physical and social environment in a way that does not conform to the norms of society" (Mendaglio, 2013, p. 6<sub>[32]</sub>).

In 2016, a team of academics in the Netherlands led an evaluation entirely focused on gifted students' psychological well-being at the primary level. In general, the differences in well-being between the gifted and the comparison group were relatively small, although the gifted children experienced lower self-worth and social acceptance. In contrast, highly creative gifted children experienced lower feelings of well-being than less creative gifted children, while the reverse was true for children who were nominated by their teacher. Additionally, high-performing gifted children showed higher psychological well-being than did underachievers (Kroesbergen et al., 2016<sub>[98]</sub>).

Therefore, in certain circumstances, gifted children might be at some psychological risk, particularly when characteristics and idiosyncrasies such as intensity, sensitivity impatience, high motor activity and over-imagination are misdiagnosed by professionals with inadequate training of how to deal with such students (Beljan et al.,  $2006_{[99]}$ ). These characteristics are especially exacerbated when gifted students are placed in contexts and situations within which they are left unmotivated or unchallenged. Consequently, this may lead to distress and anxieties that express themselves through behavioural or psychosomatic disorders, and which may lead to intellectual inhibition, underachievement and mental suffering (Vaivre-Douret,  $2011_{[59]}$ ).

In the same way that the socio-emotional needs and challenges may be omitted, it has also been suggested that those who exhibit emotional and behavioural disorders (EBD) or attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) are routinely overlooked in the identification of giftedness. Their perceived negative behaviours are regarded as running contrary to expectations of giftedness, when in reality, they are expressing their giftedness in a different way (Reid and McGuire, 1995<sub>[100]</sub>; Karpinski et al., 2018<sub>[101]</sub>).

Despite differences in the literature regarding the severity of the socio-emotional needs of gifted students, several countries consider the overall well-being of students. School systems will benefit from a holistic approach focused on both performance and well-being and need to put further effort and resources in identification processes and programmes based on such an approach and on the consideration of both the diversity gifted students represent in schools and the one existing within the gifted student population.

#### 1.7.3. Social and economic outcomes

Another major motivation in supporting gifted individuals through education policy relates to the broader social and economic outcomes resulting from their giftedness. Grigorenko  $(2017_{[102]})$ , mentioning Kholodnaya's prominent theory on giftedness, explains that there are two key interpretations of the concept. The first is humanistic and egalitarian and relates to values of education for all mentioned in the previous part. It assumes that all children have a right to adequate education, which implies that the education of gifted children should be adapted to their needs, and somehow different from that of other children. The second interpretation is considered to be a pragmatic one. It "assumes that an investment in the development of a gifted child is expected to generate dividends, as this child will become an adult who may contribute substantially to the economy of the society that invested in the child" (p.  $6_{[102]}$ ).

Research suggests that high-performing students contribute disproportionately to countries' innovation and economic growth. It is therefore assumed that the societal reward for supporting gifted children to reach their full potential could be particularly significant (Sahlgren, 2018<sub>[79]</sub>; Boer, Minnaert and Kamphof, 2013<sub>[103]</sub>). Gifted students are regarded as innovators and creators of knowledge who, through the appropriate environment and development, will be able to develop solutions to challenges anticipated in the future (Watters and Diezmann, 2003<sub>[75]</sub>). A comprehensive and well-implemented gifted education could therefore "offer the possibility of cultivating a society's most promising talents into a source of exceptional human capital and creative capacity" (Heuser, Wang and Shahid, 2017, p. 4<sub>[30]</sub>).

These recent considerations mean that the inclusion of gifted students in order to improve their academic and wellbeing outcomes is increasingly regarded as a necessity. Though inclusion of giftedness tends to be a relatively recent topic in educational policy making, various countries have developed frameworks and initiatives aimed to support gifted students realise their potential.

## 2. The governance of giftedness in education systems

Policies giving special educational attention to the most talented emerged through the 20th century at different moments depending on the country. In some European countries, gifted education was already of interest in the first half of the century such as in Spain where the first legislation can be traced to the 1930s (Sastre-Riba, Pérez-Sánchez and Villaverde, 2018<sub>[16]</sub>). After the Cold War, the European Council for High Ability was created in 1987 unifying teachers and academics from the East and the West of the continent. Less than 10 years later, in 1994, the Council of Europe issued a recommendation related to the education of gifted children (Tourón and Freeman,  $2017_{[43]}$ ), which was careful in avoiding the accusation of elitism by stating that "special educational provision should (...) in no way privilege one group of children to the detriment of others" (Council of Europe, 1994, p. 1<sub>[104]</sub>).

In countries such as Mexico, the study of individuals with higher abilities emerged in the 1980s, and the first programmes started to be implemented slightly later. In fact, concrete action in favour of supporting students with special education needs – a category in which gifted students fit – emerged with the 1994 Salamanca Declaration of UNESCO on the inclusion in education (UNESCO,  $2004_{[41]}$ ; Ainscow,  $2019_{[105]}$ ), though the main focus was on children with special education needs such as physical impairments (Harris and Lizardi,  $2012_{[106]}$ ). In Australia, the first educational policies for gifted children were developed in the 1970s following the 1973 Commonwealth Schools Commission Act (Luburic and Jolly,  $2019_{[107]}$ ).

In some countries, an increase in focus on gifted education in educational policy can be partly linked to the national priorities of a specific period. In the United States, for instance, the first policies were developed in the 1950s in STEM (sciences, technology, engineering and mathematics) education. The goal of policy makers was to identify and train the brightest students in these fields to gain an advantage in the space race with the Union of Soviet Socialist Republics, where similar dynamics could be observed in terms of gifted education (McClain and Pfeiffer,  $2012_{[48]}$ ). A more recent example is Japan, where STEM gifted education has recently become an important focus in spite of the country's strong egalitarian tradition that resulted in a lack of policy in the area (Heuser, Wang and Shahid, 2017, p. 9<sub>[30]</sub>; Basister and Kawai,  $2018_{[108]}$ ). Authors argue that in a globalised and competitive world, Japan is using gifted education to favour its national interest: defending Japanese relevance in a new world where emerging powers such as China and India have more and more weight (Heuser, Wang and Shahid,  $2017_{[30]}$ ).

Most OECD countries seem to have integrated the area of giftedness in their educational policy. However, countries adopt contrasting approaches when it comes to the question of how to tackle the specific needs of gifted students. This section aims to understand countries' frameworks, organisation and policy orientations that govern gifted education.

### 2.1. Approaches in policy making related to gifted education

In many countries, the debate over gifted education often plays out between two sides. Opponents argue that special education programmes for the gifted are tailored for the selected few and undermine the principle of equal opportunity. Consequently they are reluctant to develop policies to promote gifted educations and are concerned it would be to the detriment of other students (White, Fletcher-Campbell and Ridley, 2003<sub>[47]</sub>; Eyre, 2011<sub>[50]</sub>; Kronborg and Cornejo-Araya, 2018<sub>[109]</sub>; O'Reilly, 2018<sub>[110]</sub>; Worrell et al., 2019<sub>[4]</sub>). Defendants see such programmes as a chance to identify and increase the potential of the brightest minds likely to have a positive impact on the country's

economy and social innovation. As highlighted by Heuser, Wang and Shahid, "the inevitable connotation of giftedness associated with elitism demands that the tension between equality and differentiation take the centre of analyses of gifted education policies and programs, which can lead to the intentional avoidance of formally defining and providing for gifted students in some countries" (Heuser, Wang and Shahid, 2017, p.  $9_{[30]}$ ). Inevitably, these politico-philosophical debates lead to important questions in terms of policymaking. Among them, are (1) to what extent gifted individuals should be educated among equally gifted peers on the one side and attend schools with peers "average" ability on the other (Sękowski and Łubianka, 2015, p.  $83_{[44]}$ ) and (2) how to respond to gifted students' needs without actually labelling them.

Broadly, a review of the existing literature shows that the myriad of policies surrounding the governance of gifted education can be divided into four main approaches:

- 1. *Policies that explicitly name and identify gifted students*. Naming and defining gifted students is regarded as a decisive move to prioritise excellence. In opposition to egalitarian approaches to gifted education, these policies advance the notion that all individuals come into the world differentiated and that, further, no one is the same. As a result, there are individual differences between learners, and the system needs to be differentiated to enhance each student's learning (Murphy and Walker, 2015[9]);
- Policies that promote gifted education through an egalitarian approach. While some 2. countries have clear legal definitions of giftedness or references in policy documents, others prefer a more egalitarian approach where all students can receive the same education. In contexts with national cultures of promoting egalitarianism, education policies, and particularly those addressing the needs of high ability students, are often geared towards avoiding academic interventions that could be regarded as forms of intellectual elitism (Heuser, Wang and Shahid, 2017[30]). In attempting to address the reality of gifted students, countries in this category advance the claim that all students, irrespective of their unique or specific learning needs, need to receive individualised attention and instruction tailored to their development. Such a rhetoric fulfils the hopes of gifted education without having to name gifted children at all in their policy, an approach upheld by important academics in the field such as Borland  $(2005_{[111]})$  and Eyre  $(2007_{[112]})$ . The most prominent examples are Scandinavian countries where the notion of giftedness can exist for administrative purposes but is not used as a label in programming and school contexts (Sękowski and Łubianka, 2015<sub>[44]</sub>; Tourón and Freeman, 2017<sub>[43]</sub>; Heuser, Wang and Shahid, 2017<sub>[30]</sub>);
- 3. Policies that integrate gifted education into mainstream policies (part of sub-group). Countries may also choose to incorporate gifted education into existing and perhaps less controversial educational agendas. Most commonly, the particular needs of gifted students may be integrated into policies concerning special education needs, a category traditionally reserved for students with learning difficulties and/or behavioural problems (Tirri, 1997<sub>[113]</sub>; O'Reilly, 2018<sub>[110]</sub>; Alves, 2019<sub>[114]</sub>). In Spain, for example, as early as 2002, *the Organic Law of Quality Education (Ley Orgánica de Educación)* (PL 10/2002) incorporated gifted students into the category "specific education identified highly gifted students as one of the groups in need of potential support to reach their full potential because of their propensity to be less motivated. (Thijs, Leeuwen and Zandbergen, 2009<sub>[115]</sub>). Giftedness being part of SEN is also encountered in various other countries, including France, Ireland, Mexico and the United Kingdom. As a result, this leads to educational policies such as "dealing with differences" and "personalised learning" that promote differentiated instruction; and
- 4. Policies that approach gifted education policy as a separate and specific policy measure. Such an approach can be considered as a sub-group of the first approach ("Policies that explicitly name and identify gifted students"). However, initiatives in this fourth category imply a more developed set of measures focused on giftedness. As an example, Korea set up new educational institutions for gifted education. These included gifted secondary schools (specialised schools with autonomous curricula not subject to state regulation), gifted centres, and departments for gifted education. The importance of these specific measures were reinforced by legal requirements such as Article 19 of the Fundamentals of

Education Act 1997 (Gifted and Talented Education), which maintains: "State and local governments shall carry out and establish policies for educating children who have exceptional abilities in fields such as the academic, artistic or athletic". The number of students participating in gifted education increased from 19,974 to 121, 433 between 2003 and 2013 and the number of institutions offering gifted education increased from 400 to 2,868 in that same period (Lee, Kang and Lee,  $2016_{[116]}$ ) (Korean Educational Development Institute,  $2013_{[117]}$ ). It should be noted that these are predominantly schools for students gifted in *science* or *maths* - though recently, the country is expanding its notion of giftedness to include creative arts.

While all four approaches delineate different responses to giftedness, they do not necessarily work in isolation from one another; nor do national policies fall neatly into these categories. Though policies that actively seek to identify gifted students may also advocate and provide guidelines for separate specific measures, this is not always the case. Likewise, egalitarian policy approaches that entail differentiated instruction may employ special measures for gifted students such as pull-out classes at the school level. These different approaches, as well as the ongoing debates on giftedness and talent (see section 2.3.), determine whether and how gifted students are referred to in legal and policy frameworks (see Table 2.1 below).

### Table 2.1. Official or most common terminology to name gifted children

Terminology	Examples of countries
Gifted (and potentially other terms)	Germany, Spain, Portugal
Gifted and talented	Australia, Austria, Italy, Korea, Netherlands, Slovenia, United Kingdom, United States
Talent (and potentially other term)	Colombia
Other terms	France, Mexico
No term	Finland, Norway, Sweden

Note: Data as available in May 2021. Some information in this table may not be up to date.

A unifying component is that all four approaches advance the notion that meeting the needs of gifted students entails the provision of differentiated instruction. They may nonetheless differ in whether education follows the principles of inclusion and equity, which depends on broader educational goals and frameworks developed by countries over time.

### 2.2. Regulatory frameworks and administrative entities

Regulatory frameworks with direct references to gifted individuals are rather scarce across OECD countries. While in some contexts, like in Korea, clear official categories are available, some other countries such as Portugal do not have any legal reference to gifted students but have recently developed a comprehensive legal and policy framework putting inclusive education, curriculum flexibility and differentiated pedagogy as a priority (Alves, 2019<sub>[114]</sub>). In such frameworks, giftedness can be interpreted as a dimension of diversity and a special education need requiring specific provisions. Other countries nonetheless still lack a concise framework, and consequently, leave a certain vacuum around gifted education.

In most contexts, mainly where there is no legal definition and/or limited references to giftedness in policy frameworks, non-governmental actors tend to have a crucial role in the provision of educational services and programmes to gifted individuals. Ireland, for example does not have an official definition of giftedness, and as such, no framework to promote gifted education. Guidelines were developed in 2001 by The National Council for Curriculum and Assessment (NCCA), the statutory body of the Department of Education and Skills, and so far, only

one national formal programme was implemented. In this context, civil society organisations in the countries, mainly universities and parent associations, have been very active in the development and implementation of gifted education initiatives (O'Reilly,  $2018_{[110]}$ ). In Mexico, in spite of a recent focus on gifted students,<sup>12</sup> private institutions, advocacy groups and associations are the main actors in the identification of and programming for gifted students (Harris and Lizardi,  $2012_{[106]}$ ; Heuser, Wang and Shahid,  $2017_{[30]}$ ). In Germany, while various states have developed frameworks and have schools that provide gifted education provisions, non-governmental actors play a major role in promoting and supporting gifted education (Fisher and Müller,  $2014_{[118]}$ ).

In terms of governance of gifted education, while on the one hand, it can be entrenched at the state level, on the other hand, policies can also operate through a system of increased decentralisation, with the state providing guidelines that can be interpreted at the provincial or school level.

At the system level, responsibility for gifted education is typically spread out across ministries and national institutions. These automatically include ministries of education, though other bodies can be involved, such as interministerial agencies and research centres. In Austria for example, the administering actors for gifted education are the Federal Ministry for Education, Art and Culture; the Federal Ministry of Science and Research; and the Austrian Research and Support Centre for the Gifted and the Talented, (*Österreichisches Zentrum für Begabtenförderung und Begabungsforschung, ÖZBF*) (Heuser, Wang and Shahid, 2017<sub>[30]</sub>). The latter does not work in isolation. It operates in the middle of two levels: federal and provincial through Federal Coordination Points, where the president of the Provincial School Governments appoints a co-ordinator for talent support (Nagy and Zsilavecz, 2011<sub>[119]</sub>) Moreover, it is financed by the federal state and has the mandate to initiate gifted education, thus making it unique in Europe (Resch, 2014<sub>[60]</sub>). Besides contributing to the academic research on giftedness, it helps develop strategies at the national and sub-national levels.

In some countries, though a national definition might exist, sub-national authorities are in charge of identifying, designing and implementing plans for gifted students. In Canada for example, the delivery of educational services for gifted students is subject to the regulations and ministerial directives of each provincial and territorial jurisdictions (Lupart et al.,  $2005_{[120]}$ ; Parekh, S. Brown and Robson,  $2018_{[45]}$ ). Consequently, local district boards have their own protocols and procedures for identifying gifted students – which therefore means that while a child may be identified as gifted by one district board, they may not be in another. While this regulatory framework enables provinces to be responsive to their community context, Lupart et al ( $2005_{[120]}$ ), nevertheless point out that it can also lead to a variability in practices. It can turn into a disadvantage since it is likely to hinder the establishment of consistent gifted education programmes and evaluations of policies at the national level.

As mentioned earlier, similar dynamics can be found in the United States, where each sub-national administration has its own definition of giftedness. This leads to significant variations in the methods of identification, curricular provisions and out-of-school activities designed for the gifted. In Spain, the autonomous communities are responsible for implementing identification programmes and interventions for gifted students, though they follow common national guidelines (Sastre-Riba, Pérez-Sánchez and Villaverde,  $2018_{[16]}$ ). Conversely, Switzerland lacks a national strategy, but all cantons have their own policies for identifying and cultivating giftedness (Heuser, Wang and Shahid, 2017, p.  $20_{[30]}$ ; Balestra, Sallin and Wolter,  $2020_{[121]}$ ). A similar dynamic exists in Germany where, while most federal states' education acts refer to giftedness, there is little experience sharing between sub-national education authorities and no strategy at the national level (Fisher and Müller,  $2014_{[118]}$ ).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> Article 41 of the General Education Law of 1993 (*Ley General de Educación* [LGE]) modified in 2009 and enforced in 2010 stipulates that special education is directed towards individuals with SEN (permanent or transitory) as well as those with "gifted skills". The Secretariat of Education also published guidelines and identified that 0.07% of the students population was receiving services through the a national programmes called the Model of Attention of Children and Adolescents with Gifted Skills, *Modelo de Atención a Niños y Jóvenes con Capacidades y Aptitudes Sobresalientes* [CAS] implemented in the 1990's (Harris and Lizardi, 2012, pp. 190-192<sub>[106]</sub>).

That said, whatever the legal framework and the governance structure are, a common feature in most countries in terms of gifted education programmes is the adaptation of the curriculum through acceleration or enrichment strategies.

### **2.3.** Curriculum policies: adaptation of the curriculum to respond to the learning needs of gifted students

The adaptation of the curriculum is considered to be at the heart of gifted education, and the fundamental issue that policies and schools must confront when ensuring that gifted learners are able to have a differentiated and holistic learning experience (Eyre,  $2012_{[122]}$ ). In the face of growing diversity, it is important that policy makers contend with how to ensure curricula are mindful of, meet and promote the linguistic, academic, cultural, and economic diversity of gifted learners and all students more generally. A quality curriculum is therefore also one that is beneficial for all gifted learners, including from underrepresented groups, and which recognises that gifted students are not a homogenous group and do not necessarily display exceptionality, potential or talent in all subject domains (Callahan, Moon and Oh,  $2017_{[123]}$ ).

Two main strategies are used in order to support these students in reaching their full potential: acceleration and enrichment. While enrichment is considered as a "horizontal" extension of the curriculum, where learning activities provide depth and breadth in accordance to the child's abilities and needs, acceleration rather adopts a "vertical" extension of the curriculum, and involves the early introduction of content and skills or a quickening of the pace of delivery and response (H. Wu, 2013<sub>[124]</sub>).

### 2.3.1. Acceleration strategies

The idea of academic acceleration as an efficient practice to improve high-ability students' performance was already introduced by researchers in psychology at the beginning of the  $20^{\text{th}}$  century, and gained popularity in the 1940s, at least in the United States (Steenbergen-Hu, Makel and Olszewski-Kubilius,  $2016_{[125]}$ ). Traditionally – mainly in the early years of gifted education – acceleration has been the most common method. It can be defined as "an educational intervention based on the mastery of higher grade-level knowledge than typical grade-level content or speeding up the pace of the material presented" (Kim, 2016, p.  $103_{[126]}$ ). In other words, this strategy consists of providing a student with a curricular programme at a faster pace or at a younger age than their peers.

There can be a variety of practices associated with acceleration. Typically, acceleration might include grade-skipping, early entrance to kindergarten, school or college or subject-specific acceleration in order to provide an advanced instruction more likely to respond to the student's ability or potential (Steenbergen-Hu, Makel and Olszewski-Kubilius,  $2016_{[125]}$ ). Such a strategy in gifted education is justified by the fact that the teaching rhythm might be too slow for gifted students and demotivate them, an issue likely to put some in a situation of emotional and motivational vulnerability likely to increase through time and grade (ANEIS, 2017, p.  $52_{[127]}$ ). The goal is therefore to provide a student with a curriculum reaching a level of complexity in adequacy with their higher-than-average abilities and skills.

Zhang (2017<sub>[128]</sub>) explains that in China, for example, acceleration is the most common strategy to address gifted learners' academic needs. A typical education plan for a gifted learner is to spend four years in primary education and four years to complete secondary compared to respectively five to six years and six to seven years for other learners. Gifted learners therefore reach tertiary education at the age of 14 or 15 and are expected to complete a Ph.D. study within two years.

In Austria, acceleration is a strategy codified by the law. Since 1974, the School Education Act has enabled gifted and talented students to skip grades, or, since 2006, skip school levels- with the criterion that nine years of schooling must be completed (Weilguny et al., 2013<sub>[129]</sub>). At the time of writing, national implementations for a "new upper level scheme" is being introduced to academic secondary schools (AHS), secondary technical and vocational schools (BMS) and colleges for higher vocational education (BHS) that "will increase the intensity of the learning/studying

process, which will provide an improved overview of individual learning deficits." <sup>13</sup> One of the key elements of this reform is the development of a package for gifted students to be able to complete curriculum areas before other students. In Finland's educational policies, while gifted students are unlabelled at the school level, acceleration in the form of grade-skipping, ungraded systems and subject matter acceleration are used to cater to their particular needs (Tirri and Kuusisto,  $2013_{[130]}$ ; Laine and Tirri,  $2016_{[131]}$ ). The available research on acceleration tends to agree on the benefits of accelerated programming. For example, Steenbergen-Hu and Moon ( $2011_{[132]}$ ), in a meta-analysis synthesising 38 primary studies conducted between 1984 and 2008, found that acceleration might have a positive impact on high-ability learners' academic achievement and, to a lesser extent, socio-emotional development. These findings were re-affirmed in a similar study conducted by Steenbergen-Hu, Makel and Olzewski-Kubilius ( $2016_{[125]}$ ) a few years later.

Academic acceleration is nonetheless subject to controversies (Kanevsky and Clelland,  $2013_{[133]}$ ; Worrell et al.,  $2019_{[4]}$ ). There tends to be a growing resistance to this practice by teachers and parents. Particularly, various teachers argue that it has a negative impact on gifted students' socio-emotional well-being and creates issues of adaptation and isolation; ultimately, acceleration may have more negative than positive outcomes for gifted students (H. Wu,  $2013_{[124]}$ ). In addition, because grade-skipping used alone does not necessarily involve differentiated teaching methods to adapt to the student, acceleration may be considered limited for inclusion purposes (*Ibid.*). Nonetheless, some research tends to suggest contradictory results. A recent longitudinal study conducted by Bernestein, Lubinsku and Benbow ( $2021_{[134]}$ ) shows that acceleration strategies might in fact not harm the long-term psychological wellbeing of gifted students. While similar findings have been demonstrated for short-term effect, the authors even suggest that the psychological well-being of participants was above the average of national probability samples.

### 2.3.2. Enrichment strategies

In comparison with acceleration, "enrichment provides richer and more varied [curricular] content through modification and supplementation of content in addition to standard content in the regular classroom" (Kim, 2016, p.  $103_{[126]}$ ) Among the various practices in gifted education, enrichment strategies are the most widely used after acceleration ones. Such methods aim to broaden and deepen classroom activities and curriculum, and to include more material and information that is not provided in regular classroom study (H. Wu, 2013, p.  $2_{[124]}$ ). Enrichment opportunities can be offered through different strategies, such as differentiated instruction within the classroom, extracurricular activities and summer camps. They can also correspond to intensive courses at universities, like the University of Tampere in Finland, which accepts high school students showing exceptionality and talent in Maths and Physics (Tirri and Kuusisto,  $2013_{[130]}$ ).

According to Renzulli and Reis (1997<sub>[135]</sub>), enrichment should follow a set of 12 principles, among which the consideration that every learner is unique, that learning is more meaningful when students like what they are doing, are stimulated and face concrete challenges, and are confronted with a variety of cognitive areas. Enrichment is also aimed at cultivating: (1) concrete skills such as research, communication and teamwork abilities and (2) positive socio-emotional behaviours such as the development of a social and ethical consciousness. Ultimately, the goal of such a strategy is to support the gifted in developing her/his talents and ability to their maximum, i.e. reaching their full potential, the latter seen as progressive and multidimensional.

In a literature review on effective policies and practices in gifted education, Heller-Sahlgren found that enrichment of the curriculum in and out of class tends to have a positive impact on gifted students' outcomes. It seems effective especially when combined with targeted/individualised instruction (Heller-Sahlgren, 2018, p.  $27_{[5]}$ ). In an extensive literature review on existing research related to the School Wide Enrichment Model (SEM), Reis and Peter (2020<sub>[136]</sub>) explain that most studies on enrichment strategies conducted in different contexts show positive long-term results for gifted students and high-achievers' academic performance. The SEM, which has been implemented in thousands of school districts across countries and provides additional opportunities for enrichment for all students, has proven to generate positive outcomes for gifted students as well as for their non-gifted peers (*Ibid.*). A growing body of research

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> See <u>https://eacea.ec.europa.eu/national-policies/eurydice/content/national-reforms-school-education-1\_en</u> (accessed on 12 June 2021).

and educators consider enrichment as the most preferable strategy. While grouping students together in enrichment programmes, in or out of school, seems to have the most significant positive impact in terms of academic achievement, combining them with an academic year programme in mixed classes might have a further positive effect on gifted students' socio-emotional well-being (Kim,  $2016_{[126]}$ ). Table 2.2 provides a comparison of the main advantages and disadvantages of enrichment and acceleration strategies.

While there still lacks consistent evidence due to a lack of programme evaluations, it seems that enrichment methods are increasingly preferred over acceleration used in isolation. For example, results from the Gifted Education in Europe Survey (GEES) suggest that at least in Europe, where both acceleration and enrichment approaches to gifted education are adopted, there is a preference for enrichment strategies, which are used almost twice as much as acceleration strategies (Tourón and Freeman,  $2017_{[43]}$ ).

		Enrichment		Acceleration
Advantages	•	May be easier for the administration because it does not require class skipping; The student mostly stays with peers of her/his age; Seems to favour a	•	Allows the student identified as gifted to have a curriculum adapted to his/her ability and be challenged; Has a significant positive impact on individual academic performance;
	•	<ul> <li>positive socio- emotional impact;</li> <li>Has a positive impact on gifted students' motivation;</li> <li>Flexibility that makes it easier to adapt to students' needs.</li> </ul>	•	Can have a positive impact on motivation.

### Table 2.2. Main advantages and disadvantages of enrichment v. acceleration

Disadvantages	٠	Requires significant knowledge of giftedness from teachers and other educators, therefore it implies important investment in capacity building for educational staff.	•	Mere class skipping may be insufficient for some gifted students; It is estimated that it does not have a positive impact on students' socio- emotional well-being (being among older peers can create isolation situation for example);
			•	According to teachers, it has more negative outcomes than positive ones (e.g. negative impact on the socio- emotional dimension of well-being) which makes it increasingly controversial among parents and educational staff;

While there tends to be a preference for one or the other, increasingly, the two are being used collaboratively. Hong Kong, China, for example, is considered to have one of the most developed gifted education policies among China, Korea, Japan and Singapore. It adopts a myriad of approaches to school-level provision which includes advancement/acceleration (mainly early admission and grade-skipping), enrichment and pull-out programmes (Ibata-Arens, 2012<sub>[38]</sub>).

In New Zealand, for instance, it is generally accepted that both enrichment and acceleration approaches to gifted education can be used in tandem. A report that traced changes in New Zealand's gifted education provisions over 10 years showed an increasing preference for a combination of enrichment and acceleration approaches as opposed to either one being used in isolation (Riley and Bicknell, 2013<sub>[137]</sub>).

Acceleration and enrichment programmes are therefore not necessarily used exclusively and can be combined depending on the context, resources and needs of each student. These strategies can also work alongside other methods such as ability or cluster grouping and pull-out programmes that also heavily rely on the capacity of the school to allocate appropriate resources and qualified teachers able to rely on diversified pedagogy (see section 4.1).

### **2.4. Educational offer and learning settings: between egalitarian aspirations and the specific needs of gifted students**

As more countries have paid attention to gifted students in policy frameworks and curriculum policies, an ongoing concern has been whether gifted students should benefit from specific educational provisions and if so, to what extent. Inclusive education takes as its starting point that what may be right for one student is not necessarily right for another, and that education systems must accommodate this reality. The process to reach such an aspiration might differ across countries and often remains an open question. The availability of separate educational settings for diverse groups, a topic greatly debated among academics and policy makers, might be even more controversial when paired with gifted education because of the aforementioned concerns regarding elitist practices and lack of equitable access to gifted programmes (Eyre, 2011<sub>[50]</sub>; Heuser, Wang and Shahid, 2017<sub>[30]</sub>).

While some countries are concerned about undermining egalitarian values, others consider that gifted education can positively affect individual, social and economic outcomes (see section 1.7). Advocates for the use of specific

provisions such as selective schools maintain that these might provide social and emotional benefits for gifted students and help them reach their full potential, which will ultimately benefit society. Importantly, they can provide students with the opportunity to learn alongside like-minded peers in a supportive environment that accepts and celebrates their high ability and talents (NSW Department of Education, 2018<sub>[57]</sub>; Eyre, 2012<sub>[122]</sub>).

In some countries, national and sub-national education authorities have placed gifted education among their priorities and established selective schools. These schools usually focus on specific domains, including sciences, languages and music. The prevalence of one field over others depends on national historical and social dynamics. In Poland, for example, gifted students can choose specialised schools supported by the Ministry of Education or/and the Ministry of Culture in music, visual arts, ballet or sports (Limont,  $2012_{[138]}$ ). Besides several gifted research centres and institutes, Korea has various gifted secondary schools, a majority of which focus on mathematics and science with some also including arts. Those are publicly funded and have a number of teachers who are specialised in gifted education. It also has public schools offering gifted classes to primary and secondary students (Cho and Suh,  $2016_{[39]}$ ).

Nonetheless, the existence of selective schools and services for gifted students raises significant questions, mainly regarding school segregation. As some countries allow for separate provisions and admission decisions based on grades, opponents to gifted education are concerned about the emergence of elitist schools and exclusionary practices. In certain cases, like in Australia, there has been an effort to consider equity issues by convening gifted students from different geographical locations and helping them reach their full potential (Box 2.1).

In many countries there might be few to no special schools for gifted students. In this case, gifted education is exclusively provided either within the regular classroom or through extra-curricular activities, usually categorised as enrichment programmes. In Switzerland, for example, gifted students are most often left in mainstream schools, and special provisions are offered only outside the classroom, mainly through enrichment activities (Mueller-Oppliger, 2014<sub>[35]</sub>; Balestra, Sallin and Wolter, 2020<sub>[121]</sub>). In Austria, a special grammar secondary school for highly gifted and talented children was created in Vienna in 1998, which was highly contested. Today, Austria has very few special schools for gifted and talented and such an education is to be implemented in mainstream schools (Resch, 2014<sub>[60]</sub>).

In mainstream schools, differentiated pedagogy strategies (see section 4.1) are increasingly praised by researchers and educational staff (Heller-Sahlgren,  $2018_{[5]}$ ; Dixon et al.,  $2014_{[139]}$ ), though there are concerns about the challenges related to implementation of such strategies and the lack of available training for teachers (see section 3.1). Such strategies are rarely mentioned in national frameworks and often depend on the school culture and/or teachers' initiatives.

Furthermore, according to different studies, some of the most efficient educational provisions for gifted students seem to be school summer camps as part of an enrichment strategy (Kim,  $2016_{[126]}$ ; H. Wu,  $2013_{[124]}$ ; Heller-Sahlgren,  $2018_{[5]}$ ). For example, a 2006 study led by Michael S. Matthews used longitudinal data from North Carolina, United States, to investigate high-school dropout rates among gifted students who had participated in a regional talent search programme as seventh graders. Results indicated that dropout rates among this particular gifted population were extremely low (Matthews,  $2006_{[85]}$ ).

### Box 2.1. Selective schools for gifted students in New South Wales and Victoria, Australia

#### Australian policy context: increasing emphasis on gifted education

The 2015 curriculum, being revised in 2020, started to emphasise opportunities to address all students' needs, acknowledging their diversity, including the needs of gifted and talented students. Educational authorities in each state have their own definition and policies related to giftedness and usually emphasise both academic outcomes and

student's well-being. Though special provision for gifted students is not new, the 2015 national curriculum has encouraged all states to give a fresh impulse to gifted education.

There is, however, an increasing concern among academics and policy makers about a lack of equity. Indigenous and low socio-economic background students are underrepresented in gifted programmes, and boys are over-represented. States' policies and initiatives are increasingly putting equity as a priority.

The use of selective school programmes in Australia varies widely across the different states and territories. Practices to respond to the needs of gifted students span from the use of accelerated learning programmes based on selection tests to selective schools. In these programmes, gifted students can be placed with like-ability peers or not. The states of New South Wales (NSW) and Victoria provide two examples for the use of selective schools.

#### NSW selective schools for gifted students

In NSW, different selective secondary schools offer choice to gifted and talented students and their parents as part of an equitable public education school system. These schools select learners together and teach them in specialised ways. The different types available include fully selective secondary schools, agricultural secondary schools, partially selective secondary schools and art schools such as the Conservatorium High School.

Additionally, the state also makes available "opportunity" classes at the primary school level for academically gifted students that parents usually apply for when their children are in Grade 4. The goal of these classes is to ensure the learning development of gifted students by grouping them with peers of the same ability and using specialised teaching methods and educational materials. As of March 2019, there were 76 primary schools with opportunity classes. It is estimated that 80 000 gifted public-school students across New South Wales will be identified and extended under a new high-potential programme to be launched from 2021.

#### Gifted education in Victoria

In 2012, Victoria conducted a new Inquiry into the education of gifted and talented students. At the conclusion of this inquiry, the Committee determined that "gifted students need to be specifically catered for as a matter of equity" and developed a set of policies that have shaped provisions for gifted and talented students in Victoria. Moreover, Victoria's Department of Education considers that gifted students require additional education needs to which schools must adapt.

Provisions for gifted and talented students in Victorian schools include acceleration, high ability grouping, differentiation, enrichment, among others. Similarly to NSW, selective schools are available, mainly focusing on math, science, technology, dance, music, and visual arts. Furthermore, the Department of Education funded several research initiatives on education in order to identify how to better respond to gifted students' needs, which involved the design of a new development programme for teachers.

Source: NSW Department of Education, (2018[57]), Review of Selective Education Access: Findings and Action Plan, http://education.nsw.gov.au (accessed on 3 December 2021).

### 2.5. Resourcing gifted education

How gifted education is funded varies greatly across countries. National and sub-national education policy priorities, the structure of the education system and the way in which educational resources are managed tend to have a significant impact on the funding of gifted programmes. Therefore, in the same education system, public funding for gifted education may significantly vary over time and space according to the national, regional and/or even local support for appropriate programming and interventions.

In some countries, the budget for gifted education comes from government's funds, often complemented with subnational authorities' resources depending on the type of provision programme. In these countries, there is usually a clear strategy for gifted education, which plays a crucial role in defining the scope of programmes and may help

expand and direct funding. In Korea, for example, gifted schools and programmes are funded by the government through the Ministry of Education and Provincial Offices of Education (Cho and Suh, 2016[39]). When Lithuania's Strategy for the Education of Gifted Children and Young People (December 2005) was published, with its Programme and Measures (January 2006), funding and measures to enhance educational provision for gifted children increased (Eurydice, 2006<sub>[42]</sub>). The State also manages some schools with specialised provision, including arts gymnasia and conservatories that provide specialised training in the arts for talented children (Shewbridge, 2016, p. 37[140]).Most countries do not have an established central budget specifically dedicated to gifted education. In the absence of a central mandate, sub-national education authorities are most often responsible for addressing the needs of gifted learners. In federal states, funding for education is typically managed by sub-national education authorities. In the state of Queensland, Australia, for example, budgets are allocated to regions on the basis of student enrolments and the total overall available budget. Funds are usually held by the region to manage gifted programmes' outcomes. A small part can be distributed directly to schools, to strengthen capacity-building activities or implement targeted programmes.<sup>14</sup> In Austria, the nine different provinces can make a decision about the funds they wish to allocate to gifted education, thus leading to resource differences among them. Consequently, whereas one province may merely have one co-ordinator for talent support – the minimum advised according to existing guidelines – another province may choose to invest a considerable amount of its budget in gifted education and develop comprehensive gifted education programmes (Resch, 2014<sub>[60]</sub>) Moreover, when there is a dedicated budget for gifted education, the resources schools receive for gifted students may directly depend on the share of students identified as such. In Texas, United States, for example, where the funding and identification of gifted students is encouraged, school districts receive money for each student identified up to 5% of the total enrolment in the same district (Hodges, 2018[141]).

In an increasing number of traditionally more centralised OECD education systems, there is a trend towards the decentralisation of budgeting and management responsibilities. This means that regional, local and school levels have gained increasing authority with regards to budgeting, and the allocation of educational resources. Such an approach mainly aims to adapt to the local communities' needs (OECD,  $2017_{[142]}$ ). In this logic, sub-national authorities, such as municipalities, and even schools, can take control of funding. Also in this case, there might be a balance to consider between addressing local needs and the heterogeneity in the amount allocated to schools in a same education system. This can have an impact on the amount of resources allocated to gifted education in a same, potentially leading to disparities in the educational offer for gifted learners.

Furthermore, state-funded resources for gifted education can be managed by localities and schools depending on their needs, but can also be attributed towards targeted and specific interventions. In February 2019 for example, New Zealand's Ministry of Education announced a NZ 1.27 million (approximately € 731 962) package to support gifted and talented education by funding one-day schools, and providing awards, events and out-of-school experiences for gifted learners. Moreover, the package also seeks to provide additional guidance for teachers and kaiako (teacher in Māori) to help them identify and support gifted learners.<sup>15</sup>When the general budget for school that is the basis for the education of all students is used to fund the education of gifted students, with no particular criteria for gifted students, the identification and implementation of gifted programmes might primarily rely on the initiative of the school. Authors from North America, the United Kingdom and Australia identified that such an approach tends to lead to a limited availability of or no additional funding to develop gifted programmes. As a result, teachers are often not prepared to teach gifted students, and principals often do not receive any extra funding to support gifted students' education, issues that substantially impact the quality of gifted programmes (Kronborg and Cornejo-Araya, 2018[109]; Callahan, Moon and Oh, 2017[123]). These issues have been identified, for example, in several European countries (Tourón and Freeman, 2017<sub>[43]</sub>). Targeted financial support, mainly through scholarships, can also be given to gifted students. This support can be allocated directly by the state tough the competent authorities, or by private entities promoting gifted and talented education such as Foundations and national/international networks (Mönks and Pflüger, 2005<sub>[143]</sub>; Eurydice, 2006<sub>[42]</sub>). In Slovenia, intellectually and artistically gifted students can be awarded a Zois

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> See: <u>https://education.qld.gov.au/about-us/budgets-funding-grants/grants/state-schools/core-funding/gifted-talented</u> (accessed on 12 June 2021).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> See: <u>https://www.beehive.govt.nz/release/new-support-package-gifted-learners</u> (accessed on 13 June 2021).

scholarship (*Zoisova štipendija*), which is financed by the state. The selection for this scholarship is primarily carried out in the first year of the secondary school. There are also special private funds and professional associations offering scholarships to talented students (*Ibid.*).

As mentioned earlier in section 1.6, evidence shows that gifted learners from socio-economically disadvantaged and/or diverse backgrounds tend to be underrepresented in gifted education programmes. As such, when designating resources to gifted education, there is sometimes an effort to distribute in a way that retains principles of equity (and aims of access) by targeting socially disadvantaged gifted learners. In Ireland, for example, the fee-based Irish Centre for Talented Youth (CTYI) operates alongside the Delivering Equality of Opportunity in School policy, and thus subsidises talented students, scoring in the top 5% of SAT test scores, from designated disadvantaged schools (Cross, Cross and O'Reilly, 2018<sub>[144]</sub>).

In the United States, there exists the Jacob K. Javits Gifted and Talented Students Education Act that first passed by Congress in 1998 and was re-authorised in 2015 through the Every Student Succeeds Act. Besides the promotion of scientific research and support to school, the Act focuses on identifying and catering to students traditionally underrepresented in gifted programmes i.e. minority students, students from low-income backgrounds or who are English language learners, and children with disabilities. This act, which in 2018 received \$ 12 million (approximately  $\in$  10.9 million) in federal funds, operates within an egalitarian framework that seeks to reduce gaps in achievement and to promote equality of educational opportunities.<sup>16</sup> Nonetheless, general funds for gifted education are provided by individual states, therefore responding to different criteria. Researchers from the United States suggest that the effect of the Act on gifted education are mitigated and yet to be explored (Hodges, 2018<sub>[141]</sub>; Kettler, Russell and Puryear, 2015<sub>[145]</sub>).

The United Kingdom's government "Excellence in Cities" (EiC) policy initiative sought to target gifted students from inner-city schools in disadvantaged areas (urban schools with high levels of social and economic deprivation). The resources allocated to Local Education Authorities (LEAs) and their schools depended on their level of disadvantage (with the percentage of students receiving free school meals used as an indicator of low family income): this ranged from £ 50 (approximately € 55) per student in more advantaged schools, to around £ 140 per student for the least advantaged schools (Machin, McNally and Meghir,  $2007_{[146]}$ ). This programme also operated within the awareness that geography plays an important role in the academic access and the ability of students to realise latent talents. For example, in targeting urban areas, it acknowledged that gifted students may "have been hibernating in social situations, given neither recognition nor encouragement" (Casey, Portman Smith and Koshy,  $2011_{[51]}$ ; Koshy, Smith and Brown,  $2017_{[147]}$ ).

## **3. Policy approaches and challenges to building capacities in gifted education**

The effectiveness of inclusion and equity in education relies to a considerable extent on ensuring that educational authorities and all stakeholders possess the right knowledge and skills. In this sense, policies and practices related to capacity development within a system can play a key role in promoting diversity and inclusion in education systems. Awareness-raising campaigns, the preparation and professional development of school leaders, teachers and support staff, and the preparation of students and parents for gifted education might be essential elements to enhance gifted students' academic and well-being outcomes and promote their inclusion in educations systems.

Overall, there is consensus on: (1) the crucial role of educational staff, in particular teachers, in the academic success and well-being of gifted students and (2) the specific needs giftedness implies in terms of educational support.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> See: <u>https://www.nagc.org/resources-publications/resources-university-professionals/jacob-javits-gifted-talented-students</u> (accessed on 13 June 2021).

Nonetheless, knowledge and skills related to giftedness tend to be limited in some areas, such as teacher initial education and career counselling strategies, which again often stems from the idea that gifted students do not need much support due to higher-than-average abilities.

This section aims to identify some of the main practices and challenges related to capacity building in gifted education in OECD countries. It focuses on how awareness of giftedness can be raised at the system level, teachers' education and preparation and mentoring strategies to support gifted learners through their educational journey.

### **3.1.** The central role of teachers: initiatives to initial preparation and professional teacher development

Teachers can have a central role in the identification, support and monitoring of gifted education strategies. As such, teacher preparation is crucial in gifted education policy. Evidence shows that gifted education programmes, from identification and assessment to differentiation and other pedagogical strategies, are significantly more efficiently implemented by teachers who undertook specialist studies in gifted education (Centre for Education Statistics and Evaluation, 2019<sub>[53]</sub>). Various countries have developed policies and initiatives aimed at enhancing teachers' preparation to respond to the needs of gifted students. Depending on whether giftedness is clearly established in national regulations, they might opt for different approaches. These range from targeted professional development in gifted education to broader inclusive policies aimed to strengthen teachers' capacity to adapt their pedagogy depending on students' needs – without necessarily referring to giftedness as such. The following paragraphs provide some examples of these different approaches.

Some countries might have a clear legal reference to teacher preparation for gifted education. In Korea for example, the preparation of teachers is codified in the 2000 Gifted Education Promotion Act, Article 12 (1) states: "the state and local government shall provide education and training to improve quality of teachers in charge of gifted education on a regular basis". The National Training Institute, established in 2009, "drives and coordinates professional development for teachers and educators." Their capacity is built through graduate courses and in-service training courses. Basic training involves 60 hours that cover courses that include understanding gifted education and identifying gifted and talented students. More intensive training, which involves 120 hours, goes more in-depth and covers subjects such as teaching and evaluating methods and the development of programmes.<sup>17</sup>

Some other countries such as Austria (Weilguny et al.,  $2013_{[129]}$ ) or Lithuania (Eurydice,  $2006_{[42]}$ ) describe the role and preparation of teaching and support staff in official policy documents, while many education systems rely on guidelines and orientation documents, as for example in France (DGESCO,  $2019_{[33]}$ ) or Colombia (Ministerio de Educación Nacional,  $2015_{[148]}$ ). In these cases, ministries, with the help of associations, often develop standards and establish essential knowledge and skills that teachers need to acquire to be effective in teaching gifted students. These standards aim at enhancing teaching quality for all teachers and give them the confidence to efficiently implement guidelines and programmes for gifted students at the school.

### 3.1.1. Initial teacher education

It is important that initial teacher education (ITE) includes specific training to develop competencies and skills for ensuring that classrooms and schools are equitable and inclusive for all learners, including gifted students. Knowledge in ITE on how to deal with gifted and talented learners can be mandatory, optional or absent from countries policy and legal frameworks. Overall, the topic of gifted education in ITE can be either a separate subject or integrated in other subjects. In the first case, undergraduate and post graduate programmes might be offered to teacher candidates that enable them to nurture and ensure the development of gifted students, while in the second, giftedness may be part of the topic of special education needs.

Eurydice's 2006 report (Eurydice, 2006<sub>[42]</sub>) shows that among the 30 countries part of the survey, gifted education-related issues were included on a mandatory basis in ITE in 11 (France, Austria, Slovakia, Hungary, Greece, Estonia,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> See: <u>http://gifted.kedi.re.kr/khome/gifted/gedEng/teaching.do</u> (accessed on 13 June 2021).

Finland, Norway, Sweden, and Denmark). In the other countries covered by the studies, the topic was either optional or not mentioned in official documents. Moreover, it was a separate subject only in six countries (Germany, Austria, Latvia, Hungary as well as Greece and Slovenia who also adopted an integrated approach).

Besides, in contexts where higher education institutions enjoy considerable autonomy, it may be up to the individual institution to decide on the status of this issue in teacher education, sometimes leading to great disparities within a same country (*Ibid.*). In Romania for example, while educational guidelines mention the need to include giftedness in ITE, the implementation of such courses depends only on the university's decisions regarding curriculum content. As a result, a few universities across the country offer such courses (Mönks and Pflüger, 2005, p. 133<sub>[143]</sub>). In Colombia, the Technical Orientation Document for gifted education in the framework of inclusive education (*capacidades y/o talentos excepcionales*) recognises that tertiary education institutions have a key role in promoting the topic in ITE to address gifted learner's needs in school (Ministerio de Educación Nacional, 2015<sub>[148]</sub>). While some universities offer degrees focusing on giftedness, the Colombian Orientation Document advises that all higher education institutions offering ITE develop a plan to provide future teachers with the tools to become experts in enabling all learners, including gifted ones, to reach their full potential.

As the interest for an inclusive education approach has grown, more countries have included minimum knowledge requirements on inclusion and diversity in ITE, though it is still lacking in many contexts (UNESCO, 2020<sub>[66]</sub>). In some countries like Austria, while studies show that topics related to the education of gifted students tend to be rare and only marginally addressed (Weyringer, 2013<sub>[149]</sub>), there has been an increasing focus on the topic of gifted education in ITE, which has been a separate topic (Reid and Horváthová, 2016, pp. 67-68<sub>[150]</sub>). In various countries however, while there exists ITE courses on inclusive education, these tend to focus on special education needs, a category from which giftedness is often excluded (UNESCO, 2004<sub>[41]</sub>).

Finally, in some contexts like in Finland, while capacity building may appear difficult given the lack of explicit reference to gifted students in education policies, Finnish teachers are considered well-equipped. This results from a standard focus on differentiated instruction from kindergarten on (Tirri and Kuusisto, 2013<sub>[130]</sub>). In other words, even though no training for gifted education as such is provided, teachers are already conscious of how to tailor the curriculum and instruction to the particular needs of gifted students.

### 3.1.2. Continuous professional learning

As many systems become more inclusive, continuous professional learning is crucial to ensure that teachers are able to respond to more diverse student needs (UNESCO,  $2017_{[151]}$ ). Continuous professional learning is also an important tool to ensure that practising teachers can respond to students' individual needs and promote inclusive education building upon the knowledge and skills acquired in initial teacher education programmes (OECD,  $2019_{[152]}$ ; Cerna,  $2021_{[3]}$ ) Developing the capacity of teachers and school staff to address the needs of gifted students is therefore a core policy lever to promote inclusive education policies and practices. This is especially relevant when acknowledging that special education needs, a category in which gifted students might be found, remain amongst the most needed areas for continuous professional learning by teachers across OECD countries. As TALIS 2018 shows, across countries part of the study, an average of 22% of teachers reported a high level of need for professional learning in teaching students with special education needs, a percentage that exceeds 45% in Brazil, Colombia, Mexico and Japan (*Ibid.*).

In-service training on gifted education-related issues can be provided by governmental and non-governmental specialised entities or universities. In some cases, specialised national associations and transnational networks also offer teachers training opportunities to teachers in gifted and talented education (Mönks and Pflüger, 2005<sub>[143]</sub>).

The aforementioned Eurydice survey found that in-service training on gifted and talented learners was offered in 18 countries out of 30 for primary and secondary teachers (Eurydice,  $2006_{[42]}$ ). In the United Kingdom, Mönks and Pflüger noted already in 2005 that there had been an increasing number of training and professional learning opportunities for teachers in this area (Mönks and Pflüger,  $2005_{[143]}$ ). However, while in-service training is mandatory in many European countries, teachers are most often free to choose their areas of interest (Sękowski and Łubianka,  $2015_{[44]}$ ), probably generating significant disparities in knowledge and skills to deal with gifted learners. As Tourón

and Freeman  $(2017_{[43]})$  noted in their survey, "68.92% of teacher respondents had not experienced any special training even though opportunities for in-service training were available to them" (p.  $63_{[43]}$ ).

In this context, non-governmental organisations tend to have a significant role in the preparation of teachers for gifted education. In countries where gifted education is not or no longer recognised as a policy priority, these organisations can be essential in providing services for gifted students who may otherwise be overlooked within their schools and classrooms.

For example, in order to counter the lack of teaching development programmes in Europe, a "Specialist in Gifted Education" degree awarded by the European Council for High Ability (ECHA) was proposed in Europe (Weilguny et al., 2013<sub>[153]</sub>). In the Netherlands, this degree is made available at the bachelor and master's levels by the Centre for the Study of Giftedness of Radboud University Nijmegen. This programme sits alongside a broad range of courses for teaching gifted students, which also includes seminars organised by individual trainers and private practitioners (Boer, Minnaert and Kamphof, 2013<sub>[103]</sub>).

In the United States, the National Association for Gifted Children (NAGC) and the Council for Exceptional Children (CEC) created national standards in gifted education programming services and teacher preparation. These standards cover topics such as knowledge and skills for teachers and teacher preparation programmes that help teachers not only adequately identify gifted students but also ensure that these students are provided with relevant, meaningful and challenging learning experiences (NAGC, 2013<sub>[154]</sub>). Among other requirements, these standards call on teachers to "recognize the learning differences, developmental milestones, and cognitive/affective characteristics of gifted and talented students, including those from diverse cultural and linguistic backgrounds, and identify their related academic and social-emotional needs."<sup>18</sup> In Portugal, the National Association Study and Intervention in Giftedness (*Associação Nacional para o Estudo e a Intervenção na sobredotação*, ANEIS), among various other activities, offers training courses to educational staff and supports school leaders and teachers in the implementation of personalised programmes for gifted learners.<sup>19</sup>

### **3.2.** Impact and importance of teachers' beliefs and attitudes on gifted learners' outcomes

Teachers' beliefs, practices and attitudes are important for understanding and improving educational processes. They are closely linked to teachers' strategies for coping with challenges in their daily professional lives and their general well-being. In addition, they shape students' learning environment and influence student motivation and achievement (OECD, 2009<sub>[155]</sub>). Teachers are also essential actors in shaping students' engagement, drive and self-beliefs (OECD, 2013<sub>[156]</sub>).

A recurring theme in the literature on gifted education is that teachers, and in particular their attitudes, will and training, have the most profound influences on the educational development and psychological well-being of gifted students, as well as the advancement of gifted education within their schools (Rowan and Townend,  $2016_{[157]}$ ; Fraser-Seeto,  $2013_{[158]}$ ; Boer, Minnaert and Kamphof,  $2013_{[103]}$ ; Lassig,  $2009_{[159]}$ ; Riley and Bicknell,  $2013_{[137]}$ ; Polyzopoulou et al.,  $2014_{[160]}$ ). Similarly, teachers' negative perceptions, stereotypes and prejudices also play a substantial role in decisions on who gets to be identified as gifted, consequently generating significant biases and feeding into issues surrounding the underrepresentation of certain groups. For example, evidence identified that low expectations of minority students or those from low socio-economic backgrounds from teachers could be a significant barrier to their entry into gifted and talented programmes (Casey, Portman Smith and Koshy,  $2011_{[51]}$ ; Ford,  $2010_{[55]}$ ). This phenomenon has led some researchers to suggest eliminating, or at least encouraging a smaller weight of teacher referral in the identification process (Worrell et al.,  $2019_{[4]}$ ).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> See: <u>https://www.nagc.org/resources-publications/resources/national-standards-gifted-and-talented-education/knowledge-and</u> (accessed on 20 June 2021).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> See: <u>https://www.aneis.org/intervencao/</u> (accessed on 20 June 2021).

Overall, there seems to be consensus in the literature on the fact that greater training of teachers leads to more positive attitudes towards gifted programmes (Lassig,  $2009_{[159]}$ ; UNESCO,  $2004_{[41]}$ ; Polyzopoulou et al.,  $2014_{[160]}$ ; Sahlgren,  $2018_{[79]}$ ) and gives them the tools to be able to implement good practices to support gifted learner's needs. Issues regarding the implementation of gifted education policies can be significantly linked to the resistance from teachers who tend to express unease with the selection process, or objected to the labelling of specific students as gifted (Koshy, Smith and Casey,  $2018_{[161]}$ ). Moreover, the lack of preparation of teachers becomes even more of a challenge, when they must deal with the cultural and/or socio-economic differences/dimensions of gifted students (Gómez-Arizaga, Conejeros-Solar and Martin,  $2016_{[162]}$ ).

Despite the acknowledged importance of teachers, there is often little attention given to giftedness in initial teacher education and a paucity of continuous learning development opportunities to improve their approach to and ease with gifted programming. Overall, the literature emphasises that some of the most prevalent challenges "faced by those education systems that committed to gifted education include inadequate teacher preparation and lack of resources for working with gifted learners" (Heuser, Wang and Shahid, 2017, p.  $10_{[30]}$ ). Across countries, ITE is considered as one of the most neglected areas of gifted education policy (Reid and Horváthová,  $2016_{[150]}$ ). Teachers tend to receive very limited to no instruction in gifted education and/or differentiated education and/or may not implement it because of a lack of support or interest in the broader educational environment (O'Reilly,  $2018_{[110]}$ ; Mönks and Pflüger,  $2005_{[143]}$ ; Dixon et al.,  $2014_{[139]}$ ).

For example, Plucker et al. (2018, p.  $20_{[40]}$ ) observed that in the United States, even though some states have advanced policy framework on gifted education, only nine require gifted coursework in teacher, school leader and/or counsellor training. The authors nonetheless noted an increase in training opportunities since 2015, when three states required at least one of these groups to take coursework on gifted learners. In Australia, in spite of an apparent focus on gifted education in several provinces, study in gifted or high-ability education is not a mandated part of pre-service education, and very few Australian university schools of education require it as a mandatory degree component (Centre for Education Statistics and Evaluation, 2019, p.  $19_{[53]}$ ). Similar issues have been identified across Europe (Tourón and Freeman,  $2017_{[43]}$ ) and Latin America where the United Nations Education, Science and Culture Organisation (UNESCO) ( $2004_{[41]}$ ) noted significant gaps in ITE and continuous professional learning for educational staff.

### **3.3.** Mentoring strategies to support gifted learner's academic and well-being outcomes

As mentioned before, little support is often provided in developing gifted students' talents. According to common belief, gifted students will simply learn on their own and will adapt to education systems. Less common, however, is the consideration that education systems must adapt to gifted students' needs and provide special support to ease their inclusion in the school. Like other students, they do need to be accompanied in reaching their potential and finding their academic (see Box 3.1) and career path.

Some studies have documented the positive effects of mentoring on gifted students. Academics and practitioners recommend mentoring programmes because they tend to significantly improve gifted students' motivation, self-worth and achievement, and help develop positive adult relationships (Ball, 2018<sub>[163]</sub>). In this sense, mentoring can be an effective practice to promote the inclusion of gifted students.

According to the literature, there seem to be three main mentoring strategies likely to have beneficial effects on gifted students' academic and well-being outcomes:

- 1. *Teacher-student mentoring*. One of the most common and informal forms of mentoring is the relationship between a teacher and his/her students as the latter often look to their teachers for advice, direction, and assistance in learning (Bisland, 2001<sub>[164]</sub>). This kind of mentoring can be found at every level of schooling and university, mostly for newly arrived students.
- 2. *Mentoring with an older student*. In this type of mentoring, a younger gifted student talks about career decision and transition with an older student. It seems to be a highly efficient

strategy to reduce gifted student's anxiousness in relation to transition (Benson,  $2009_{[165]}$ ). Moreover, it proved to have a particularly positive effect on gifted students from a disadvantaged background and gifted minority students who can be more isolated than others (Bisland,  $2001_{[164]}$ ; Centre for Education Statistics and Evaluation,  $2019_{[53]}$ ).

3. *Student-expert mentoring*. This strategy might involve a university expert or a practitioner and take the shape of a more formal programme. It is often an academic expert mentoring a secondary or high school gifted student in a specific field. For instance, the Malaysian PERMATApintar National Gifted Center proposes a mentorship programme that focuses on developing students' capacity to undertake academic research by pairing them with a university professor who guides them in research in their field of interest (Bakar, 2017<sub>[166]</sub>).

There is no one-size-fits-all solution, that is, no subscribed mentoring programme is right for every child or school. Rather, each student will benefit more from one type of mentoring or another, or from the association of several strategies. To be efficient, a mentorship programme has to be consistently implemented, with a strong commitment from the participants and the presence of an adult supervising it in the case of an older student mentoring a younger one (Bisland, 2001<sub>[164]</sub>).

Some countries acknowledge the importance of mentoring strategies for gifted learners' academic and well-being outcome. For example, New Zealand included the importance of mentoring in gifted education programmes, stating that this approach must take into account the specific needs of Māori gifted students (Ministry of Education,  $2012_{[15]}$ ). The document also states that besides providing practical information to students, mentoring strategies are essential "to nurture the social and emotional aspects of giftedness through empathetic companionship. Schools need to facilitate mentorship programmes by offering training to mentors and students on their roles in the partnership and appointing a school-based co-ordinator" (p.  $67_{[15]}$ ).

Finally, while mentorship programmes often focus on short-term role-modelling, long-run programmes have shown the most positive impact on gifted students' both achievement and well-being. For example, the Catalyst Programme developed by the American Psychological Association involves long-term commitments that connects students with important members of the field and provides emotional support (Subotnik et al.,  $2010_{[167]}$ ). The programme enables gifted learners to be continuously challenged and develop specific psychological skills. Learners are also encouraged and helped to challenge their teachers' ideas with their own. In providing young gifted learners with such skills, the programme thus acknowledges that while some students may be socially and emotionally resilient on their own, others – and perhaps a majority –, on the other hand, may require psychological support to cope with challenging and competitive environments (*Ibid.*).

### Box 3.1. Mentoring gifted students to facilitate transition to upper secondary school

Melvin B. Belson, a high school teacher in the United States, conducted an "action research project" looking into middle school students transitioning to high school with a special focus on students identified as gifted. The study was conducted between 2007 and 2009.

Belson found that these adolescents, around 14 years of age, all experienced similar anxiety issues and confusion in relation to the work overload and new expectations. He observed that gifted students experienced similar levels of social and physical anxiety. However, his study suggests that they require special attention for two reasons: they tend not to be considered at risk because of common views on giftedness though they may experience anxiety in a specific way due to the gifted element.

Based on these observations, Belson offers a method to aid gifted students in transitioning from middle school to high school in the form of peer-to-peer/student-to-student talking. In recognition that teachers' advice may sometimes go unheeded by students, he held a panel discussion where eighth-graders about to transition to high school had the opportunity to listen to ninth-graders talk about their experiences and exchange questions and advice. Later, he conducted a survey of the 8th graders who had participated in the discussion during the fall semester of their ninth-

grade year, and the panel discussion with the high school students ranked as the most useful activity in aiding their transition.

Though this method can be replicated to all students, it might be of particular interest for gifted students. It allows to access life stories of individuals with a similar experience and provides gifted students with support to understand their needs. In this sense, peer-to-peer mentoring seems to be a highly efficient method in enhancing students' readiness for transition and reducing related anxiety.

Sources: Benson, M. (2009<sub>[165]</sub>), "Gifted Middle School Students Transitioning to High School: How One Teacher Helped His Students Feel Less Anxious", <u>https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ835838.pdf</u>.

### **3.4.** The importance of civil society organisations and networks for building capacity and promoting collaboration to advance gifted and talented education

Civil society organisations and communities can have a central role in achieving inclusive education. They might help advance and promote inclusion in education in many ways, including through education service provision, advocacy and scrutiny of government actions (UNESCO,  $2020_{[66]}$ ). Civil society organisations are rather active and seem to have a crucial role in raising awareness and building networks to advance the state of gifted education.

Myths, misconceptions surrounding giftedness and the lack of attention given to gifted learners in certain contexts highlight the importance of building capacity and cooperation on the benefits of gifted education and its contribution to inclusive education systems more generally. Numerous national, regional and international organisations and networks seek to do so by facilitating research and providing resources and materials that are beneficial for schools, school leaders, teachers, parents and communities.

The United States NAGC (National Association for Gifted Children) supports and develops policies that respond to the diversity of gifted and talented students. This organisation disseminates research used by a range of stakeholders and further supports professional development, advocacy, communication and collaboration with other relevant organisations.<sup>20</sup> Based on academic research, NAGC also created a list of myths to deconstruct about gifted students.<sup>21</sup> Likewise, a significant number of other countries have national associations that provide services, research and guidelines to support policy makers and practitioners in defining, identifying and responding to the educational needs of gifted students.

In Portugal for instance, ANEIS<sup>22</sup> supports schools across the country in identifying learners, training teachers and providing socio-educational support. The association released in 2017 a comprehensive report aimed to fill gaps in knowledge on giftedness and guide educational staff on how to promote the inclusion of gifted students (ANEIS, 2017<sub>[127]</sub>). Some governments also develop their own guidelines in partnership with academics. This is the case of the French Ministry of Education that, under its new orientation towards inclusive education, recently published a guide on addressing gifted education (DGESCO, 2019<sub>[33]</sub>).

International entities have also worked on raising awareness of giftedness. For example, the World Council on Gifted and Talented Children<sup>23</sup> is a worldwide advocate for gifted children that holds a biennial World Conference. This conference provides the opportunity for educators, researchers, parents, psychologists and others interested in gifted education to share their experience, knowledge and information on giftedness and gifted education. At the regional

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> For an overview on the Association, see: <u>https://www.nagc.org/</u> (accessed on 22 June 2021).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> See: <u>https://www.nagc.org/myths-about-gifted-students</u> (accessed on 22 June 2021).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> See: <u>https://www.aneis.org/</u> (accessed on 22 June 2021).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> See: <u>https://www.world-gifted.org/</u> (accessed on 22 June 2021).

level, the European Council for High Ability<sup>24</sup> enables the coordination of most European countries. It seeks to act as a network that promotes the exchange of information among educators, researchers, psychologists, parents and all those interested in high ability, including high-ability students themselves. The primary objective is to enable different stakeholders to share their knowledge and experience of working with gifted individuals and to promote initiatives to advance the education of gifted children and youth (Sękowski and Łubianka, 2015<sub>[44]</sub>).

In various countries, attempts to generate national awareness of giftedness are undertaken through days or weeks dedicated to the field. In 2011 and 2013, the national Gifted Education Awareness Week<sup>25</sup> initiative was created by the Gifted and Talented Ireland and promoted through Gifted and Talented Network Ireland. The week aims to "dispel some of the myths and misconceptions surrounding gifted education and raise awareness on the resources available to teachers through the internet". It also aims to open a dialogue between parents and teachers. Similarly, in New Zealand, the theme of the New Zealand Gifted Awareness Blog Tour 2019 organised by the New Zealand Centre for Gifted Education was "Mythbusting". The Blog Tour enables individuals to share their experiences, stories and views about giftedness- ranging from the experience of being a gifted learner or raising, teaching or counselling a gifted student.<sup>26</sup> Australia also has a Gifted Awareness Week led by the Australian Association for the Education of the Gifted and Talented to "raise awareness of the identification, support and learning needs of gifted children and to celebrate the dedication of individuals and educational bodies who are making a positive difference in the lives of gifted children and their families."<sup>27</sup>

### 4. Importance of school-level interventions to promote the inclusion of gifted students

While national policies for inclusion are central to the creation, shaping and sustainability of gifted programmes, their implementation lies critically at the school level. Consequently, promoting high-quality school-level interventions to support the inclusion of gifted children while ensuring that schools have resources for effective implementation is key.

This section identifies practices, opportunities and challenges related to gifted education at the school level. More specifically, it focuses on teaching and learning strategies implemented to respond to gifted learners' needs, the organisation of their learning time and space and how parents and communities can be involved in gifted education programming.

### **4.1. Teaching gifted learners in the regular classroom: differentiated pedagogy strategies**

The diversity of student needs can be addressed through various strategies in the classroom. In order to respond to diversity in the classroom, gifted education programmes often rely on a differentiated pedagogy, which can also be merely called differentiation (ANEIS, 2017, p.  $41_{[127]}$ ; Eyre,  $2012_{[122]}$ ). This notion refers to educational strategies used by teachers and other educational staff based on a flexible education which adapts to the personal students' individual cognitive and psycho-social characteristics. Differentiation "means building instruction from students"

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> See: <u>https://www.echa.info/</u> (accessed on 22 June 2021).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> See: <u>http://gtnetwork.ie/geaw-2013/</u> (accessed on 25 June 2021).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> See: <u>https://nzcge.co.nz/blog</u> (accessed on 25 June 2021).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> See: <u>http://gaw.aaegt.net.au/</u> (accessed on 2 June 2021).

passions and capacities, helping students personalise their learning and assessments in ways that foster engagement and talents, and encouraging students to be ingenious" (OECD, 2018, p.  $6_{[168]}$ ).

Many school-level approaches to gifted programming involve differentiation. Such an approach expects teachers to recognise the different learning abilities of students and to respond appropriately according to students' individual needs (Lawrence-Brown, 2004<sub>[169]</sub>). Moreover, differentiation is regarded as essential both to enhance the academic development of gifted students and to prevent the development of interpersonal challenges for gifted children (Beljan et al., 2006<sub>[99]</sub>). The final goal corresponds to "ensuring the holistic development of students' identity" (Bakar, 2016<sub>[170]</sub>). Regarding the specificity induced by giftedness, such strategies must go beyond traditional personalised approaches to teaching in order to support gifted learners in reaching their full potential.

Table 4.1 below, developed by the Portuguese national association for giftedness ANEIS, provides a general comparison between approaches based on traditional pedagogy and those based on differentiated pedagogy.

### Table 4.1. Traditional pedagogy v. differentiated pedagogy

Traditional Pedagogy	Differentiated Pedagogy
Differences are not acknowledged, there is intervention when issues become significantly obvious.	Differences between students are studied and constitute the point of departure of the pedagogical project.
A general comprehension of students' intelligence is predominant.	The multiple forms of intelligence are recognised.
There is a simple definition of excellence in school.	Excellence is defined mostly from the individual evolution in relation with a previous stage.
Students' interests are sometimes taken into account.	Students are frequently solicited in order to base the teaching on their interests and motivations.
Teaching/learning follows the idea of respecting a manual and a curriculum.	Teaching/learning takes into account the availability, interests and profiles of the students.
Teaching/learning is focused on contents and activities not necessarily linked to context.	Teaching/learning is focused on the acquisition of essential skills, in order to value and understand the concepts and relevant knowledge.
In and out of class tasks provide one option only.	Various options are available for in and out of class tasks.
Time management is relatively flexible.	Time is managed in a flexible way, in accordance with the students' needs.
The work is mostly based on written texts.	There are diversified teaching/learning materials.
Facts and ideas tend to have one interpretation.	Facts and ideas tend to have various possible interpretations.
The teacher guides the student's behaviour.	The teacher promotes the acquisition of an autonomous learning ability.
The teacher solves the problems.	Students help their classmates and the teacher to solve the problem.
Student assessment is done mostly at the end in order to verify what was understood.	Student assessment is continuous and repeated in order to adapt the teaching to the students' needs.
Classification is standardised.	The teacher negotiates with the students, defining individual learning goals for the whole class.
One type of assessment is used.	Student assessment methods are diversified.

Note: This table proposed by the Portuguese National Association Study and Intervention in Gifted Education (Associação Nacional para o Estudo e a Intervenção na Sobredotação) was translated from Portuguese to English by the author.

Source: ANEIS (2017, p. 43<sub>[127]</sub>), *Guia para Professores e Educadores: Altas Capacidades e Sobredotação: Compreender, Identificar, Atuar [Guide for Teachers and Educators: High Abilities and Giftedness: Understand, Identify and Act],* <u>https://www.aneis.org/guia/</u> (accessed on 9 December 2021).

As mentioned in section 2.3, differential pedagogy seems to be highly efficient when coupled with curriculum enrichment strategies. A 2015 study undertaken in the United States showed that less structured teaching methods paired with enrichment models tend to raise performance among gifted children significantly. The research highlighted that a rich curriculum and responsive instruction adapted to gifted learners might an effective strategy to enhance these students' learning outcomes at different levels of education (Callahan et al., 2015<sub>[171]</sub>).

In countries who see the inclusive education approach as one that allows teaching all learners in the regular classroom while responding to their diverse needs, there tend to be an increasing emphasis on differentiated pedagogies. The adaptation of teaching and learning methods to respond to the specific needs of gifted learners within the classroom is mentioned in some countries' legal and policy frameworks. France, in its Education Act, refers to gifted students (*élèves à haut potential*, previously *élèves intellectuellement précoces*) and requires that special measures and equipment are provided to support these students in reaching their full potential (DGESCO,  $2019_{[33]}$ ). Likewise a 2013 White Paper on promoting talent and excellence published in Austria emphasises the need for the design of personalised and differentiated learning processes to boost performance not only in gifted students, but also in all learners (Weilguny et al., 2013, p.  $27_{[129]}$ ).

Differentiation can have significant benefits for different groups of students (OECD,  $2018_{[168]}$ ). Though some academics argue that children perform better with more structured and rigid teaching methods, a growing body of research has shown that higher autonomy, participation and individualised teaching methods can be highly beneficial for numerous students, and particularly for gifted individuals (Heller-Sahlgren,  $2018_{[5]}$ ).

### 4.2. Organisation of learning time and space for gifted students

Within the literature, there is a debate about what organisation of learning in regular schools could cater to the academic and general well-being of gifted learners. This debate is persistent because of the lack of rigorous empirical research about what approaches or models work best and is further compounded by national differences in gifted education. Approaches can fall into two categories: (1) separate, or special, classes, also referred to as grouping strategies and (2) integrated, or mixed-ability classes.

Some policy makers and practitioners advocate for separate class times for gifted students. This follows from the aforementioned idea that high-ability learners in regular classrooms are left unchallenged and unmotivated, which can be a major contribution to their underachievement (Laine and Tirri, 2017<sub>[27]</sub>; Moon, 2009<sub>[77]</sub>). As such, responses to these issues include isolationist or "pull-out" methods in which selected students are taken out of their regular classrooms for specified amounts of time for accelerated/enrichment learning.

In such settings, students of similar ability or achievement levels learn together. A significant body of research supports the separate classroom method, which enables gifted learners to work with similar ability peers and receive more challenging and appropriate learning than they may receive in a mixed-ability class. It might lead to greater academic achievement and, if time in mix-ability classrooms is also promoted, it can have a positive effect on the social development of students (Reis and Renzulli,  $2010_{[172]}$ ; Rogers,  $2007_{[173]}$ ; Sahlgren,  $2018_{[79]}$ ; Centre for Education Statistics and Evaluation,  $2019_{[53]}$ ). More generally, available research highlights that grouping strategies can help improve all students' academic performance if it used with appropriate curriculum and teaching/learning strategies in the classroom (Gentry,  $2014_{[78]}$ ).

To be a viable option, separate classroom approaches must bring together students for a substantial amount of time during the school week (Reis and Renzulli,  $2010_{[172]}$ ; Rogers,  $2007_{[173]}$ ). VanTassel-Baska ( $2017_{[174]}$ ), for example, maintains that a minimum of two hours per week of group learning with other gifted students of equal or higher ability is essential in ensuring the authentic learning of the gifted. Renzulli ( $1987_{[175]}$ ) explains that pull-out

programmes work particularly well when the regular curriculum undergoes systematic modifications, and are better suited for students at the primary school level than the secondary school level.

Using My Class Activities as an instrument to investigate the perceptions of gifted primary students in Korea, Yang, Gentry and Choi  $(2012_{[176]})$  were able to determine that gifted students who attended pull-out programmes experienced higher levels of interest, enjoyment and challenge from these programmes than they did from their regular classrooms. An acknowledged limitation of this study, however, was the lack of detailed information about the students' demographics, and thus the inability to determine whether, for example, gifted students from low-economic backgrounds have access to such pull-out programmes.

However, ability grouping strategies for gifted students are however subject to significant controversy among educators and academics, primarily because of aforementioned concerns around elitism and gaps or inconsistencies in recent research (Centre for Education Statistics and Evaluation,  $2019_{[53]}$ ). Gentry ( $2014_{[78]}$ ) mentions for example that "[c]onflicting results, conclusions, and opinions exist regarding ability grouping. The practice has been both touted as an effective means for promoting student achievement and decried as an evil force contributing to the downfall of America's schools" (p.  $7_{[78]}$ ). Besides these concerns, the authors also identified the potential "Big-Fish-Little-Pond effect."<sup>28</sup> They suggest a careful use of this classroom strategy because research indicates that academic self-concept is negatively affected when students of high ability are too often grouped in homogenous high-ability classes, rather than mixed-ability classes (Mendaglio,  $2013_{[32]}$ ). However, the available literature on the impact of such strategies on gifted students' socio-emotional well-being is still significantly scarce and provides contradictory results (Centre for Education Statistics and Evaluation,  $2019_{[53]}$ ).

Ability grouping for gifted students can also occur within the regular (mix-ability) classroom. When using withinclass grouping, gifted students are grouped together for specific tasks, subject or activity. In such settings, students identified as gifted may be grouped and receive differentiated instruction while being included in the "mainstream" classroom. Steenbergen-Hu, Makel and Olszewski-Kubilius ( $2016_{[125]}$ ), for example, found that both specific abilitygrouped programmes and within-class grouping for gifted students have a moderate, though statistically significant effect on their academic achievement.

It is, overall, regarded that grouping gifted learners based on ability through approaches such as cluster groupings, pull-out classes and special classes can be very effective when paired with a differentiated curriculum (VanTassel-Baska,  $2017_{[174]}$ ). Differentiated learning and specialist-trained teachers is essential to ensure the efficiency ability grouping strategies that may otherwise have negative effects (Center for Education Statistics and Evaluation,  $2019_{[37]}$ ).

Furthermore, an approach increasingly emphasised in the literature is "cluster grouping". Although definitions may vary, in the cluster grouping model, students are purposefully placed in classrooms to create a balance of ability and achievement levels in all classes (Brulles, J. Peters and Saunders, 2012<sub>[177]</sub>).

Despite variations in its definitions and applications as reflected in particular models such as the "School-wide Cluster Grouping Model" (SCGM) and "Total School Cluster Grouping (TSCG)," this method retains three key elements (Gentry, 2014<sub>[78]</sub>):

- Groups of students identified as gifted are placed in classrooms consisting of students with different levels of achievement;
- Teachers differentiate the curriculum and instruction for the high-achieving students in the clustered classroom; and
- Successful teachers have an interest or background in working with gifted students.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> For an overview of this notion, see for example Stanford University Graduate School of Education 2018 online article: <u>https://ed.stanford.edu/news/stanford-education-study-provides-new-evidence-big-fish-little-pond-effect-students-globally</u> (accessed on 4 June 2021).

There has been increasing attention to the use of cluster grouping, mainly because of the development of the inclusive education paradigm, as well as other factors such as budget cuts, and heterogeneous grouping policies that have eliminated programs for gifted students (*Ibid.*). Defendants of this approach emphasise that while it allows for students of different abilities to be in the same classroom, it also makes targeting differentiated pedagogies easier for teachers and can therefore help increase all students' achievement (Brulles, J. Peters and Saunders, 2012<sub>[177]</sub>).

Though cluster grouping aims to realise the potential of gifted students, their integration with students of mixed abilities is such that heterogeneous classes become the norm. Such a strategy allows all students to have the opportunity to work according to their own challenges through the aid of teachers trained to create differentiated learning environments (Brulles and Winebrenner,  $2018_{[178]}$ ).

While the available research emphasises the positive effect of ability grouping on gifted students' performance, little seems to be available on the effectiveness of specific differentiation models on learning outcomes in mixed-ability setting (Centre for Education Statistics and Evaluation,  $2019_{[53]}$ ). Teachers can also choose to resort to the diversification of teaching materials and carefully designed cooperative learning techniques to encourage students with different abilities to work together and support each other. This can enhance all students' interests and potential while keeping them included in the same classroom as other students. Such methods can be efficient not only for gifted students, but also for all students in the same class (Box 4.1).

### **Box 4.1.** Using cooperative learning techniques to promote inclusion: the Jigsaw Classroom

### What is the Jigsaw classroom?

The Jigsaw classroom is a method developed in Texas in the 1970s by Elliot Aronson. In this teaching/learning method, each student is seen as an essential piece of a puzzle. First, students have to be placed in groups that respect class diversity. The method contains several steps the teacher has to follow, steps through which students are asked to solve a problem as a group. Each student is given a "segment" of the day's lesson and, as such, each individual has essential knowledge that, through collaboration, will help lead the whole group to the end of the exercise. The teacher also designates a leader for each group and has to be prepared to intervene if one or several students manifest inappropriate behaviours.

This technique is used to foster critical thinking, collaboration, communication, and creativity skills in the classroom. Moreover, it is considered to be an efficient strategy for differentiating instruction to meet the needs of diverse learners.

#### Application of the Jigsaw method to mixed classrooms with gifted students: Example from a French secondary school

César Franck de Palaiseau is a French pilot secondary school where programmes based on differentiated pedagogy are implemented to respond to the needs of gifted learners and improve the quality of education for the whole class. The project began in 2012. The school welcomed 650 students, including 12% gifted students, some with physical impairments, and an Upe2a (a separate class designed to provide progressive access to the curriculum to non-French speaking students) until 2014, which constituted a highly diverse environment. The project aimed to establish an alternative pedagogy to foster the inclusion of all students, without targeting one specific group in isolation.

In this school, the students identified as gifted can access:

- 1. Enrichment strategies where gifted students have access to a higher class (*décloisonnement* in French): gifted students, if they are bored and in advance, are allowed to go to a higher class or even to the nearest high school if it is possible. Some even present science projects in a university.
- 2. A differentiated assessment: instead of evaluating with grades, they assess skills, without grades.
- 3. An adapted schedule and
- 4. A differentiated pedagogy within the classroom: a teacher mixes student profiles and creates activities that enhance solidarity and allow each one to work on her/his weaknesses.

A biology teacher has been using differentiated teaching methods to include all students in a diverse classroom. Besides technology, she often uses the Jigsaw method, which she refers to as her favourite one. What she observed, for instance, is that gifted students do not want to share much with others or lose time. However, they have to explain to those who do not understand if they want to achieve as a team. As a result, it stimulates them by creating a new challenge and allows everyone to understand the issue at stake. Overall, the teacher identified that this method gives significant results in terms of students' motivation and participation.

Source: Information gathered by the author at an international conference on gifted children at Université Paris-Descartes, Paris, France, organised on 20 June 2019 by the National Support Centre for Gifted Children and Adolescents (*Centre National d'Aide aux Enfants et Adolescents à Haut Potentiel*).

### **4.3.** The use of technology to foster the inclusion of gifted students

Several international agencies such as the European Agency for Special Needs and Inclusive Education have stressed the potential of technology in fostering inclusion in schools (European Agency for Special Needs and Inclusive Education, 2013<sub>[179]</sub>). Technology is increasingly acknowledged as a vital tool in enabling teachers to more easily provide differentiated instruction and act as a creative and cognitive stimulator for students (Periathiruvadi and Rinn, 2012<sub>[180]</sub>). Some authors even argue that a well-structured use of technology in the classroom can "proliferate learning" and, in certain cases, is likely to contribute to better student performance (Mashhadi and Kargozari, 2011<sub>[181]</sub>).

There is consensus within the gifted education literature that technology, if properly used, might improve the effectiveness and quality of gifted education programmes, including by creating online learning communities, allowing distance mentoring practices and supporting the development of critical thinking and creativity skills (Chen, Yun and Zhou,  $2012_{[182]}$ ). Siegle ( $2005_{[183]}$ ) highlighted that technology can, overall, be used to support six type of learning activities for gifted students: (1) digital information/learning resources; (2) e-books; (3) interactive projects; (4) online (distance) classes; (5) publishing platforms; and (6) mentoring resources and activities.

In an extended review of best practices and empirical research on the topic, Periathiruvadi and N. Rinn (2012<sub>[180]</sub>) found that gifted students tend to express positive perceptions about the use of technology for their learning. Their review also highlights that technology can help gifted students get more engaged, perform better in some subjects and strengthen certain skills such as problem solving and inquiry skills. They nonetheless point out that the literature has mainly focused on the impact of digital technologies on gifted students' critical thinking and for adapting the curriculum. This suggests the need for more research in other areas, such as the impact of technology tools on these students' socio-emotional needs.

Moreover, the wealth of information that can be accessed online can also provide the perfect opportunity to gain more knowledge by themselves and go beyond the limited flow of information they are able to receive from a teacher, who, in traditional settings, are regarded as the main source of information. Therefore, it can relieve the burden of teachers, make education more flexible and greatly aids them in meeting the needs of gifted students, particularly in differentiated classrooms with students of mixed ability. As such, as argue Chen, Yun and Zhou, technology might have "the potential not only to increase the capacity and enhance the quality of education but also to transform the mode of education" (Chen, Yun and Zhou, 2012, p.  $167_{[182]}$ ). Defendants of such an approach argue moreover that the ideal classroom for gifted learners is a borderless one, where they can have access to relevant information and the kind of intellectual stimuli they require according to their higher-than-average ability. Technology can therefore help teachers to "expand the classroom beyond its four walls" (Bakar,  $2016_{[170]}$ ). When it allows such openness and support activities that align with "real-world" applications, the use of technology in the classroom can also contribute to enhancing gifted students' motivation (Housand and Housand,  $2012_{[184]}$ ). Authors nonetheless warn that the use of technology can trigger negative outcomes or inappropriate situations, such has access to too much or sensitive information and computer crimes (Chen, Yun and Zhou,  $2012_{[182]}$ ).

In Malaysia, for example, Kebangsaan University tried a "digital classroom" approach – an innovative technique using integration of digital technologies – used at the "laboratory school" of the National Gifted Centre, as a teaching and learning strategy for local gifted students. Teachers integrate digital technologies in the classroom and make use of four main tools: (1) social media applications such as Facebook, Whatsapp, Twitter, Instagram and more to enable students to communicate with a range of actors; (2) online learning portals including Massive Open Online Course (MOOC) and the Khan Academy Portal that give students access to a range of courses offered by universities around the world; (3) emails; and (4) an interactive communication platform where students can continuously share knowledge and debate with older peers and experts (Bakar, 2016<sub>[170]</sub>).

While more empirical research seems to be needed to measure the impact of different technical technology strategies on gifted students' outcomes, the literature suggests that access to technology may have a significant impact on the development of talent within the learning environment (Chen, Yun and Zhou, 2012<sub>[182]</sub>; Periathiruvadi and Rinn,

2012<sub>[180]</sub>). Using strategies based on technology can contribute to promote student cognition, regulation of learning, and creativity, and prevent talent loss in the long run (Baylor, 2019<sub>[83]</sub>).

Furthermore, technology can help reduce the gap in access to education for disadvantaged gifted students. Research shows that it can support the learning of gifted students who have physical impairments are live in challenging and remote geographical locations (Chen, Yun and Zhou,  $2012_{[182]}$ ). For example, Belcastro's study ( $2002_{[185]}$ ) identified the potential for technology to deliver essential services for gifted students in rural areas in the United States where barriers of access, insufficient transmission of information and inadequate teacher preparation may be a problem. As such, free learning portals can be essential for gifted learners from low socio-economic backgrounds or rural areas who would otherwise be unable to access such courses and learning opportunities. In some cases, however, while the access to such advanced programmes on learning portals is highly valued by students, they miss the "interpersonal" social interaction considered necessary to their well-being (Centre for Education Statistics and Evaluation, 2019, p.  $12_{[53]}$ ).

While technology can support the learning of gifted students, its use can be challenging for several reasons. In order to implement effectively the use of digital technologies to benefit gifted students, teachers need to be well prepared in both areas. TALIS 2018 estimates that across participating countries, 44% of teachers do not receive digital technology training during their formal teacher education and training and slightly more than 40% of them feel well or very well prepared to use technology in the classroom (OECD, 2019<sub>[152]</sub>). Gaps in teacher education and training on technology coupled with existing gaps in their education and training on gifted education in various countries (see Chapter 3) might bring significant challenges to the implementation of such practices. Consistent digital technology skills for teachers are needed not only to promote gifted students' learning, but also to ensure students' safety and access to appropriate information when using such tools.

### **4.4.** Counselling the gifted: education transition and career guidance for gifted individuals

School counsellors, gifted-education and classroom teachers and other actors such as university-based counselling centres with a focus on gifted individuals can provide appropriate services to support gifted students beyond academic achievement (Peterson,  $2006_{[81]}$ ). If properly prepared, these actors can have a central role in supporting gifted students progressing through the education systems and make decisions about their professional career.

First, well-designed transition programmes<sup>29</sup> to orient students and help them progress through and after the education system are essential elements of inclusive education systems. Moreover, comparative studies, while highlighting the need to improve the existence, diversity, relevance and transparency of different pathways, advise the design of specific support to young people who could be left behind so that all students advance to further education and employment (OECD, 2012<sub>[186]</sub>).

In the specific case of gifted students, research has identified that transition programmes can be highly beneficial if they take into account and adapt to these students' needs. Existing research suggests that these students may adopt different decision processes and require special support in relation to counselling and guidance that take into account their specificities such as asynchronous development and motivation-related issues (Jung,  $2017_{[187]}$ ; Kerr and Sodano,  $2003_{[188]}$ ; Wood,  $2010_{[189]}$ ). As an example, Benson ( $2009_{[165]}$ ) observed that dropouts were higher where strategies aiming at supporting gifted students transition throughout the education system were fewer. His study also highlighted that peer-to-peer mentoring can also be efficient in supporting such transition (see Box 3.1).

Furthermore, several authors have stressed the importance of giving attention to transitions beyond compulsory education for gifted students. For example, adhering to Gagné's model, Greene (2005<sub>[97]</sub>) for example maintains that

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> A transition programme is here defined as a school-level strategy implemented to support students (e.g. through counselling, mentoring, social support) transitioning from one school year to another, from upper secondary to higher education or from education to work.

career counselling is a necessary aspect of talent development and that it must be infused into educational and socioemotional support as part of a life-long process.

Mendaglio  $(2013_{[32]})$ , focused on gifted students' transition to university. He found that while gifted students face similar challenges to the rest of the average student population, they tend to confront a different set of psychological demands due to giftedness itself. More specifically, they are likely to face a higher level of anxiety and loss of confidence, which can result in underachievement, loss of motivation and largely affect aspirations for their future. Mendaglio nonetheless acknowledges limitations due to the generalised absence of consistent research and data in this area. Likewise, Chen and Wong  $(2013_{[190]})$  point out challenges that might be specific to gifted students when making career choices, such as a narrow-mindedness regarding the domains of interest and a tendency to perfectionism that can impede them from choosing certain career paths because of an acute fear of failure or to respond to family and educators' expectations.

Despite these considerations, there seems to be a generalised lack of practices and empirical research on the benefit of counselling to support gifted students progressing within the education system and to orient them with their career choices (Wood,  $2010_{[189]}$ ; Chen and Wong,  $2013_{[190]}$ ; Smith and Wood,  $2018_{[191]}$ ; Mendaglio,  $2013_{[32]}$ ). While there has been significant progress in understanding how adolescents make decisions about to their future career, there is still little research on this topic regarding students with higher-than-average abilities.

To tackle this issue, the literature further emphasises the need to focus on the necessity to include giftedness in school staff education and training. It first stresses a need to strengthen the education and training of school counsellors to foster practices that respond to student diversity, which might equip them to better respond to gifted students' needs in terms of career orientation. This may particularly benefit students for whom giftedness intersects with other dimensions such as gender, gender identity, sexual orientation and ethnic background, confronting them to specific challenges (Smith and Wood,  $2018_{[191]}$ ) Second, there might also be a need to strengthen teachers' initial education and professional development since teachers can have a decisive role as mediators, even mentors, regarding gifted students' career decision making (Watters,  $2010_{[192]}$ ; Greene,  $2005_{[97]}$ ).

### 4.5. Engagement with parents and communities

Research has shown that the involvement of parents and communities in the learning process of their children plays a prominent role in their overall success and well-being in schools. Reviews of international evidence on parental involvement showed that "good parenting has a significant impact on children's achievement and adjustment, evident across all social classes and all ethnic groups", including for gifted students (Koshy, Smith and Brown,  $2017_{[147]}$ ). Increasingly, school-family partnerships and community-centred approaches are recognised as highly efficient in supporting all students, including gifted ones, and help them achieve their potential (Matthews and Menna,  $2003_{[193]}$ ; OECD,  $2019_{[194]}$ ).

Parents have first a central role in the early identification of a child's giftedness. Parent awareness of the behaviours that indicate high potential is an important element of policies related to gifted education (Sękowski and Łubianka,  $2015_{[44]}$ ). The earlier an individual is identified as gifted, the earlier the school system can adapt to her/his needs. Therefore, at the school-level, parents should be encouraged to participate/engage in the identification process (and nomination) of gifted students.

Second, gifted students are likely to underachieve and lose motivation when the school does not respond to their needs. There are numerous gifted students who "continually experience failure at school while successfully learning and creating at home, where they can put extended effort into their hobbies and interests. Developing a collaborative relationship between parents and teachers will also facilitate productive intervention strategies" (Williams King, 2005<sub>[67]</sub>).

Parents most often show interest in supporting their child when s/he is identified as gifted, and in knowing more about her/his special educational needs (Bicknell,  $2014_{[195]}$ ; Koshy, Smith and Brown,  $2017_{[147]}$ ; Wellisch,  $2020_{[196]}$ ; Paul,  $2018_{[197]}$ ). Furthermore, parents can be pillars in gifted education when they receive relevant information and resources. Bicknell ( $2014_{[195]}$ ) conducted a case study with 15 children ages 10 to 13 to study parents' recognition of

and involvement in their gifted children's adapted math education. She found that these particular parents, whose children were chosen by their school as being gifted and talented in mathematics, served as motivators, resource providers, monitors, content advisors, and learning advisors altogether.

Some countries have already considered parental involvement as an important element for the success of gifted programmes. In England for instance, parents' involvement used to be a core component of such programmes (Box 4.2). In New Zealand, parents, caregivers and whanau are encouraged to be involved in decisions regarding students' education.<sup>30</sup> Ministries of Education can also provide guidelines not only for teachers, but also for parents to understand how to identify and where to ask for support if they think their child is gifted. One example stems from Austria which developed tools such as the multidimensional talent support kit that includes guidelines for support-orientated counselling talks between teachers, parents and students. Overall, it "brings together teachers, parents and the respective students in round-table talks and hence allows for a personalised form of gifted education", while also ensuring that all perspectives/views are incorporated in the process (Stahl, 2014<sub>[198]</sub>).

### Box 4.2. Involving parents in gifted programmes in the United Kingdom

#### Policy context

Following from its 1997 White Paper commitment to making effective provision for high-ability pupils, the English government launched three major policy initiatives between 1999 and 2010. They aimed to enhance identification, participation and access to the labour market for all gifted students.

#### The programme

In this context, a university-based intervention programme was implemented at Brunel University. The intervention programme was designed to address some of the main challenges encountered in gifted education in the countries, as well as to support the implementation of the government 'gifted and talented' education policy requirements with its associated aims of raising academic achievement and creating higher expectations and aspirations for the future.

Among other activities and actions, parents' days and workshops were organised to develop parents' knowledge on issues such as higher education and opportunities available to them through national initiatives. During the workshops, parents worked alongside students with the presence of school staff members.

#### Importance of parental involvement

Researchers identified parents' involvement in their gifted child education as one of the main outcomes of this programme. Moreover, parents of 'gifted and talented' children from lower income families face some particular challenges. Studies on the experience and perspectives of parents of children identified as gifted and talented refer to a master adult triad of teacher, parent and mentor to support gifted students from low-income families. Overall, parents found that the programme was useful in filling gaps in knowledge regarding gifted education and creating bonds within the family and in the neighbourhood.

*Sources*: Koshy, V., Smith, C. and Casey, R (2018<sub>[161]</sub>), "Parenting 'gifted and talented' children in urban areas", <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/0261429414535426</u>; Koshy, V., Smith, C. and Brown, J. (2017<sub>[147]</sub>), "England Policy in Gifted Education: Current Problems and Promising Directions", <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/1076217517750700</u>.

Therefore, there is consensus in the literature on the importance of combined efforts of parents, the school, and the community in nurturing gifted children. Consistent and continuous involvement of parents is key. Some good practices for parents can be to: (i) create support groups to share parenting experiences; (ii) explore online and local learning resources to educate themselves about giftedness and nurture their children; and (iii) identify mentors in the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup> See: <u>https://www.ero.govt.nz/publications/partners-in-learning-good-practice/successful-engagement-good-practice/</u> (accessed on 28 June 2021).

community or other parents who can support in meeting the educational needs of these children (Manasawala and Desai, 2019<sub>[199]</sub>).

# 5. Evaluation and monitoring of the inclusion of gifted students in education systems

Evaluation and monitoring can help generate confidence in given policies, strengthen weak areas and inform future planning and action. In education, "[m]onitoring and evaluation needs to take place at an institutional level to ensure that policies and schemes operate in the same way, but also at a personal (pupil) level to monitor progress of individual children" (White, Fletcher-Campbell and Ridley, 2003, p. 30<sub>[47]</sub>).

Monitoring and evaluation systems for reviewing gifted students' progress, school initiatives and national policies receive little attention within the giftedness literature. Few consistent studies provide an account of the impact of gifted programmes at different levels of the education system. This can be problematic because as a specific group, "students who are identified as gifted also need to be continuously assessed on their progress, and provided with appropriate educational programmes or provisions" (Cao, Jung and Lee, 2017, p. 164<sub>[46]</sub>). These educational programmes, in return, need to be continuously monitored.

This last section aims to highlight gaps and challenges in the area of monitoring and evaluation, as well as to identify some previous and current practices related to the evaluation and monitoring of gifted education initiatives at the system, local and school levels.

### **5.1.** The importance and challenges of evaluating gifted education programmes and policies

Effective monitoring and evaluation strategies are essential to ensure that the implementation of gifted education occurs in a way that reflects the aims of the policies and models being employed (VanTassel-Baska, 2017<sub>[174]</sub>; Callahan, Moon and Oh, 2017<sub>[123]</sub>). Monitoring and evaluation in gifted education might inform policy development, curriculum, planning, reporting, improvement strategies, budgetary choices, resource allocation decisions, and performance management. In light of competing resources within education systems in general, evaluations can be crucial in ensuring the survival of gifted education.

Since definitions and policy priorities related to gifted education might vary across and within countries (see Chapter 2), gifted programmes might vary in scope, purpose and degree if development. Gallagher  $(2006_{[200]})$  distinguishes between two types of programme evaluation. A summative is one whose data is collected for external purposes (e.g. for funding agencies), and that puts an emphasis on outputs. In doing so, summative evaluations, by evaluating the efficacy of gifted programmes in terms of outputs, are essential to ensure the continuity of these programmes. In contrast, formative evaluations are conducted for the purposes of the administrators and staff within the programme. These evaluations focus on the inputs and seek to determine whether a programme is effectively implemented and how it may be improved.

An important element of evaluation in gifted education is the collection of relevant data to assess the effectiveness of a policy or programme. To assess such effectiveness, policy makers and coordinators of gifted programmes might rely on data on gifted student achievement, by assessing students' academic outcomes and their progress over time. In addition, estimating such progress allows to communicate to parents and students, educational personnel and policy makers how teaching should be adapted and improved to respond to the needs of students (OECD, 2013<sub>[201]</sub>). Nonetheless, as explain Neumeister and Burney (2019<sub>[202]</sub>), while quantitative results are required to generate

evidence that justify programmes and recommendations, evaluation must also provide qualitative data (e.g. through interviews, observations, survey). These may help explain results highlighted by quantitative data by better identifying strengths and challenges, and understand the perceptions and issues faced by the different stakeholders involved in gifted education.

Despite the acknowledged necessity of evaluating and monitoring gifted initiatives, a recurring theme within the literature is the weakness and lack of evaluation and empirical research on what type of educational interventions work or not, and whether there is a causality between gifted programmes and the overall success of gifted students (Parekh, S. Brown and Robson, 2018<sub>[45]</sub>). Such weaknesses may be attributed to several factors, including a lack of capacity building strategies. Monitoring and evaluation can be conducted internally by a team formed of school member staff and/or externally by a team of experts in both evaluation methodology and gifted education (Neumeister and Burney, 2019<sub>[202]</sub>). In any case, it requires knowledge and skills on programme evaluation and gifted education.

Other significant challenges relate to lack of time and funding, ill-designed programming and, more broadly, a lack of significance given to the issue in educational policy priorities (Riley and Moltzen,  $2010_{[203]}$ ; Resch,  $2014_{[60]}$ ). However, these criticisms must contend with the acknowledgement that resources can be limited and in reality, a one-size-fits-all approach does not work with the development, implementation and evaluation of gifted programmes. In other words, while general guidelines and orientations at the international and national levels are necessary, gifted education programmes might be designed, implemented and evaluated with consideration to more local contexts.

Besides abovementioned weaknesses, significant challenges in monitoring evaluating gifted programmes and policies at an aggregated level has to do with data collection and as such, with conceptualisation and identification issues. First, the conceptualisation of giftedness may vary, sometimes greatly, between and within countries (see Chapter 0). Second, assessment within the field of gifted education is often viewed in relation to the issue of the identification of giftedness alone (Cao, Jung and Lee, 2017<sub>[46]</sub>). This means that once gifted students are identified and involved in gifted programmes, there is little to no follow up on their education outcomes. This prevents the collection of consistent data to estimate the impact of programmes and policies. In this sense, a significant challenge for education systems is to go beyond a narrow focus on identification to likewise ensure the continuous assessment of the progress of gifted students.

### 5.2. Monitoring and evaluating gifted education programmes at different levels

### 5.2.1. System and sub-system levels

Despite gaps in the area of monitoring and evaluation for gifted education programmes at the system level, a few examples of consistent studies are available. Though insufficient for a consistent cross-national analysis, they may provide an idea for the basis of effective initiatives in gifted education.

In Germany, two internationally renowned longitudinal studies of gifted students have been carried out at the end of the last century. The Marburg Giftedness Project and the Munich Study of Giftedness both started in the second half of the 1980s and were respectively conducted for 6 and 10 years. They focused on gifted student's academic outcomes and personality factors such as their level of motivation (Ziegler et al., 2013, pp. 397-400<sub>[204]</sub>). More recent system-level evaluations conducted in the Australian state of Queensland in 2010 and the state of Pennsylvania, United States, in 2016-2017 provided interesting results.

The results of these studies are rather similar and aligned with several other findings presented in this paper. Overall, they highlight:

- 1. The beneficial effects of gifted education programmes on gifted students academic and well-being outcomes.
- 2. The need of further investing in teacher professional development, an area in which gaps are often significant.
- 3. The central role of parents.

4. The necessity of generalising the use of differentiated pedagogy strategies to all schools in order to promote the inclusion of all students (Harreveld and Caldwell, 2010<sub>[205]</sub>; Ziegler et al., 2013<sub>[204]</sub>; Paul, 2018<sub>[197]</sub>).

Nonetheless, little is still known about the impact of gifted education policy – its implementation is most often left to schools and suffers from a lack of monitoring effort to control it (Koshy, Smith and Casey,  $2018_{[161]}$ ). As a result, evaluation and monitoring studies at the school level are both challenging and scarce.

### 5.2.2. School-level

Evaluation and monitoring of gifted education programmes and strategies at the school level is crucial to improve educational provisions aimed at supporting these students in reaching their full potential. In addition, school evaluation plays a key role in ensuring the effectiveness of school-level interventions to support diversity, inclusion and equity in education (OECD,  $2015_{[206]}$ ).

At the school level, interventions and programmes related to gifted education are often criticised for failing to provide concrete evidence on their specific effect and benefit for gifted students. According to Sahlgren (2018<sub>[79]</sub>), research on the effects of gifted education programmes at the local level have not been rigorous or conclusive enough to be used for policy purposes. Though the lack of concrete studies may undermine both the effectiveness and the need for gifted education provisions, Sahlgren was able to identify that gifted students do indeed require different types of instruction than non-gifted students in order to flourish. Nevertheless, his critique highlights the importance of promoting and ensuring greater evaluative practices across all policy levels.

Furthermore, civil society organisations are, once again, important actors in the evaluation and monitoring processes for gifted education. A prominent example is the NAGC in the United States, which provides guidelines for the use of "multiple, appropriate and ongoing assessments" to determine the learning progress and outcomes of diverse gifted learners in a way that enables all students to demonstrate their gifts and talents (NAGC, 2010<sub>[207]</sub>).

### **5.3. Broadening the scope of evaluation**

The inclusive education paradigm requires the use of broad indicators, which go beyond mere academic results (UNESCO,  $2020_{[66]}$ ; Cerna,  $2021_{[3]}$ ). Evaluation needs to take into account all needs of gifted students (i.e. both academic and well-being needs). In line with the concern of further considering gifted student's well-being and self-worth, some initiatives have broadened the scope of evaluation methods. As such, gifted students' motivation, cultural representations and perceptions on education may also be a focus and areas to be incorporated in future education programmes.

For example, the aim of the evaluation of Hong Kong's "Pilot School-based Programme for Academically Gifted Children" was not just to establish whether the programme had improved the academic achievement of students, but rather to determine whether it had extended the scope of students' learning, motivated them to learn on their own, developed their creativity and thinking, increased their problem solving skills and had an impact on their emotions and interpersonal relations (Education Department, 1999<sub>[208]</sub>).

Since the literature shows very contrasting views on gifted students' well-being, it will be important to increase the number of such studies to promote more holistic evaluation methods and fill gaps in knowledge regarding the social and psychological well-being of this student group. It might ultimately support the design of more effective policies to respond to their needs.

In New Zealand, the lack of national and international evaluation material leads to a lack of standards to assess the scope and quality of gifted programme provisions in selective, partially selective, and comprehensive government secondary schools (Long, Barnett and Rogers,  $2015_{[209]}$ ). Nevertheless, their existing evaluation of programmes in education more widely seeks to take into account the cultural diversity of its students by monitoring whether programmes are bicultural and embody Māori perspectives and values (see Box 1.1). Consequently, evaluations of Talent Development Initiatives developed between 2003 and 2005, and then from 2006 to 2008, included among their benchmarks and quality indicators the cultural appropriateness and relevance of the gifted programmes developed

under the initiatives, their ability to meet the social and emotional needs of students, and their capacity to effectively target low achievers and rural schools (Riley and Moltzen, 2010<sub>[203]</sub>).

Finally, it has been highlighted that several actors should be involved in the process of monitoring and evaluation and that they should apply different methods. Such evaluation processes might include, among other actors, the school co-ordinator for gifted and talented students, teachers, parents who can assess the pastoral as well as curricular effects, and students themselves (White, Fletcher-Campbell and Ridley, 2003<sub>[47]</sub>; UNESCO, 2020<sub>[66]</sub>).

### Conclusions

This paper shows that countries adopt different definitions, and design and implement various legal frameworks as well as policy initiatives in the domain of gifted education. Despite tensions in policy making and concerns on whether or not to target gifted students as a specific group, most education systems across OECD have recognised giftedness as a distinctive educational area. In spite of equalitarian concerns making some countries hesitant to focus on gifted education, gifted individuals are increasingly seen as: (1) a group with specific needs to be recognised in education and (2) an exceptional source of human capital. Adapting education systems to help gifted students reach their full potential is increasingly acknowledged as necessary to advance inclusive education.

### A stronger focus on giftedness and inclusive practices

Eyre  $(2011_{[50]})$  explains that educational policy approaches directed at gifted individuals changed with the broader social and scientific understanding of giftedness. While from the early to mid-20th century gifted education focused on a small group of individuals seen as hereditary gifted (Unique Individual paradigm), the mid to late 20th century saw a shift towards the Cohort Paradigm, under which gifted education selected a group of students amongst the general school population, mostly through IQ tests. Since the end of the 20th and beginning of the 21st century, however, the focus in some countries has shifted from identification towards creating the educational conditions in which giftedness might best be developed, also referred to as the "Human Capital paradigm".

In spite of still significant gaps in research on gifted education and a lack of internationally agreed definitions, various countries have focused on giftedness as an area of interest in educational policy. As policy initiatives and civil society's projects mentioned in this paper show, responding to gifted students' specific needs has been an important concern, though not always for the same reasons. While some countries such as Korea have focused on gifted education as a separate policy area, allowing separate education provisions, some countries such as France or Portugal are currently making significant efforts towards the design of educational policy frameworks and practices that respond to diversity within the regular school and classroom. In this context, a shift in the field of gifted education towards more inclusive practices in mainstream schools aiming to promote gifted learning for all students is emerging (Lo et al., 2019<sub>[210]</sub>).

Within this inclusive paradigm, creating an inclusive school culture for all students, including gifted students, is crucial. For example, a qualitative study of ten public secondary schools in New South Wales, Australia, found that schools that created a gifted policy document themselves were more likely to provide substantial scope and quality to their gifted programmes, even if these documents were not completely aligned with state policy (Long, Barnett and Rogers, 2015<sub>[209]</sub>).

Questions remain and evidence is still scarce regarding what kind of settings are both inclusive for all and appropriate to support gifted students in reaching their full potential. Nonetheless, the inclusion paradigm and recent research highlighted in this paper tend to suggest that having diverse students together in the regular classroom, at least a certain amount of time, might be beneficial for all. Crucially, in terms of education systems' ability to promote inclusion for all, an important goal within schools is to enhance all students' outcomes. On this topic, a recent research conducted in different Swiss cantons provides valuable insights. Balestra, Sallin and Wolter (2020<sub>[121]</sub>) found that exposure to peers identified as gifted significantly increased achievement in both maths and language for various

other students. They also stress that such exposure does not seem to benefit low-achieving students and that increases in achievement differ according to the gender of the students and gender dynamics within the classroom. Within the broader literature on giftedness, there are however few references regarding how programmes in gifted education could benefit schools as a whole. It is, however, acknowledged that the framework of differentiation can have a rippling effect and be used to support *all* students in fulfilling their potential (Heller-Sahlgren, 2018<sub>[5]</sub>).

For instance, the School-wide Cluster Grouping Model, mainly used by some Canadian schools, was identified as an effective inclusion practice that respects and can benefit all students.<sup>31</sup> Likewise, the use of School-wide Enrichment models that provides enrichment opportunities to all students while offering specific provisions for those identified as gifted, tends to lead to positive outcomes for all (Reis and Peters,  $2020_{[136]}$ ). As a result, pedagogies and enrichment once reserved for the highest achievers considered as gifted were adapted and integrated into the mainstream educational experience for advanced learners in mainstream schools (Neihart and Teo,  $2013_{[211]}$ ). Differentiated strategies like the Jigsaw Classroom method mentioned earlier in this paper (see Box 4.1) also could have a positive impact on all students' involvement, solidarity, sense of belonging and educational outcomes. This kind of initiatives is likely to benefit more students, including those who are gifted without being necessarily high achievers.

### Strengthening teacher education and training and encouraging differentiated pedagogy strategies

In order to promote inclusive practices within schools and classrooms, school staff, in particular teachers, need to be equipped to respond to diversity. A growing body of research suggests that teacher education for inclusion plays a key role in the process of deep change towards inclusion in schools, though lack of consistent implementation of inclusion principles remain a common issue across countries (Alves,  $2019_{[212]}$ ).

Educating gifted children can be greatly challenging both practically and intellectually, and depends on each educational context. In this sense, a comprehensive professional preparation related to giftedness coupled with an ongoing training on inclusive practices could significantly enhance both academic and well-being outcomes of gifted students. However, as this paper shows (see Chapter 3), significant gaps remain in this area.

Differentiated pedagogical methods used in combination with other broader gifted education strategies and adapted to each context seem to represent the most promising practices to respond to gifted students' needs and enhance their educational outcomes. For example, in Sweden, recent focus on gifted education has led to more emphasis on individually adapted teaching in the school law and curricula and it is increasingly recommended to use and track differentiation in the classroom (Wolfensberger,  $2015_{[213]}$ ). Differentiation can be nonetheless challenging to implement in diverse classrooms and requires consistent research as well as consistent education and training programmes for teachers to be able to do so.

### Adopting an intersectionality lens in gifted education

Significant challenges are still to be tackled in terms of equity and equality within gifted education. Mainly, the literature identifies remaining challenges in identification bias and access to gifted education programmes. Certain groups, such as girls, students with special education needs, ethnic minority students and students from disadvantaged socio-economic backgrounds tend to be underrepresented in gifted programmes, highlighting the necessity of rethinking educational policies with an intersectionality lens.

In order to respond to all gifted students' needs and enhance their educational outcomes, various countries have attempted to solve the tensions associated with gifted education by at the same time improving the quality of schooling for the whole student population. For example, "European educational policies, on the one hand, promote an integrative approach, which is adopted in countries following the principle that differentiated teaching should be

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> See: <u>https://www.aasa.org/content.aspx?id=17446</u> (accessed on 3 December 2021).

provided to all students and, on the other hand, implement a selective approach in which gifted students are treated as a group with special educational needs" (Sękowski and Łubianka, 2015, p. 86<sub>[44]</sub>). In New Zealand, the continuous focus on the inclusion of Māori students in educational policy has led to the incorporation of the Māori perspectives of giftedness in the design and implementation of gifted programmes.

### Investing in policy research as well as monitoring and evaluation of gifted programmes

Finally, numerous authors also stress the absence of consistent national and international policy studies on gifted education. The related literature still lacks empirical studies to provide comprehensive guidance for educational policy and practices to support gifted students (Kim, 2016, p.  $102_{[126]}$ ). International cooperation and international conferences<sup>32</sup> are, and will continue to be important for experts and countries to reach some common understanding, share good practices and allow for a more consistent international comparison. As suggested by Heuser, Wang and Shahid ( $2017_{[30]}$ ) advancing gifted education:

"seems to necessitate the incorporation of definitions of giftedness into educational policies that are both scientifically accurate and socially responsive to varied national contexts. Doing so, it will also require consistent alignments between the formation of gifted education policies and the implementation of programmes that respond directly to the pedagogical needs of gifted learners"  $(p. 13_{[30]})$ 

As highlighted in Chapter 5, monitoring and evaluation of gifted education is probably the weakest policy area. Variations and confusions around concepts and identification, research gaps on gifted education policy coupled with the lack of disaggregated data on gifted students result in a scarcity of available system-level monitoring and evaluation studies. Further encouraging the evaluation of gifted education programmes as well as strengthening monitoring and evaluation initiatives will also be crucial in informing policy makers on efficient practices and promoting the inclusion of gifted students.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup> See for instance the 17th ECHA Conference happening this year in Porto, Portugal: <u>https://world-gifted.org/event/echa-2020-porto/</u> (accessed on 3 December 2021).

### References

Ainscow, M. (2019), "The UNESCO Salamanca Statement 25 years on Developing inclusive and equitable education systems, Discussion Paper", <i>Discussion paper prepared for the International Forum on inclusion and equity in education – every learner matters, Cali, Colombia</i> ,, UNESCO, Cali, <u>https://www.tandfonline.com/toc/tied20/23/7-8?nav=tocList</u> .	[105]
Alves, I. (2019), "Enacting education policy reform in Portugal-the process of change and the role of teacher education for inclusion", <i>European Journal of Teacher Education</i> , <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/02619768.2019.1693995</u> .	[212]
Alves, I. (2019), "International inspiration and national aspirations: inclusive education in Portugal", <i>International Journal of Inclusive Education</i> , Vol. 23/7-8, pp. 862-875, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/13603116.2019.1624846</u> .	[114]
ANEIS (2017), Guia para Professores e Educadores: Altas Capacidades e Sobredotação: Compreender, Identificar, Atuar, Associação Nacional Estudo e Intervenção na Sobredotação (ANEIS), Lisboa.	[127]
Austrian Research and Austrian Research and Support Center for the Gifted and Talented – ÖZBF and On Behalf of the Task Force for Giftedness Research and Gifted Education (eds.) (2013), <i>White paper:</i> <i>promoting talent and excellence</i> , Austrian Research and Support Center for the Gifted and Talented.	[129]
Bakar, A. (2017), "Developing Gifted and Talented Education Program: The Malaysian Experience", Scientific Research Publishing, Vol. 8/1, pp. 1-11, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.4236/ce.2017.81001</u> .	[166]
Bakar, A. (2016), "Digital Classroom: An Innovative Teaching and Learning Technique for Gifted Learners Using ICT", <i>Scientific Research Publishing</i> , Vol. 7/1, pp. 55-61, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.4236/ce.2016.71006</u> .	[170]
Balestra, S., A. Sallin and S. Wolter (2020), "High-Ability Influencers? The Heterogeneous Effects of Gifted Classmates", No. 170, The Swiss Leading House on Economics of Education, Firm Behavior and Training Policies, <u>http://www.economics-of-education.ch</u> (accessed on 3 December 2021).	[121]
<ul> <li>Ball, H. (2018), Starting a High School Mentoring Programe for the Gifted: Opportunities and Challenges, National Association for Gifted Students, Cairo, pp. 12-14, <u>http://www.nagc.org/sites/default/files/Publication%20THP/THP_Winter_2018_StartingaHighSchool_MentoringProgram.pdf</u> (accessed on 3 December 2021).</li> </ul>	[163]
Basister, M. and N. Kawai (2018), "Japan's educational practices for mathematically gifted students", <i>International Journal of Inclusive Education</i> , Vol. 22/11, pp. 1213-1241, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/13603116.2017.1420252</u> .	[108]
Baylor, K. (2019), "Book review: Preventing Talent Loss", <i>Gifted Education International</i> , Vol. 35/2, pp. 168-185, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/0261429418822544</u> .	[83]

Beckmann, E. and A. Minnaert (2018), "Non-cognitive Characteristics of Gifted Students With Learning Disabilities: An In-depth Systematic Review", <i>Frontiers in Psychology</i> , Vol. 9/504, pp. 1-20, <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2018.00504</u> .	[69]
Belcastro, F. (2002), "Electronic technology and its use with rural gifted students", <i>Roeper Review</i> , Vol. 25/1, pp. 14-16, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/02783190209554191</u> .	[185]
Beljan, P. et al. (2006), "Misdiagnosis and Dual Diagnoses of Gifted Children and Adults: ADHD, Bipolar, OCD, Asperger's, Depression and Other Disorders", <i>Gifted and Talented International</i> , Vol. 21/2, pp. 83-86, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/15332276.2006.11673478</u> .	[99]
Benavides, M. et al. (eds.) (2004), <i>La educación de niños con talento en Iberoamérica</i> , Oficina Regional de Educación de la UNESCO para América Latina y el Caribe, Santiago de Chile.	[41]
Benson, M. (2009), "Gifted Middle School Students Transitioning to High School: How One Teacher Helped His Students Feel Less Anxious", <i>Gifted Child Today</i> , Vol. 32/2, pp. 29-33, <u>https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ835838.pdf</u> .	[165]
Bernstein, B., D. Lubinski and C. Benbow (2021), "Academic acceleration in gifted youth and fruitless concerns regarding psychological well-being: A 35-year longitufinal study", <i>Journal of Educational</i> <i>Psychology</i> , Vol. 113/4, pp. 830-845, <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/edu0000500</u> .	[134]
Bevan-Brown, J. (2011), <i>Indigenous Conceptions of Giftedness</i> , Department of Education, Employment Workplace Relations.	[29]
Bevan-Brown, J. (2009), "Identifying and Providing for Gifted and Talented M\u00e4ori Students", APEX, Vol. 15/4, pp. 6-20, <u>http://www.giftedchildren.org.nz/apex/6</u> .	[14]
Bevan-Brown, J. (2005), "Providing a culturally responsive environoment for gifted Maori learners", <i>International Education Journal</i> , Vol. 6/2, pp. 150-155.	[11]
Bianco, M. (2005), "The Effects of Disability Labels on Special Education and General Education Teachers' Referrals for Gifted Programs", <i>Learning Disability Quarterly</i> , Vol. 28, pp. 285-293, <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/4126967</u> .	[64]
Bicknell, B. (2014), "Parental Roles in the Education of Mathematically Gifted and Talented Children", <i>Gifted Child Today</i> , Vol. 37/2, pp. 83-93, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/1076217513497576</u> .	[195]
Bisland, A. (2001), "Mentoring: An Educational Alternative for Gifted Students", <i>Gifted Child Today</i> , Vol. 24/4, pp. 22-25, <u>https://doi.org/10.4219/gct-2001-550</u> .	[164]
Boer, G., A. Minnaert and G. Kamphof (2013), "Gifted Education in the Netherlands", <i>Journal for the Education of the Gifted</i> , Vol. 36/1, pp. 133-150, <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0162353212471622</u> .	[103]
Borland, J. (2005), <i>Gifted Education Without Gifted Children: The Case for No Conception of Giftedness</i> , Cambridge University Press.	[111]
Bronw, I., J. Wai and F. Chabris (2021), "Can You Ever Be Too Smart for your Own Good? Comparing Linear and Nonlinear Effects of Cognitive Ability on Life Outcomes", <i>Perspectives on Psychological</i> <i>Science</i> , pp. 1-23, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/1745691620964122</u> .	[90]
Brulles, D., S. J. Peters and R. Saunders (2012), "Schoolwide Mathematics Achievment Within the Gifted Cluster Grouping Model", <i>Journal of Advanced Academics</i> , Vol. 23/3, pp. 200-216, http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/1932202X12451439.	[177]

Brulles, D. and S. Winebrenner (2018), <i>Maximising Gifted Students' Potential in the 21st Century</i> , American Association of School Administrators.	[178]
Brussino, O. (2020), "Mapping policy approaches and practices for the inclusion of students with special education needs", <i>OECD Education Working Papers</i> No. 227, <u>https://doi.org/10.1787/600fbad5-en</u> .	[62]
Çakır, L. (2014), "The relationship between underachievement of gifted students and their attitudes toward school environment", <i>Procedia Social and Behavioral Sciences</i> , Vol. 152, pp. 1034-1038, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2014.09.269</u> .	[82]
Callahan, C. (2005), "Identifying Gifted Students from Underrepresented Populations", <i>Theory into Practice</i> , pp. 98-104, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1207/s15430421tip4402_4</u> .	[54]
Callahan, C., T. Moon and S. Oh (2017), "Describing the Status of Programs for the Gifted: A Call for Action", <i>Journal for the Education of the Gifted</i> , Vol. 40/1, pp. 20-49, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/0162353216686215</u> .	[123]
<ul> <li>Callahan, C. et al. (2015), "What Works in Gifted Education: Documenting the Effects of an Integrated Curricular/Instructional Model for Gifted Students", <i>American Educational Research Journal</i>, Vol. 52/1, pp. 137-167, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.3102/0002831214549448</u>.</li> </ul>	[171]
Cao, T., J. Jung and J. Lee (2017), "Assessment in Gifted Education: A Review of the Literature From 2005 to 2016", <i>Journal of Advanced Academics</i> , Vol. 28/3, pp. 163-203, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/1932202X17714572</u> .	[46]
Carman, C. (2013), "Comparing Apples and Oranges: Fifteen Years of Definitions of Giftedness in Research", <i>Journal of Advanced Academics</i> , Vol. 24/1, pp. 52-70, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/1932202X12472602</u> .	[6]
Casey, R., C. Portman Smith and V. Koshy (2011), "Opportunities and Challenges of Working With Gifted and Talented Students in an Urban Context: A University-Based Intervention Program", <i>Gifted Child Today</i> , Vol. 34/1, pp. 35-43, <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/107621751103400111</u> .	[51]
Cattell, R. (1963), "Theory of Fluid and Crystallized Intelligence: A Critical Experiment", <i>Journal of Educational Psychology</i> , Vol. 54/1, pp. 1-22, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/h0046743</u> .	[19]
Center for Education Statistics and Evaluation (2019), <i>Revisiting gifted education</i> , NSW Department of Education, Sydney, <u>https://www.cese.nsw.gov.au/publications-filter/revisiting-gifted-education</u> (accessed on 3 December 2021).	[37]
Centre for Education Statistics and Evaluation (2019), <i>Revisiting Gifted Education</i> , NSW Department of Education, <u>https://www.cese.nsw.gov.au/publications-filter/revisiting-gifted-education</u> .	[53]
Cerna, L. (2021), "Promoting inclusive education for diverse societies : A conceptual framework", <i>OECD Education Working Papers</i> No. 260, <u>https://doi.org/10.1787/94ab68c6-en</u> .	[3]
Chen, C. and J. Wong (2013), "Career counseling for gifted students", <i>Australian Journal of Career Development</i> , Vol. 23/3, pp. 121-129, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/1038416213507909</u> .	[190]
Chen, J., D. Yun and Y. Zhou (2012), "Enable, Enhance and Transform: How Technology Use Can Improve Gifted Education", <i>Roeper Review</i> , Vol. 35/3, pp. 166-176, http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/02783193.2013.794892.	[182]

Cho, S. and Y. Suh (2016), "Korean Gifted Education: Domain-Specific Developmental Focus", <i>Turkish Journal of Giftedness and Education</i> , Vol. 6/1, pp. 3-13.	[39]
Council of Europe (1994), <i>Recommendation 1248: Education for gifted children</i> , Council of Europe, <u>http://assembly.coe.int</u> (accessed on 3 December 2021).	[104]
Crenshaw, K. (1991), "Mapping the Margins: Intersectionality, Identity Politics, and Violence against Women of Color", <i>Stanford Law Review</i> , Vol. 43/6, pp. 1241-1299, <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/1229039</u> .	[61]
Cross, T., J. Cross and C. O'Reilly (2018), "Attitudes about gifted education among Irish educators", <i>High Ability Studies</i> , Vol. 29/2, pp. 169-189, <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13598139.2018.1518775</u> .	[144]
DGESCO (2019), <i>Scolariser un élève à haut potentiel</i> , [Provide education to high potential students], Ministère de l'Éducation Nationale et de la Jeunesse, Paris, <u>https://eduscol.education.fr/document/1083/download</u> (accessed on 3 December 2021).	[33]
Dixon, F. et al. (2014), "Differentiated instruction, professional development, and teacher efficacy", <i>Journal for the Education of the Gifted</i> , Vol. 37/2, pp. 111-127, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/0162353214529042</u> .	[139]
Education Department, H. (1999), Pilot School-based Programme for Academically Gfited Children Evaluation Report Executive Summary, University of Hong Kong Libraries.	[208]
European Agency for Special Needs and Inclusive Education (2013), <i>Tecnologías de la Información y la Comunicación para la Inclusión: Avances y oportunidades en los países europeaos</i> , European Agency for Special Needs and Inclusive Education, Brussels.	[179]
Eurydice (2006), Specific educational measures to promote all forms of giftedness at school in Europe.	[42]
Eyre, D. (2012), "Introduction: Effective schooling for the gifted and talented", in <i>Curriculum Provision</i> for the Gifted and Talented in Secondary School, Routledge.	[122]
Eyre, D. (2011), Room at the top : inclusive education for high performance, Policy Exchange, London.	[50]
Eyre, D. (2007), <i>What Really Works in Gifted and Talented Programmes</i> , The National Academy, Gifted and Talented Youth, <u>https://www.egfl.org.uk/sites/default/files/Gifted%20and%20Talented%20-%20what_really_works%20-%20Deborah%20Eyre.pdf</u> (accessed on 3 December 2021).	[112]
Fisher, C. and K. Müller (2014), "Gifted Education and Talent Support in Germany", <i>Center for Educational Policy Studies Journal</i> , Vol. 4/3, pp. 31-54.	[118]
Foley-Nicpon, M., S. Assouline and N. Colangelo (2013), "Twice-Exceptional Learners: Who Needs to Know What?", <i>Gifted Child Quarterly</i> , Vol. 57/3, pp. 169-180, <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0016986213490021</u> .	[65]
Ford, D. (2012), <i>Gifted and Talented Education: History, issues and recommendations</i> , American Psychological Association, <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/13274-004</u> .	[1]
Ford, D. (2010), "Underrepresentation of Culturally Different Students in Gifted Education: Reflections About Current Problems and Recommendations for the Future", <i>Gifted Child Today</i> , Vol. 33/3, pp. 31- 35, <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/107621751003300308</u> .	[55]
Fraser-Seeto, K. (2013), "Pre-service teacher training in gifted and talented education: An Australian perspective", <i>Journal of Student Engagement: Education Matters</i> , Vol. 3/1, pp. 29-38, <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-13-3021-6_67-1</u> .	[158]

Freeman, J. (2002), <i>Out-of-School Educational Provision for the Gifted and Talented Around the World: A Report for the Department of Education and Skills</i> , Department of Education and Skills, <u>http://www.joanfreeman.com/pdf/Text_part_one.pdf</u> (accessed on 3 December 2021).	[76]
Gagné, F. (2004), "Transforming gifts into talents: The DMGT as a developmental theory", <i>High Ability Studies</i> , Vol. 15/2, pp. 119-147, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/1359813042000314682</u> .	[26]
Gagné, F. (1985), "Giftedness and Talent: Reexamining a Reexamination of the Definitions", <i>Gifted Child Quarterly</i> , Vol. 29/3, pp. 103-112, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/001698628502900302</u> .	[24]
Gallagher, J. (2006), "According to Jim Gallagher: How to shoot oneself in the foot with program evaluation", <i>Roeper Review</i> , Vol. 28/3, pp. 122-124, <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/02783190609554350</u> .	[200]
Gardner, H. (1983), Frames of Mind: The Theory of Multiple Intelligences, Basic Books, New York.	[22]
Gentry, M. (2014), An Introduction to Total School Cluster Grouping, Prufrock Press Inc.	[78]
Gómez-Arizaga, M., M. Conejeros-Solar and A. Martin (2016), "How Good is Good Enough? A Community-Based Assessment of Teacher Competencies for Gifted Students", SAGE Open, pp. 1-14, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/2158244016680687</u> .	[162]
Greene, M. (2005), "Teacher as Counselor: Enhancing the Social, Emotional, and Career Development of Gifted and Talented Students in the Classroom", <i>Gifted Education International</i> , Vol. 19/3, pp. 226- 235, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/026142940501900305</u> .	[97]
Grigorenko, E. (2017), "Gifted education in Russia: Developing, threshold, or developed", Cogent Education, Vol. 4/1, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/2331186X.2017.1364898</u> .	[102]
Guez, A. et al. (2018), "Are high-IQ students more at risk of school failure?", <i>Intelligence</i> , Vol. 71, pp. 32-40, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.intell.2018.09.003</u> .	[84]
H. Wu, E. (2013), "Enrichment and Acceleration: Best Practice for the Gifted and Talented", <i>Gifted Education Press Quaterly</i> , Vol. 27/2, <u>http://www.parentingbestkids.com</u> .	[124]
Harreveld, B. and B. Caldwell (2010), Evaluation of the Queensland Academies Prepared by Executive Summary, Queensland Department of Education and Training (DET), <u>https://education.qld.gov.au/parents/Documents/evaluation-of-qld-academies-report.pdf</u> (accessed on 3 December 2021).	[205]
Harris, B. and P. Lizardi (2012), "Gifted law, identification, and programming in Mexico: An overview for school professionals in the United States", <i>Journal for the Education of the Gifted</i> , Vol. 35/2, pp. 188- 203, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/0162353212445235</u> .	[106]
Harris, B. et al. (2009), "Identifying Gifted and Talented English Language Learners: A Case Study", <i>Journal for the Education of the Gifted</i> , Vol. 32/3, pp. 368-393, <u>https://doi.org/10.4219/jeg-2009-858</u> .	[71]
Heller-Sahlgren, G. (2018), <i>What works in gifted education? A literature review</i> , Center for Education Economics CIC, London, <u>http://www.cfee.org.uk</u> (accessed on 3 November 2021).	[5]
Heuser, B., K. Wang and S. Shahid (2017), "Global Dimensions of Gifted and Talented Education: The Influence of National Perceptions on Policies and Practices", <i>Global Education Review</i> , Vol. 4/1, pp. 4-21.	[30]

Hodges, J. (2018), "Assessing the Influence of No Child Left Behind on Gifted Education Funding in Texas: A Descriptive Study", <i>Journal of Advanced Academics</i> , Vol. 29/4, pp. 321-342, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/1932202X18779343</u> .	[141]
Horn, J. and R. Cattell (1966), "Refinement and test of the theory of fluid and crystallized general intelligences", <i>Journal of Educational Psychology</i> , Vol. 57/5, pp. 253-270, <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/h0023816</u> .	[20]
Housand, B. and A. Housand (2012), "The role of technology in gifted students' motivation", <i>Psychology in the Schools</i> , Vol. 49/7, pp. 706-715, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/pits.21629</u> .	[184]
Ibata-Arens, K. (2012), "Race to the Future: Innovations in Gifted and Enrichment Education in Asia, and Implications for the United States", <i>Administrative Sciences</i> , Vol. 2/1, pp. 1-25, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.3390/admsci2010001</u> .	[38]
in Neihart, M. (ed.) (2015), "Gender Differences in Gifted Children", Routledge, New York, https://doi.org/10.4324/9781003238928.	[73]
Jung, J. (2017), "Occupational/Career Decision-Making Thought Processes of Adolescents of High Intellectual Ability", <i>Journal for the Education of the Gifted</i> , Vol. 40/1, pp. 50-78, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/0162353217690040</u> .	[187]
Kanevsky, L. and D. Clelland (2013), "Accelerating Gifted Students in Canada: Policies and Possibilities", <i>Canadian Journal of Education</i> , Vol. 36/3, pp. 229-271, <u>http://www.cje-rce.ca</u> (accessed on 3 November 2021).	[133]
Karpinski, R. et al. (2018), "High intelligence: A risk factor for psychological and physiological overexcitabilities", <i>Intelligence</i> , Vol. 66, pp. 8-23, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.intell.2017.09.001</u> .	[101]
Kaufman, J., J. Plucker and C. Russell (2012), "Identifying and Assessing Creativity as a Component of Giftedness", <i>Journal of Psychoeducational Assessment</i> , Vol. 30/1, pp. 60-73, <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0734282911428196</u> .	[49]
Kaufman, S. and R. Sternberg (2008), "Conceptions of Giftedness", in S. I. Pfeiffer (ed.), <i>Handbook of giftedness in children: Psychoeducational theory, research, and best practices</i> , Springer, New York.	[8]
Kerr, B. and S. Sodano (2003), "Career Assessment With Intellectually Gifted Students", JOURNAL OF CAREER ASSESSMENT, Vol. 11/2, pp. 168-186, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/1069072702250426</u> .	[188]
Kettler, T., J. Russell and J. Puryear (2015), "Inequitable Access to Gifted Education: Variance in Funding and Staffing Based on Locale and Contextual School Variables", <i>Journal for the Education of the</i> <i>Gifted</i> , Vol. 38/2, pp. 99-117, <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0162353215578277</u> .	[145]
Kim, M. (2016), "A Meta-Analysis of the Effects of Enrichment Programs on Gifted Students", <i>Gifted Child Quarterly</i> , Vol. 60/2, pp. 102-116, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/0016986216630607</u> .	[126]
Koenderink, T. and F. Hovinga (2018), "Gifted Dropouts: How This Dutch Program Helps Struggling Students Get Back On Track", in <i>Parenting for High Potential</i> , National Association for Gifted Children, <u>https://www.cpb.nl/sites/default/files/publicaties/download/</u> (accessed on 3 December 2021).	[89]
Korean Educational Development Institute (2013), <i>Statistics of gifted and talented education in 2012</i> , Korea Ministry of Education, Science and Technology, Sejong.	[117]

### EDU/WKP(2021)19 63

Koshy, V., C. Smith and J. Brown (2017), "Parenting 'gifted and talented' children in urban areas", <i>Gifted Education International</i> , Vol. 33/1, pp. 3-17, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/0261429414535426</u> .	[147]
Koshy, V., C. Smith and R. Casey (2018), "England Policy in Gifted Education: Current Problems and Promising Directions", <i>Gifted Child Today</i> , Vol. 41/2, pp. 75-80, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/1076217517750700</u> .	[161]
Kroesbergen, E. et al. (2016), "The Psychological Well-Being of Early Identified Gifted Children", <i>Gifted Child Quarterly</i> , Vol. 60/1, pp. 16-30, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/0016986215609113</u> .	[98]
Kronborg, L. and C. Cornejo-Araya (2018), "Gifted educational provisions for gifted and highly able students in Victorian schools, Australia", <i>Universitas Psychologica</i> , Vol. 17/5, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.11144/Javeriana.upsy17-5.gepg</u> .	[109]
Laine, S. and K. Tirri (2017), <i>Ethical Challenges in Inclusive Education: The Case of Gifted Students</i> ,, Emerald Group Publishing.	[27]
Laine, S. and K. Tirri (2016), "How Finnish elementary school teachers meet the needs of their gifted students", <i>High Ability Studies</i> , Vol. 27/2, pp. 149-164, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/13598139.2015.1108185</u> .	[131]
Lassig, C. (2009), "Teachers' attitudes towards the gifted : the importance of professional development and school culture", <i>Australasian Journal of Gifted Education</i> , Vol. 18/2, pp. 32-42, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.21505/AJGE.2015.0012</u> .	[159]
Lawrence-Brown, D. (2004), "Differentiated Instruction: Inclusive Strategies for Standard-Based Learning that Benefit the Whole Class", <i>American Secondary Education</i> , Vol. 32/3, pp. 34-62.	[169]
Lee, J., B. Kang and D. Lee (2016), "Law for Gifted and Talented Education in South Korea: Its Development, Issues, and Prospects", <i>Turkish Journal of Giftedness and Education</i> , Vol. 6/1, pp. 14- 23.	[116]
Limont, W. (2012), "Support and Education of Gifted Students in Poland", Journal for the Education of the Gifted, Vol. 36/1, pp. 66-83, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/0162353212468065</u> .	[138]
Lo, C. et al. (2019), "Reenvisioning Gifted Education in British Columbia: A Qualitative Research Protocol of Policy Analysis in the Context of a Redesigned Curriculum", <i>International Journal of</i> <i>Qualitative Methods</i> , Vol. 18, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/1609406918822233</u> .	[210]
Long, L., K. Barnett and K. Rogers (2015), "Exploring the Relationship Between Principle, Policy, and Gifted Program Scope and Quality", <i>Journal for the Education of the Gifted</i> , Vol. 38/2, pp. 118-140, <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0162353215578279</u> .	[209]
Lovett, B. (2013), "The Science and Politics of Gifted Students With Learning Disabilities: A Social Inequality Perspective", <i>Roeper Review</i> , Vol. 35/2, pp. 136–143, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/02783193.2013.766965</u> .	[2]
Luburic, I. and J. Jolly (2019), "An Examination of the Empirical Literature: Gifted Education in the Australian Context", <i>Journal for the Education of the Gifted</i> , Vol. 42/1, pp. 64-84, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/0162353218816498</u> .	[107]
Lupart, J. et al. (2005), "Gifted Education and Counselling in Canada", <i>International Journal for the Advancement of Counselling</i> , Vol. 27/2, pp. 173-190, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10447-005-3180-8</u> .	[120]

Machin, S., S. McNally and C. Meghir (2007), <i>Resources and Standards in Urban Schools</i> , Centre for the Economics of Education.	[146]
Manasawala, S. and D. Desai (2019), "Meeting the educational needs of a gifted child: A parent's narrative", <i>Gifted Education International</i> , Vol. 35/3, pp. 189-200, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/0261429419863440</u> .	[199]
Mashhadi, V. and M. Kargozari (2011), "Influences of digital classrooms on education", <i>Procedia Computer Science</i> , Vol. 3, pp. 1178-1183, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.procs.2010.12.190</u> .	[181]
Matthews, D. and R. Menna (2003), "Solving Problems Together: The Importance of Parent/School/Community Collaboration at a Time of Educational and Social Change", <i>Education Canada</i> , pp. 20-23.	[193]
Matthews, M. (2006), "Gifted students dropping out: Recent findings from a southeastern state", <i>Roeper Review</i> , Vol. 28/4, pp. 216-223, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/02783190609554367</u> .	[85]
Maxwell, M. (2007), "Career Counseling is Personal: A constructivist Approach to Nurturing the Development of Gifted Female Adolescents", <i>The Career Development Quarterly</i> , Vol. 55, pp. 206- 224, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/J.2161-0045.2007.TB00078.X</u> .	[74]
Mayes, R. and J. Moore III (2016), "The Intersction of Race, Disability and Giftedness: Understanding the Education Needs of Twice-Exceptional, African American Students", <i>Gifted Child Today</i> , pp. 98-104, <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1076217516628570</u> .	[56]
McClain, M. and S. Pfeiffer (2012), "Identification of Gifted Students in the United States Today: A Look at State Definitions, Policies, and Practices", <i>Journal of Applied School Psychology</i> , Vol. 28/1, pp. 59-88, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/15377903.2012.643757</u> .	[48]
Mendaglio, S. (2013), "Gifted students' transition to university", <i>Gifted Education International</i> , Vol. 29/1, pp. 3-12, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/0261429412440646</u> .	[32]
Merrotsy, P. (2017), "Gagné's differentiated model of giftedness and talent in australian education", <i>Australasian Journal of Gifted Education</i> , Vol. 26/2, pp. 29-42, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.21505/ajge.2017.0014</u> .	[25]
Mezzanotte, C. (2020), "Policy approaches and practices for the inclusion of students with attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD)", <i>OECD Education Working Papers</i> No. 238, <u>https://doi.org/10.1787/49af95e0-en</u> .	[63]
Ministerio de Educación Nacional (2015), <i>Documento de orientaciones técnicas, administrativas y pedagógicas para la atención educativa a estudiantes con capacidades y/o talentos excepcionales en el marco de la educación inclusiva</i> , [Tecnhical, administrative and pedagogical guiding document for the education of students with high abilities and/or exceptional talents within the framework of inclusive education], <u>https://www.mineducacion.gov.co/1759/articles-360293_foto_portada.pdf</u> (accessed on 3 December 2021).	[148]
Ministry of Education (2012), <i>Gifted and Talented Students: Meeting Their Needs in New Zealand Schools</i> , Learning Media Limited, <u>http://Wellington, https://gifted.tki.org.nz/assets/Gifted-and-talented-students-meeting-their-needs-in-New-Zealand-Schools.pdf</u> (accessed on 3 December 2021).	[15]
Mönks, F. and R. Pflüger (2005), <i>Gifted Education in 21 European Countries: Inventory and Perspectives</i> , Radboud University Nijmegen.	[143]

Moon, S. (2009), "Myth 15: High-Ability Students Don't Face Problems and Challenges", <i>Gifted Child Quarterly</i> , Vol. 53/4, pp. 274-276, <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0016986209346943</u> .	[77]
Morelock, M. (1992), "Giftedness: The view from within", <i>Open Space Communications</i> , Vol. 4/3, pp. 11- 15, <u>https://www.westmountcharter.com/wp-content/uploads/2018/11/Giftedness-The-View-from-Within.pdf</u> (accessed on 3 December 2021).	[93]
Mueller-Oppliger, V. (2014), "Gifted education in Switzerland: widely acknowledged, but obstacles still exist in implementation", <i>CEPS Journal</i> , Vol. 4/3, pp. 89-110, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.26529/cepsj.197</u> .	[35]
Murphy, C. and D. Walker (2015), <i>Introduction and Definitions of Giftedness in the Early Years</i> , NZCER Press.	[9]
NAGC (2013), NAGC-CEC Teacher Preparation Standards in GIfted and Talented Education, NAGC, http://www.nagc.org/sites/default/files/standards/NAGC- %20CEC%20CAEP%20standards%20%282013%20final%29.pdf (accessed on 3 December 2021).	[154]
NAGC (2010), 2010 Pre-K-Grade 12 Gifted Programming Standards, NAGC, <u>https://www.nagc.org/sites/default/files/standards/K-12%20programming%20standards.pdf</u> (accessed on 3 December 2021).	[207]
Nagy, T. and C. Zsilavecz (2011), Best Practice in Austrian Talent Support: Model Practice of the Platon Jugendforum, Genuisz Books.	[119]
Neihart, M. and L. Tan (2016), <i>Gifted Education in Singapore</i> , Chinese American Educational Research and Development Association.	[68]
Neihart, M. and C. Teo (2013), "Addressing the needs of the gifted in Singapore", <i>Journal for the Education of the Gifted</i> , Vol. 36/3, pp. 290-306, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/0162353213494821</u> .	[211]
Neumeister, K. and V. Burney (2019), <i>GIFTED Program Evaluation: A Handbook for Administrators and Coordinators</i> , Routledge, <u>https://doi.org/10.4324/9781003235354</u> .	[202]
NSW Department of Education (2018), <i>Review of Selective Education Access: Findings and Action Plan</i> , <u>http://education.nsw.gov.au</u> (accessed on 3 December 2021).	[57]
O'Reilly, C. (2018), "Gifted Education in Ireland", <i>Gifted Child Today</i> , Vol. 41/2, pp. 89-97, <a href="http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/1076217517750701">http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/1076217517750701</a> .	[110]
OECD (2019), Education Policy Outlook 2019: Working Together to Help Students Achieve their Potential, OECD Publishing, Paris, <u>https://doi.org/10.1787/2b8ad56e-en.</u>	[194]
OECD (2019), TALIS 2018 Results (Volume I): Teachers and School Leaders as Lifelong Learners, TALIS, OECD Publishing, Paris, <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.1787/1d0bc92a-en</u> .	[152]
OECD (2018), Teaching for the Future : Effective Classroom Practices to Transform Education, OECD Publishing, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/9789264293243-en</u> .	[168]
OECD (2017), <i>The Funding of School Education: Connecting Resources and Learning</i> , OECD Publishing, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/9789264276147-en</u> .	[142]
OECD (2015), Education Policy Outlook 2015: Making Reforms Happen, OECD Publishing, Paris, https://dx.doi.org/10.1787/9789264225442-en.	[206]

OECD (2013), Synergies for Better Learning: An International Perspective on Evaluation and Assessment, OECD Reviews of Evaluation and Assessment in Education, OECD Publishing, Paris, <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.1787/9789264190658-en</u> .	[201]
OECD (2013), "The Role of Teachers and Schools in Shaping Students' Engagement, Drive and Self-Beliefs", in PISA 2012 Results: Ready to Learn (Volume III): Students' Engagement, Drive and Self-Beliefs, OECD Publishing, Paris, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/888932964015</u> .	[156]
OECD (2012), "Transitions Beyond Initial Education", in <i>Education Today 2013: The OECD Perspective</i> , OECD Publishing, Paris, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/888932661497</u> .	[186]
OECD (2009), Creating Effective Teaching and Learning Environments: First Results from TALIS, TALIS, OECD Publishing, Paris, <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.1787/9789264068780-en</u> .	[155]
Parekh, G., R. S. Brown and K. Robson (2018), "The Social Construction of Giftedness: The Intersectional Relationship Between Whiteness, Economic Privilege, and the Identification of Gifted", <i>Canadian</i> <i>Journal of Disability Studies</i> , Vol. 7/2, pp. 1-32, <u>http://www.cjds.uwaterloo.ca</u> (accessed on 3 December 2021).	[45]
<ul> <li>Paul, K. (2018), An Evaluation of the Gifted Education Services Program, Fall 2016 - Winter 2017: Executive Summary of Results, The Office of Program Evaluation of Lower Merion School District, Philadelphia, <u>http://www.lmsd.org/departments/program-evaluation</u> (accessed on 3 December 2021).</li> </ul>	[197]
Periathiruvadi, S. and A. Rinn (2012), "Technology in GIfted Education: A Review of Best Practices and Empirical Research", <i>Journal of Research on Technology in Education</i> , Vol. 45/2, pp. 153-169, <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/15391523.2012.10782601</u> .	[180]
Peterson, J. (2013), "Gender differences in identification of gifted youth and in gifted participation: A meta-analysis", <i>Contemporary Educational Psychology</i> , Vol. 38, pp. 342-348, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cedpsych.2013.07.002</u> .	[72]
Peterson, J. (2006), "Addressing Counseling Needs of Gifted Students", <i>Professional School Counseling</i> , Vol. 10/1, pp. 43-51, <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/2156759X0601001S06</u> .	[81]
Pfeiffer, S. (ed.) (2018), <i>The Social and Emotional World of the Gifted.</i> , Springer, Cham, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-77004-8_4.	[95]
Pfeiffer, S. (2012), "Current Persepectives on the Identification and Assessment of Gifted Students", <i>Journal of Psychoeducational Assessment</i> , Vol. 30/1, pp. 3-9, <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0734282911428192</u> .	[52]
Pfeiffer, S., E. Shaunessy-Dedrick and F. M. (eds.) (2018), <i>Social and emotional considerations for gifted students</i> , American Psychological Association, <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0000038-029</u> .	[92]
Pfeiffer, S. and V. Stocking (2000), "Vulnerabilities of academically gifted students", <i>Special Services in the Schools</i> , Vol. 16/1-2, pp. 83-93, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1300/J008v16n01_06</u> .	[94]
Plucker, J. et al. (2018), <i>Equal Talents, Equal Opportunities: A Report Card on State Support for</i> <i>Academically Talented Low-Income Students, 2nd Edition</i> , Jack Kent Cooke Foundation, <u>https://www.jkcf.org/research/equal-talents-unequal-opportunities-second-edition-a-report-card-on-state-support-for-academically-talented-low-income-students/</u> (accessed on 3 December 2021).	[40]

### EDU/WKP(2021)19 67

Polyzopoulou, K. et al. (2014), "Teachers' perceptions toward education of gifted children in Greek educational settings", <i>Journal of Physical Education and Sport</i> , Vol. 14/2, pp. 211-221, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.7752/jpes.2014.02033</u> .	[160]
Potentiel, C. (2019), International Conference on Gifted Children, Université Paris-Descartes.	[34]
Reid, B. and M. McGuire (1995), <i>Square Pegs in Round Holes- These Kids Don't Fit: High Ability Students With Behavioral Problems</i> , The National Research Center on Gifted and Talented, <u>https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED402701.pdf</u> (accessed on 3 December 2021).	[100]
Reid, E. and B. Horváthová (2016), "Teacher training programs for gifted education with focus on sustainability", <i>Journal of Teacher Education for Sustainability</i> , Vol. 18/2, pp. 66-74, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1515/jtes-2016-0015</u> .	[150]
Reis, S. (ed.) (2016), <i>The Three Ring Conception of Giftedness: A Developmental Model for Creative Productivity</i> , Prufrock Press.	[28]
Reis, S. and P. Peters (2020), "Research on the Schoolwide Enrichment Model: Four decades of insights, innovation, and evolution", <i>Gifted Education International</i> , Vol. 37/2, pp. 109-141, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/0261429420963987</u> .	[136]
Reis, S. and J. Renzulli (2010), "Is there still a need for gifted education: An examination of current research", <i>Learning and Individual Differences</i> , Vol. 20/4, pp. 308-317, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.lindif.2009.10.012</u> .	[172]
Renzulli, J. (1987), "The Positive Side of Pull-Out Programs", <i>Journal for the Education of the Gifted</i> , Vol. 10/4, pp. 245-254, <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/016235328701000402</u> .	[175]
Renzulli, J. (1978), "What Makes Giftedness? Reexamining a Definition", <i>Phi Delta Kapan</i> , Vol. 60/3, pp. 180-184, <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/003172171109200821</u> .	[10]
Renzulli, J. et al. (2005), "Assumptions Underlying the Identification of Gifted and Talented Students", <i>Gifted Child Quarterly</i> , Vol. 49/1, pp. 68-79.	[36]
Renzulli, J. and S. Park (2002), <i>Giftedness and high school dropouts: Personal, family, and school-related factors</i> , University of Connecticut, The National Research Center on the Gifted and Talented, <u>https://nrcgt.uconn.edu/research-based_resources/renzpark/#</u> (accessed on 3 December 2021).	[87]
Renzulli, J. and S. Park (2000), "Gifted dropouts: The who and the why", <i>Gifted Child Quaterly</i> , Vol. 44, pp. 261-271, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/001698620004400407</u> .	[86]
Renzulli, J. and S. Reis (1997), <i>The schoolwide enrichment model: How to guide for educational excellence</i> , Mansfield Center, CT: Creative Learning Press.	[135]
Resch, C. (2014), "National policies and strategies for the support of gifted and talented in Austria", CEPS Journal, Vol. 4/3, pp. 9-30, <u>https://doi.org/10.26529/cepsj.193</u> .	[60]
Riley, T. and B. Bicknell (2013), "Gifted and Talented Education in New Zealand Schools: A Decade Later", APEX: The New Zealand Journal of Gifted Education, Vol. 18/1, <u>https://researchcommons.waikato.ac.nz/handle/10289/8872</u> (accessed on 3 December 2021).	[137]

Riley, T. and R. Moltzen (2010), Enhancing and Igniting Talent Development Initiatives: Research to       [2]         determine effectiveness, New Zealand Ministry of Education,       [2] <u>https://www.educationcounts.govt.nz/publications/schooling2/workforce/enhancing-and-igniting-talent-development-initiatives-research-to-determine-effectiveness</u> (accessed on 3 December 2021).       [2]	203]
Ritchotte, J. and A. Graefe (2017), "An Alternate Path: The Experience of High-Potential Individuals Who Left School", <i>Gifted Child Quarterly</i> , Vol. 61/4, pp. 275-289, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/0016986217722615</u> .	[88]
Robinson, N. (2003), "Two Wrongs Do Not Make A Right: Sacrificing the Needs of Gifted Students Does Not Solve Society's Unsolved Problems", <i>Journal for the Education of the Gifted</i> , Vol. 26/4, pp. 251- 273, <u>https://doi.org/10.4219/jeg-2003-307</u> .	[96]
Robinson, S. (2017), "Triple Identity Theory: Conceptualizing the Lived Experienced of a Gifted Black Male With Dyslexia", <i>Journal of Research Initiatives</i> , Vol. 3/1, pp. 1-11, <u>https://digitalcommons.uncfsu.edu/jri/vol3/iss1/7</u> (accessed on 3 December 2021).	[70]
Rogers, K. (2007), "Lessons Learned About Educating the Gifted and Talented: A Synthesis of the Research on Educational Practice", <i>Gifted Child Quarterly</i> , Vol. 51/4, pp. 382-396, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/0016986207306324</u> .	173]
Rowan, L. and G. Townend (2016), "Early career teachers' beliefs about their preparedness to teach: Implications for the professional development of teachers working with gifted and twice-exceptional students", <i>Cogent Education</i> , pp. 1-25, <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/2331186X.2016.1242458</u> .	[157]
Sahlgren, G. (2018), <i>What Works in Gifted Education?</i> , Centre for Education Economics, London, <u>https://potentialplusuk.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/01/What-Works-in-Gifted-Education-CfEE.pdf</u> (accessed on 3 December 2021).	[79]
Sastre-Riba, S., L. Pérez-Sánchez and A. Villaverde (2018), "Programs and Practices for Identifying and Nurturing High Intellectual Abilities in Spain", <i>Gifted Child Today</i> , Vol. 41/2, pp. 63-74, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/1076217517750703</u> .	[16]
Schneider, W. and K. McGrew (2012), <i>The Cattell-Horn-Carroll model of intelligence. In Flanagan, D. P. and Harrison, P. L. (Eds.), Contemporary intellectual assessment: Theories, tests, and issues</i> , The Guilford Press.	[18]
Sękowski, A. and B. Łubianka (2015), "Education of gifted students in Europe", <i>Gifted Education International</i> , Vol. 31/1, pp. 73-90, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/0261429413486579</u> .	[44]
Shewbridge, C. (2016), <i>OECD Reviews of School Resources: Lithuania 2016, OECD Reviews of School Resources</i> , OECD Publishing, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/9789264252547-en</u> .	[140]
Siegle, D. (2005), "Six uses of the Internet to develop students' gifts and talents", <i>Gifted Child Today</i> , Vol. 28/2, pp. 30-36, <u>https://doi.org/10.4219/gct-2005-167</u> .	[183]
Smith, K. and S. Wood (2018), <i>Career Counseling for the Gifted and Talented: A Life Span Development Approach</i> , Springer, Cham, <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-77004-8_18</u> .	191]
Spearman, C. (1904), ""General Intelligence," Objectively Determined and Measured", <i>The American Journal of Psychology</i> , Vol. 15/2, pp. 201-292, <u>https://www.jstor.org/stable/1412107</u> (accessed on 3 December 2021).	[21]

### EDU/WKP(2021)19 69

Stahl, J. (2014), "The multi-dimensional talent support (mBET)- a systemic approach towards individualized support of the gifted and talented in Austria", <i>Horizons of Psychology</i> , Vol. 23, pp. 163- 167, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.20419/2014.23.417</u> .	[198]
Steenbergen-Hu, S., M. Makel and P. Olszewski-Kubilius (2016), "What One Hundred Years of Research Says About the Effects of Ability Grouping and Acceleration on K–12 Students' Academic Achievement: Findings of Two Second-Order Meta-Analyses", <i>Review of Educational Research</i> , Vol. 86/4, pp. 849-899, <u>https://doi.org/10.3102/0034654316675417</u> .	[125]
Steenbergen-Hu, S. and S. Moon (2011), "The Effects of Acceleration on High-", <i>Gifted Child Quarterly</i> , Vol. 55/1, pp. 39-53, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/0016986210383155</u> .	[132]
Sternberg, R. (2005), "The theory of successful intelligence", <i>Revista Interamericana de Psicología/Interamerican Journal of Psychology</i> , Vol. 39/2, pp. 189-202.	[12]
Sternberg, R. (2004), "Culture and Intelligence", <i>The American psychologist</i> , Vol. 59/5, pp. 325-338, http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/0003-066X.59.5.325.	[13]
Sternberg, R. (2003), "WICS as a Model of Giftedness", <i>High Ability Studies</i> , Vol. 14/2, pp. 109-137, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/1359813032000163807</u> .	[23]
Subotnik, R. et al. (2010), "Mentoring for Talent Development, Creativity, Social Skills and Insider Knowledge: The APA Catalyst Program", <i>Journal of Advanced Academics</i> , Vol. 21/4, pp. 714-739, <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1932202X1002100406</u> .	[167]
Subotnik, R., P. Olszewski-Kubilius and F. Worrell (2011), "Rethinking Giftedness and Gifted Education: A Proposed Direction Forward Based on Psychological Sciences", in Psychological Science in Public Interest, Vol. 12/3, pp. 3-54, <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1529100611418056</u> .	[31]
Terman, L. (1926), <i>Genetic studies of genius</i> . Volume I: Mental and Physical Traits of a Thousand Gifted Children, Stanford University Press.	[17]
Terriot, K. (2018), "De la définition théorique du haut potentiel (HPI) aux conséquences pratiques", <i>A.N.A.E</i> 154, pp. 000-000, <u>https://www.researchgate.net/publication/326848534</u> .	[7]
Thijs, A., B. Leeuwen and M. Zandbergen (2009), <i>Inclusive Education in the Netherlands</i> , National Institute for Curriculum Development (SLO), <u>http://Enschede, https://www.european-agency.org/sites/default/files/Inclusive Education Netherlands.pdf</u> (accessed on 3 December 2021).	[115]
Tirri, K. (1997), "How Finland Meets the Needs of Gifted and Talented Pupils", <i>High Ability Studies</i> , Vol. 8/2, pp. 213-222, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/1359813970080206</u> .	[113]
Tirri, K. and E. Kuusisto (2013), "How Finland Serves Gifted and Talented Pupils", <i>Journal for the Education of the Gifted</i> , Vol. 36/1, pp. 84-96, <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0162353212468066</u> .	[130]
Tourón, J. and J. Freeman (2017), "Gifted education in Europe: Implications for policymakers and educators", in Pfeiffer, S. (ed.), APA Handbook of Giftedness and Talent., American Psychological Association (APA), Washington, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/0000038-004</u> .	[43]
Turkheimer, E. et al. (2003), "Socioeconomic Status Modifies Heritability of IQ in Young Children", <i>Psychological Science</i> , Vol. 14/6, pp. 623-8, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1046/j.0956-7976.2003.psci 1475.x</u> .	[58]
UNESCO (2020), <i>Global Education Monitoring Report 2020: Inclusion and education: All means all</i> , UNESCO, <u>http://bit.ly/2020gemreport</u> (accessed on 3 December 2021).	[66]

UNESCO (2017), A guide for ensuring inclusion and equity in education, UNESCO, https://unesdoc.unesco.org/ark:/48223/pf0000248254 (accessed on 3 December 2021).	[151]
Vaivre-Douret, L. (2011), "Developmental and Cognitive Characteristics of "High Level Potentialities" (Highly Gifted) Children", <i>International Journal of Pediatrics</i> , pp. 1-14, <u>https://doi.org/10.1155/2011/420297</u> .	[59]
Van der Meulen, R. et al. (2014), "The Pull-Out Program Day a Week School for Gifted Children: Effects on Social-Emotional and Academic Functioning", <i>Child and Youth Care Forum</i> , Vol. 43/3, pp. 287- 314, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10566-013-9239-5</u> .	[91]
VanTassel-Baska, J. (2017), "Curriculum Issues: What Makes Differentiated Curriculum Work?", <i>Gifted Child Today</i> , Vol. 40/1, pp. 62-63, <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1076217516675905</u> .	[174]
Visser, B., M. Ashton and P. Vernon (2006), "Beyond g: Putting multiple intelligences theory to the test", <i>Intelligence</i> , Vol. 34/5, pp. 487-502, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.intell.2006.02.004</u> .	[215]
Waterhouse, L. (2006), "Inadequate Evidence for Multiple Intelligences, Mozart Effect, and Emotional Intelligence Theories", <i>Educational Psychologist</i> , Vol. 47/4, pp. 247-255, <u>https://doi.org/10.1207/s15326985ep4104_5</u> .	[214]
Watters, J. (2010), "Career decision making among gifted students: The mediation of teachers", <i>Gifted Child Quarterly</i> , Vol. 54/3, pp. 222-238, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/0016986210369255</u> .	[192]
Watters, J. and C. Diezmann (2003), "The gifted student in science: Fulfilling potential", Australian Science Teachers Journal, Vol. 49/3, pp. 46-53, <u>https://eprints.qut.edu.au/1692/</u> (accessed on 3 November 2021).	[75]
<ul> <li>Weilguny, W. et al. (2013), <i>White Paper: Promoting Excellence</i>, Austrian Research and Support Center for the Gifted and Talented, https://talentcentrebudapest.eu/sites/default/files/White%20Paper%20Promoting%20Talent%20and%2</li> <li><u>0Excellence.pdf</u> (accessed on 3 December 2021).</li> </ul>	[153]
Wellisch, M. (2020), "Parenting with eyes wide open: Young gifted children, early entry and social isolation", <i>Gifted Education International</i> , Vol. X/XX, p. 026142941989994, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/0261429419899946</u> .	[196]
Weyringer, S. (2013), "Gifted Education in Austria", <i>Journal for the Education of the Gifted</i> , Vol. 36/3, pp. 365-383, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/0162353213494502</u> .	[149]
White, K., F. Fletcher-Campbell and K. Ridley (2003), <i>What works for gifted and talented pupils : a review of recent research</i> , LGA educational research programme, Berkshire.	[47]
Williams King, E. (2005), "Addressing the Social and Emotional Needs of Twice-Exceptional Students", <i>Teaching Exceptional Children</i> , Vol. 38/21, pp. 16-20, <u>http://www.iag-online.org/resources/2eGeneralResources/Professional/GenInfo/Social-and-Emotional-Needs-of-2e-Learners.pdf</u> (accessed on 3 December 2021).	[67]
Wolfensberger, M. (2015), "Sweden: Incentive to Move Towards More Differentiation", in <i>Talent Development in European Higher Education</i> , Springer International Publishing, Cham, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-12919-8_9</u> .	[213]
Wood, S. (2010), "Best Practices in Counseling the Gifted in Schools: What's Really Happening?", <i>Gifted Child Quarterly</i> , Vol. 54/1, pp. 42-58, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/0016986209352681</u> .	[189]

### EDU/WKP(2021)19 | 71

Worrell, F. et al. (2019), "Gifted Students", Annual Review of Psychology Psychology, Vol. 70, pp. 551- 576, <u>https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-psych-010418-</u> .	[4]
Yang, Y., M. Gentry and Y. Choi (2012), "Gifted Students' Perceptions of the Regular Classes and Pull- Out Programs in South Korea", <i>Journal of Advanced Academics</i> , Vol. 23/3, pp. 270-287, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/1932202X12451021</u> .	[176]
Yarrison, B. (2018), ""If not us, then who? If not now, then when?"", <i>Journal of the National Collegiate Honors Council</i> , Vol. 19/2, <u>https://digitalcommons.unl.edu/nchcjournal/581</u> (accessed on 3 December 2021).	[80]
Zhan, Z. (2017), "Gifted Education in China", <i>Cogent Education</i> , Vol. 4/1, <a href="http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/2331186X.2017.1364881">http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/2331186X.2017.1364881</a> .	[128]
Ziegler, A. et al. (2013), "Gifted education in German-speaking Europe", Journal for the Education of the	[204]

Ziegler, A. et al. (2013), "Gifted education in German-speaking Europe", *Journal for the Education of the Gifted*, Vol. 36/3, pp. 384-411, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/0162353213492247</u>.